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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. (TCS) engineers and delivers award-winning wireless communications 

technology to commercial and government customers that require high reliability. TCS is a world leader in capturing the 

“X/Y” coordinates that defi ne the precise location of a wireless device user, and is relied upon for E9-1-1, secure deployable 

communication systems, and commercial applications like navigation and asset tracking. TCS systems are integrated into 

customer networks or hosted in TCS facilities. The company has more than 600 employees based primarily in Annapolis, 

Seattle, and Tampa. TCS monetizes its patented technology via three revenue sources:

Hosted, Subscriber, and Maintenance
For customers like Verizon Wireless, Cingular, T-Mobile, Vonage, and Packet 8, TCS provides Hosted E9-1-1, 

including Phase I/Phase II FCC compliance, Voice over Internet Protocol Enhanced 9-1-1 (VoIP E9-1-1), and 

Automatic Location Information (ALI) services. For major cellular phone carriers like Sprint and Grupo Iusacell, 

TCS provides mobile positioning and location services. For all leading American carriers, the company delivers 

mobile subscriber applications, like Rand McNally Traffi c, as well as software maintenance on a growing installed 

base of carrier systems.
Services

For customers like Defense Telecom Services of Washington, DC, and the City of Baltimore, TCS provides 

system support, communications engineering, program management, help desk outsourcing, satellite 

teleport communications service, and resale of “space segment” airtime. For customers like Denso, a leading 

Japanese technology company engaged in location-based services, TCS manages its location information. 

TCS also provides custom, fee-for-service software development and related contract work. 

Systems
For wireless carriers, TCS supplies in-network systems, including the company’s Xypoint® Location Platform, 

Wireless Messaging Gateway™ (for intelligent data traffi c management), Short Message Service Center 

(SMSC), wireless portal (e.g., www.vtext.com), and the Xypoint Mapping Server (for geospational information). 

TCS offers SwiftLink® deployable communication systems for defense, intelligence, and security customers, 

including the FBI, State Department, and military special operations, and for commercial customers, such as 

insurance and disaster relief efforts.

TCS initiated operations in 1987, providing contract communications engineering and integration services to government 

customers. Since the company began investing aggressively in R&D in the late 1990s, the company has secured more 

than 40 patents, with more than 100 patent applications pending. TCS offers its technology based on hosted service and 

subscriber contracts, which in addition to maintenance contracts on the installed base of systems, has produced a growing 

recurring revenue stream. 
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Maurice B. Tosé
Chairman, President and CEO

Dear Fellow Shareholders
As the global leader in mission-critical wireless 

communications data technology, 2005 marked 

another year of record revenue and EBITDA for 

TeleCommunication Systems (TCS). The year also 

was highlighted by a number of industry accolades, 

including the Frost & Sullivan 2005 Product Line 

Strategy Award for LBS for demonstrating the most 

insight into customer needs and product demands 

for Location-based Services (LBS), like E9-1-1.

Frost & Sullivan projects that the number of LBS 

users in the United States will soar from about 8 million 

in 2005 to more than 63 million in 2008, and be matched 

by industry-wide revenue growth of approximately $300 

million in 2005 to more than $3.3 billion in 2008. As Frost 

& Sullivan points out, TCS is well positioned to ride this 

growing wave of LBS adoption.

In light of this year’s achievements, during the fi nal 

quarter of 2005, management and its Board of Directors 

undertook a critical evaluation of the company’s tech-

nologies and operations to determine those that will best 

fuel our long-term growth in shareholder value.

The company’s Government segment and Commercial 

segment’s hosted service business (predominantly E9-1-1) 

continue to generate cash from operations. However, we 

expect continued investment will be needed in both 

carrier software applications and enterprise operations 

during 2006 and beyond. Although market studies show 

that intermediate to long-term growth prospects from 

both of those wireless data business lines remain strong, 

we determined the best opportunities for our growth 

will be found in our traditional wireless carrier and 

government businesses. Hence, we have begun the 

process of fi nding new ownership for our Enterprise 

division, and have engaged an investment banking 

fi rm with experience in the wireless data industry. 

 We believe that the profi le of our continuing 

operations without the Enterprise division is sim-

pler and more compelling. As we break out our 

results exclusive of the Enterprise division, we can 

see the strength in our Hosted, Subscriber, and

Maintenance as well as Service revenue, as demonstrated 

by improvements in 2005 of 19% and 38% respectively. 

In 2005, $75 million of our $102 million of total revenue 

from continuing operations came from services (hosted 

E9-1-1, software maintenance, and government fee-for-

service work) that are typically under multi-year contracts. 

The company’s total Services revenue has been growing at 

32% per year over the past fi ve years. This part of the business 

has been considerably more predictable than Systems sales. 

Although our Systems revenue declined in 2005, we believe 

we will realize substantial Systems revenue growth in 2006. 

The company enters 2006 with solid growth momen-

tum and with record backlog in E9-1-1, contract services, and 

system maintenance agreements. We shall focus on devel-

oping our areas of strength: Commercial E9-1-1, Commercial 

LBS, Government Services, and Government Systems.

Commercial E9-1-1
In 2005, we maintained our leadership in E9-1-1 service for 

Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) telephony with the larg-

est number of FCC-compliant Public Safety Answering Points 

(PSAPs) in the industry. Vonage, a VoIP market leader, views 

the company as its preferred VoIP E9-1-1 provider. It has 

already entrusted the majority of its customer base to TCS 

and continues to transition more to our systems. We also 

added another top-10 VoIP service provider, Packet8, to our 

growing VoIP E9-1-1 customer list. We have strengthened our 

relationship with Level 3, and in conjunction with our new 

relationship with VoIP, Inc., we can now provide a complete 

VoIP E9-1-1 solution to VoIP service providers. In the fi nal 

quarter of 2005, we secured a relationship with another IP 

backbone provider that has a signifi cant footprint in the 

cable industry. 

Our wireless E9-1-1 customers continue to take advan-

tage of our patented technology in E9-1-1 and location, 

giving us an excellent position to extend our current 

wireless carrier relationships to support their expansion 

into the use of IP telephony. And we continue to make 

progress in addressing VoIP issues with Local Exchange 

Carriers (LECs). We believe that TCS currently provides 

and will continue to provide the most effective VoIP 

E9-1-1 solution for the majority of the key players in the 

VoIP market, which includes Internet Service Providers 

(ISPs), cable operators, wireless carriers, and LECs.

Let ter to Shareholder s



Commercial LBS
For commercial location-based applications, we have focused 

on developing relationships with brand partners that are 

recognizable to the consumer. Our fi rst branding partnership 

was with Rand McNally when we launched a traffi c applica-

tion in 2005. We have continued to broaden the availability of 

this application to multiple carriers and handsets. Our traffi c 

application is now available on more than 60 handset models 

on seven carriers. 

We have extended this relationship by completing 

the development and certifi cation of the Rand McNally 

StreetFinder® wireless “points of interest” application. This 

application identifi es restaurants, ATMs, gas stations, or other 

points of interest within a specifi ed proximity of the user’s 

precise location. It can then provide turn-by-turn navigation 

from that location. We are rolling out this application on 

carrier networks in the fi rst quarter of 2006. We expect to 

announce additional brand partnerships in 2006, including 

several new location-based applications.

Code Division Multiple Access (CDMA) network opera-

tors have taken the lead in implementing LBS offerings. 

Currently, TCS is in multiple trials with CDMA operators in 

North America. Global System for Mobile Communications 

(GSM) represents about three-quarters of the world market, 

and it is exciting to see the expected rapid escalation of 

interest in LBS as GSM carriers react to this challenge and 

begin adoption. We believe that carrier momentum will build 

strongly in 2006 through a combination of additional CDMA 

rollouts around the world, GSM rollouts in North America to 

compete with the CDMA lead and other GSM early adopters 

outside the United States. 

Government Services
The Services revenue from our Government segment has 

grown from a run rate of about $3.4 million per quarter 

entering 2004 to $5.6 million in the last quarter of 2005. We 

expect growth in Government services revenue in 2006.

In addition to fees for technical and professional services 

by our personnel, our resale of satellite bandwidth for secure 

Internet protocol communications using our two East Coast 

teleports has grown to a $2 million per year run rate. Our 

team is proud of having renewed all of the customer service 

contracts that were up for renewal in 2005, including our large 

City of Baltimore technical outsource contract.

We formed a number of new integrator relationships 

during 2005, including Anteon, SAP, and NCI Information 

Systems. These companies are now actively serving as force 

multipliers to our expanded government sales force in 

promoting both our services and systems capabilities. 

Government Systems
Sales of systems to government customers, including our SwiftLink® 

systems and related systems integration work, were down from 

$6.3 million in the third quarter of 2005 to $3.9 million in the fourth, 

as customer procurements again took longer than expected. 

However, our systems backlog picked up as we entered 2006. Our 

pipeline of orders totals more than $16 million, including orders 

from four customers who have indicated they have selected 

Swiftlink systems, are funded, and have initiated contracting.

To take advantage of Inmarsat’s new Broadband Global 

Area Network (BGAN) satellites, we are actively co-marketing 

with Thrane & Thrane, the world’s leading manufacturer of 

terminals and land-earth stations for global mobile satellite 

and radio communication. The BGAN satellites increased 

transmission speeds from 144 kilobits per second to nearly 

500 kilobits per second.  Canaccord Capital predicts that the 

military segment will be an early adopter of increased satellite 

data speeds and the market for BGAN services alone could 

grow to $500 million by 2010.

The New TCS Platform
Given the planned sale of our Enterprise division, our new 

operating platform clearly shows the momentum of our Hosted, 

Subscriber, and Maintenance, and other Services revenue. We also 

expect that moving ahead without the Enterprise division, which 

some felt over-complicated our story, will help make the 

company’s performance and prospects more transparent to ana-

lysts and new investors alike. 

I would like to express my gratitude to all of our company’s 

employees whose efforts have built the intrinsic value of our 

company, as well as to our shareholders who have supported 

us though these challenging periods of both investment and 

new growth. In 2006, TCS will focus on its core strengths with 

the goal of building a platform that is more predictable, more 

productive, and ultimately more valuable to our shareholders.

Sincerely,

Maurice B. Tosé
Chairman, President and CEO 

Joint Task Force Katrina Commander, Lt. General Russell Honoré gave 
the TCS Swiftlink deployable satellite communication system high 
ratings during his extensive use at the Louisiana Superdome. Whether 
on the battlefi eld or in humanitarian relief efforts, SwiftLinks serve the 
communication needs of users worldwide.
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This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities

Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-

looking statements are statements other than historical information or statements of current condition. We

generally identify forward-looking statements by the use of terms such as ""believe'', ""intend'', ""expect'',

""may'', ""should'', ""plan'', ""project'', ""contemplate'', ""anticipate'', or other similar statements. Examples of

forward looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to: (i) that we

believe the combined availability of teleport, deployable device, and integration capability from a single source

is compelling and that because of our company's portfolio of software, patented intellectual property and

teams of wireless and encryption specialists we believe this gives us a competitive advantage, (ii) we expect

to launch other location-based applications in 2006 involving Öeet tracking, family Ñnder, and turn-by-turn

navigation, (iii) that we plan to continue to develop and sell software and engineered systems which we will

deliver through deployment in customer networks or through hosted and subscription business models and we

believe that our software is positioned for early adoption by carriers, (iv) wireless growth is expected to

continue to increase in all regions around the world for the foreseeable future, (v) both the number of users

and messages per individual are projected to increase signiÑcantly, (vi) we will continue to develop network

software for wireless carriers that operate on all major types of networks, (vii) we will continue to leverage our

knowledge of complex call control technology, including Signaling System 7 and Internet protocol standards,

to unlock valuable information such as user location, device on/oÅ status and billing and transaction records

that reside inside wireless networks, (viii) we will continue to invest in our underlying technology and to

capitalize on our expertise to meet the growing demand for sophisticated wireless applications, (ix) we intend

to continue to selectively pursue acquisitions of companies and technologies in order to increase the scale and

scope of our operations, market presence, products, services and customer base, (x) federal agencies, as

well as state and local governments, are increasingly contracting with specialist teams for functions such as

network management, and for long-term projects such as software development and systems integration,

(xi) that we expect to realize $59.1 million of backlog within the next 12 months, (xii) that we expect to

complete the sale of the Enterprise division by the end of 2006, (xiii) our belief that we have suÇcient capital

resources to meet our anticipated cash operating expenses, working capital and capital expenditure and debt

services needs for the next twelve months, and (xiv) our belief that our capitalized research and development

expense will be recoverable from future gross proÑts generated by the related products. Other such

statements include without limitation risks and uncertainties relating to our Ñnancial results and our ability to

(i) reach proÑtability as early as anticipated or at all, (ii) continue to rely on our customers and other third

parties to provide additional products and services that create a demand for our products and services,

(iii) conduct our business in foreign countries, (iv) adapt and integrate new technologies into our products,

(v) develop software without any errors or defects, (vi) protect our intellectual property rights,

(vii) implement our business strategy, (viii) realize backlog, and (ix) achieve continued revenue growth in

the foreseeable future for our E9-1-w1 business. This list should not be considered exhaustive.

These forward-looking statements relate to our plans, objectives and expectations for future operations.

We base these statements on our beliefs as well as assumptions made using information currently available to

us. In light of the risks and uncertainties inherent in all projected operational matters, the inclusion of forward-

looking statements in this document should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person

that our objectives or plans will be achieved or that any of our operating expectations will be realized.

Revenues, results of operations, and other matters are diÇcult to forecast and could diÅer materially from

those projected in the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as a result of

factors discussed in ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of

Operations'', the matters discussed in ""Risk Factors AÅecting Our Business and Future Results'', which are

included in Item 1A, and those factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including,

changes in economic conditions, technology and the market in general, and our ability to adapt our products

and services to these changes. We undertake no obligation to release publicly the results of any future

revisions we make to forward-looking statements to reÖect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to

reÖect the occurrence of unanticipated events. We caution you not to put undue reliance on these forward-

looking statements.
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Item 1. Business

Recent Developments

In 2004 and 2005, our Commercial Applications segment included a division called the Enterprise

division, consisting of assets that we acquired in 2004 from Aether Systems, Inc. On December 29, 2005,

our Board of Directors resolved to oÅer the Enterprise assets for sale, and we have engaged an investment

bank that is actively marketing the assets of the Enterprise division. As a result, the Enterprise division has

been reclassiÑed in our Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued operations for accounting purposes

in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, ""Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.'' We expect to complete the sale of these assets by the end of 2006. The

Enterprise division will continue to be a part of our business until it is sold.

On March 10, 2006, pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we issued and sold

to two institutional lenders (i) $10 million in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March 10,

2009, which bear cash interest at the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional

notes, at the rate of 16% per annum, at our option, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75

million shares of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share. We received net cash

proceeds of approximately $9.3 million from this transaction, which are intended to be used for general

corporate purposes.

Overview

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. develops and applies highly reliable wireless data communications

technology, with emphasis on location-based services such as enhanced 9-1-1 (E9-1-1) for wireless carriers

and Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) service providers.

We are a Maryland corporation founded in 1987 with our headquarters located at 275 West Street,

Annapolis, Maryland 21401. Our Web address is www.telecomsys.com. The information contained on our

Web site does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All of our Ñlings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission will be available through a link on our website. The terms ""TCS'', ""we'', ""us'' and

""our'' as used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and its

subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is made clear that such terms mean only TeleCommunica-

tion Systems, Inc.

Our business is conducted through two operating segments, Commercial Applications (65% of 2005

revenue) and Government (35% of 2005 revenue). In addition, our business includes the Enterprise division,

which we are currently in the process of selling. See discussion of segment reporting in Note 21 to the

audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for

additional segment information.

Commercial Applications Segment: Our carrier software system products enable wireless carriers to deliver

short text messages, location information, internet content, and other enhanced communication services to

and from wireless phones. We provide E9-1-1 services, commercial location-based services, and inter-carrier

text message distribution services on a hosted, or service bureau basis, that is, customers use our software

functionality through connections to and from our network operations centers, paying us monthly based on the

number of subscribers, cell sites, or call center circuits, or message volume. As of December 31, 2005, we

provide hosted services under contracts with 36 wireless carrier networks, as well as VoIP service providers.

We also earn subscriber revenue through wireless applications including our Rand McNallyTM TraÇc application

which is available via all major U.S. wireless carriers. We earn carrier software-based systems revenue through

the sale of licenses, deployment and customization fees and maintenance fees. Pricing is generally based on

the volume of capacity purchased from us by the carrier. As of December 31, 2005, we had deployed 85

software systems for our customers in wireless carrier networks around the world, including those of Verizon

Wireless, Vodafone, T-Mobile, Telefonica and its aÇliate Vivo, Alltel, and Hutchison Whampoa's ""3'' brand

third generation networks. We also provide carrier technology on a hosted or service bureau basis.
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Government Segment: Since our founding in 1987 we have provided communication systems integration,

information technology services, and software solutions to the U.S. Department of Defense and other

government customers. We also own and operate secure satellite teleport facilities, and resell access to

satellite airtime (known as space segment.) We design, furnish, install and operate wireless and data network

communication systems, including our SwiftLink» deployable communication systems which incorporate high

speed, satellite, and internet protocol technology. More than 600 of our SwiftLink» deployable communication

systems are in use for security, defense, and law enforcement around the world. We believe that the

combined availability of teleport, deployable device, and integration capability from a single source is uniquely

compelling.

Enterprise Division. The Enterprise division, formerly part of our Commercial Applications segment,

generates subscriber revenue as a reseller of Research in Motion's BlackBerry» devices and service, and as a

provider of wireless client device software applications, including real-time wireless delivery of Ñnancial market

data . The Enterprise division software uses a proprietary FusionTM behind-the-enterprise-Ñrewall platform

uniting messaging, synchronization and web technologies, and its 20/20 DeliveryTM application enables

package and vehicle tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to capture digital signatures for proof of

delivery. We are currently oÅering the Enterprise division's assets for sale. However, the division will continue

to be a part of our business until it is sold. See ""Recent Developments'' above.

 We currently have 40 patents, primarily for wireless messaging and location technology, and over 100 patent

applications pending. We employ 629 people.

Swiftlink», Xypoint», Enabling Convergent Technologies» Wireless Internet GatewayTM, 20/20 DeliveryTM,

FusionTM, and mobeoTM are trademarks or service marks of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. or our

subsidiaries. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains trademarks, trade names and services marks of

other companies that are the property of their respective owners.

I. Commercial Applications Segment:

A. Commercial Product and Service OÅerings

1. Commercial hosted, subscriber, and maintenance services. We own and lease network operation

centers that host software for which customers make recurring monthly usage payments. Our hosted oÅerings

include wireless and Voice over IP E9-1-1, commercial location-based applications, and Ñnancial market data

applications. Through wireless carriers, we sell subscriptions to services using our client software applications

such as TraÇc MattersTM, sometimes in collaboration with owners of related brand names such as Rand

McNally.

a. Hosted Location-Based Services, including E9-1-1. Our E9-1-1 service bureau works with wireless

carriers and local emergency services in compliance with the Federal Communication Commission

requirements. When a wireless subscriber covered by this service makes an E9-1-1 call from his or her

wireless phone, the software (1) identiÑes the call as an emergency call, (2) accesses the handset's

location information from the wireless network (either imprecise or precise), (3) routes the call to the

appropriate E9-1-1 jurisdiction, (4) translates the information into a user friendly format, and

(5) transmits the data to the local emergency service call center. Our E9-1-1 service operates on a

platform that resides at our network operations center in Seattle, Washington with data center redundancy

in Phoenix, Arizona. As of December 31, 2005, we are under contract to provide E9-1-1 services to 36

wireless carriers, including Verizon, Cingular and US Cellular. We also provide E9-1-1 service to 6 Voice

over IP service providers, including Vonage and VoIP, Inc.

b. Customer subscriptions to application-based services such as TraÇc MattersTM. TCS' strategy is to

have a suite of location-based applications that carrier subscribers may select and for which they pay

recurring monthly fees. TCS' Ñrst major application launched on multiple U.S. carriers is a real-time traÇc

application called TraÇc MattersTM that is sold under the Rand McNally brand. TCS expects to launch

other location-based applications in 2006 involving Öeet tracking, family Ñnder, and turn-by-turn navigation.
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c. Software and system maintenance. For our installed base of systems in use by customers (see

system descriptions below), we provide ongoing operational support, including administration of system

components, system optimization and conÑguration management. Maintenance services include tracking

customer support issues, trouble shooting, and developing and installing maintenance releases. We

typically provide maintenance services for an annual fee paid in advance, which is priced based on the

cumulative license fees we have billed for the systems being supported.

2. Commercial Services. We provide telematic location database maintenance services for DENSO

Corporation of Japan, (a global supplier to the automotive industry) through the compilation of geographic

information databases used in Denso's in-vehicle navigation systems that are in products including Toyota,

Lexus, Land Rover and Lincoln brands.

3. Commercial Licensed Software-based Systems: We design and develop software products for

wireless carrier and enterprise networks that enable the delivery of secure and personalized content, services,

and transactions to wireless devices. We design our software using industry standards for easy implementa-

tion, customization, and interoperability with other network components. Most of our commercial software is

now designed and delivered together with third-party software and related hardware, which is integrated into

new and existing networks by our engineers. Our commercial software-based system oÅerings include:

a. Xypoint» Location Platform (XLP) and Applications for Location-based Services: Our Xypoint»

Location Platform system interacts with the wireless network to extract location information (the ""X/Y''

coordinates) of the user's device. In order to determine a user's location with suÇcient precision for

public safety compliance and for commercial location-based applications, our technology interacts with

network triangulation software which some carriers have added to cell towers and switches in the

network; it can also work with networks that have incorporated Assisted GPS systems that use Global

Positioning System (GPS) chips in user handsets. Our platform also provides privacy controls so that the

wireless device user controls access to the user's location information. The ""X/Y'' information extracted

from networks by our XLP is used by application software including E9-1-1, driving directions,

identiÑcation of locations near the end user (such as gas stations, restaurants, or hotels), and locating

other network subscribers near the user's current position.

b. Short Message Service Center and Wireless Messaging Gateway. Our Short Message Service

Center software enables users to send and receive text or data messages to and from wireless devices. It

provides wireless carriers eÇcient two-way data delivery and supports major industry standards for

wireless communications. Our Wireless Messaging Gateway is a portal for two-way data communication

between users of wireless networks and the Internet. The Wireless Messaging Gateway allows users to

customize the services they receive on wireless devices by setting up a user proÑle through a single

Internet-based procedure. Wireless carriers can access these user proÑles and usage data to gain a better

understanding of customer behavior. The Wireless Messaging Gateway allows additional wireless

applications to be added as desired, as well as personalization, instant messaging and spam-blocking

capabilities that can be independently customized by the end-user.

B. Commercial Market Opportunities and Strategy

We plan to continue to develop and sell software and engineered systems which we will deliver through

deployment in customer networks or through hosted and subscription business models. Our development

investment is focused on the delivery of Internet content, proprietary third-party content, short messages,

location information, corporate network data and other enhanced data-communication services to and from

wireless devices. The following trends are driving demand for our products and services:

Growth in Wireless and Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) Subscribers. The use of wireless

communications has increased signiÑcantly in recent years, driven by expanded wireless network

coverage, upgraded high-speed digital wireless networks, more aÅordable wireless communications

service plans, and higher quality and less expensive wireless devices. Likewise, VoIP service oÅers cost

advantages over traditional wireline service. Wireless growth is expected to continue to increase in all

regions around the world for the foreseeable future. Driving this growth is the replacement of landline
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connections with wireless connections. Some households are now using cellular phones exclusively. This

is especially true for young adults, but also true in developing countries where wireless may often be the

only means of communications.

The FCC's E9-1-1 Mandates. We are one of the two leading providers of E9-1-1 service to wireless

and VoIP service providers in the U.S. The ability to call for help or communicate with family members in

need is the primary reason many people cite for having a wireless phone. A key to enhancing personal

safety through a cell phone is the availability of E9-1-1 wireless capabilities. In 1996, the Federal

Communications Commission (FCC) mandated the adoption of E9-1-1 technology by wireless carriers. In

June 2005, the FCC ordered providers of interconnected VoIP service to provide E9-1-1 services to all of

their customers as a standard feature of the service, rather than as an optional enhancement. The FCC

requires carriers to issue quarterly reports as to their progress and compliance with FCC-mandated

deployment schedules. We are under long-term contracts, usually three to Ñve years, with 36 wireless

and 6 VoIP service providers, including all of the four largest wireless carriers in the United States.

Cellular Network Improvements to Third Generation Capabilities. Mobile operators are deploying high-

speed data networks based on third generation technologies that, in many cases, equal or surpass data

rates that are typically available for residential wireline users. The deployments of these high-speed

wireless data networks have made it possible for individuals and enterprises to ""wireless-enable'' many

services that previously required a wireline connection, such as connecting to the Internet and accessing

corporate data outside the oÇce. Our company's location-based technology and applications incorporating

map graphics take advantage of these network enhancements.

Improving Wireless Device Functionality. Manufacturers continue to increase the functionality of

mobile devices including phones and personal digital assistants through higher resolution, color screens,

and increased computing capability for sophisticated applications. These devices enable the user to take

advantage of the high-speed data networks for Internet and data usage. Broad adoption of location-based

services (LBS) has required, among other things, handsets incorporating components for interoperation

with Global Positioning System satellites and with LBS network components that we have developed and

provide.

Growing Use of Commercial Location-Based Wireless Services (LBS). A driver of wireless communi-

cations growth is the delivery of timely, highly specialized, interactive and location-speciÑc information.

Technology incorporated in a growing number of networks and handsets now enables determination of the

handset's location with suÇcient precision to allow useful applications beyond public safety's E9-1-1.

Wireless users beneÑt from the ability to receive highly customized location-speciÑc information in

response to their queries or via targeted opt-in content delivered to the wireless device. Enterprises

beneÑt from wireless location technology by utilizing routing and tracking applications for their mobile Ñeld

forces. Our software provides wireless location solutions to mobile operators today through our Xypoint»

Location Platform (XLP.) This technology is being used, via interconnection with XLP systems hosted in

our company's network operations, by Sprint in the U.S. and Iusacell in Mexico. Our XLP systems are

deployed in six of Hutchison Whampoa's ""3''TM networks, Telefonica's Vivo network in Brazil, and the Altel

network in Kazakhstan.

Growing Use of Short Messaging, E-mail and Internet Applications. E-mail and short messaging

services (SMS) are increasingly important means of communication, with both the number of users and

messages per individual projected to increase signiÑcantly. Mobile operators in the United States are

experiencing rapid SMS traÇc growth, according to statistics from mobile operators. The Internet and

internal corporate data networks, or intranets, have emerged as global communications channels that

allow users to share information and conduct business transactions electronically. We provide solutions for

mobile operators to receive and route e-mail and SMS messages through our Short Message Service

Center and Wireless Messaging Gateway systems.

Growing Use of Secure Wireless Communications and Location Technology for Defense, Intelligence

and Homeland Security. Wireless communications and location technology are key initiatives within the

federal government for both security and supply-chain management. As was dramatically illustrated during
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2005 by Hurricane Katrina, wireless communications in emergencies are of paramount importance, as

emergency personnel need to be able to communicate and share information across agencies and

departments where wireline systems may be unavailable. We believe that our expertise in the areas of

wireless E9-1-1, location and messaging services, and secure satellite communications can be leveraged

to provide the needed wireless infrastructure for the U.S. Departments of Homeland Security and Defense

and we are currently pursuing opportunities to provide such products and services. Our SwiftLink»

deployable communication systems are also increasingly used by military and other government agencies

around the globe for communications in times of emergencies. SwiftLink» is designed to provide secure

voice and data communications through encrypted satellite links.

The key elements of our commercial strategy are to:

‚ Focus our Software and Integration Resources on Evolving Carrier Network Capabilities. Mobile

operators and the federal government increasingly seek integrated solutions that can harness both

messaging capabilities of networks and location information of end-users. We are well positioned to

address the evolving integration needs of our commercial and government clients through our

demonstrated expertise in both messaging and location determination. Mobile operators have made

large capital expenditure investments in infrastructure for wireless data and location determination

technologies. While originally envisioned as separate technologies, messaging and location determina-

tion technologies can be integrated to provide value-added services and applications for the operators'

end-users.

‚ Expand Our Sales and Marketing Capabilities. We are developing relationships with communication

infrastructure providers in order to expand our sales channels for our carrier software products and

services. We have historically leveraged our strategic relationships with original equipment manufactur-

ers to market our Commercial Applications segment products to wireless carriers worldwide. We are

adding partnerships for our location technologies.

‚ Grow Our Wireless Carrier and Voice Over IP Customer Base. We now serve or are under contract

with 36 wireless carrier networks in 15 countries, and with 6 VoIP service providers. We intend to

expand our domestic and international carrier base by capitalizing on our relationships with original

equipment manufacturers and establish new distribution partnerships and by expanding our own sales

and marketing initiatives. We will continue to develop network software for wireless carriers that operate

on all major types of networks.

‚ Leverage Our Expertise in Accessing Information Stored Inside Wireless Networks. We will continue

to leverage our knowledge of complex call control technology, including Signaling System 7 and Internet

protocol standards, to unlock valuable information such as user location, device on/oÅ status, and

billing and transaction records that reside inside wireless networks and are diÇcult to retrieve and utilize.

Using this information, we intend to expand the range of capabilities that wireless data technology can

accomplish for our customers.

‚ Develop and Enhance Our Technology. We will continue to invest in our underlying technology and to

capitalize on our expertise to meet the growing demand for sophisticated wireless applications. As of

January 1, 2006, our staÅ included more than 350 technical personnel who specialize in wireless

network and client software development, hosted wireless operations and integrated network solutions.

We also have research and development relationships with wireless handset manufacturers, wireless

carriers, and content and electronic commerce providers. Our Xypoint» platform architecture eÇciently

integrates our presence, location, call control and messaging technology, resulting in reduced costs,

increased reliability, more eÇcient deployments, compatibility with our existing products and a migration

path to third-generation services.

‚ Pursue Select Acquisitions. We intend to continue to selectively pursue acquisitions of companies and

technologies in order to increase the scale and scope of our operations, market presence, products,

services and customer base.
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II. Government Segment:

A. Government Products and Services

1. Government Services. In addition to maintenance services, which we began selling in 2005,

generating monthly, usage-based revenue for indeÑnite periods, we enter into fee-for-service contracts under

which revenue is generated based on contract labor billing rates or based on Ñxed fees for deliverables. These

services, typically under multi-year contracts or contract vehicles, include:

a. Network Operation Support. We design, install, and operate networks that integrate computing and

communications, including systems that provide communications via both satellite and terrestrial links. We

can provide complete network installation services from cabling infrastructure to complex communications

system components. We also provide ongoing network operation and management support services under

multi-year contracts with government customers.

b. Custom Software. We develop custom software applications to support speciÑc customer

requirements. We have historically tailored enhancements of our software products for wireless carrier

customers and developed custom applications for government agencies.

c. Secure Satellite Teleport Data Landing and Transmission Services. We own and operate high-speed

satellite communications teleports in Baltimore, Maryland and Manassas, Virginia that are connected to

the public switched telephone network. These facilities provide transport services for Internet protocol

(IP)-based media content consisting of Voice over IP (VOIP), Internet, video and messaging data using

Very Small Aperture Terminal (VSAT) satellite technology as part of our communication solutions for our

customers.

2. Government Systems. We have designed and produce SwiftLink», a lightweight, satellite-based

secure communication system, which can be immediately deployed in remote areas where other means of

reliable communications may not be available. SwiftLink» provides secure voice, video and data communica-

tions for up to eight people and a single person can deploy the system in less than ten minutes, creating

critical communication channels from any location around the world. Uses include: emergency response, news

reporting, public safety, drilling and mining operations, Ñeld surveys and other activities that require remote

capabilities for video and data transmission. Integration work which typically accompanies customer purchases

of our secure deployable systems is reported together with the system sales revenue. The Broadband Global

Area Network upgrade of the Inmarsat satellite constellation, which enables lower cost Internet protocol traÇc

with broader band capability, expands our opportunity for Swiftlink» sales volume.

B. Government Market Opportunities and Strategy

Government Outsourcing of Network and Telecom Technical Functions. Federal agencies, as well as state

and local governments, are increasingly contracting with specialist teams for functions such as network

management, and for long-term projects such as software development and systems integration. Since the

founding of our Company, we have built relationships with federal agencies, including the Special Operations

Command and the FBI, as well as the State of Maryland and the City of Baltimore. Since early 2004, we have

made it a management priority to aggressively expand our base of long-term service contract engagements.

We have added experienced sales personnel and enhanced our relationships with systems integrators and

specialist vendors such as SAP to expand our penetration of the government service market.

Expanded Need for Secure, Interoperable Deployable Communication Solutions. During 2005, disaster

response eÅorts in the U.S. Gulf Coast area by the Department of Homeland Security's Federal Emergency

Management Agency illustrated the need for enhanced communication capabilities in such circumstances.

Military responders in New Orleans used our Swiftlink» systems to coordinate deployable resources. We are

continuing to enhance our deployable communication systems product line to take advantage of the evolving

environment, including the beneÑts of Very Small Aperture Terminal (VSAT) satellite communications

architectures where desirable, and the Inmarsat Broadband Global Area Network enhancements to its satellite

services.
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Secure Teleport and Integration Capabilities along with Deployable Systems as a Bundled OÅering.

Government customers can beneÑt from single-sourcing secure communications solutions which include a

secure U.S. landing site for backhaul traÇc as well as network engineering expertise and secure remote

terminals. We believe that our company enjoys a competitive advantage, because it can oÅer all of these

elements from a single vendor.

Application of Commercially Proven Technology to Government Solutions. Government customers increasingly

are using commercial carrier networks. Procurement oÇcers have expressed a preference for solutions that

incorporate proven commercial technology, rather than reliance on government research and development

funding. Our company's portfolio of software, patented intellectual property, and teams of wireless and

encryption specialists positions us to tap into this opportunity.

Customers

Commercial Applications Segment. Our commercial customers include wireless telecommunications

carriers in the United States and foreign countries, either directly or through our channel partners. We provide

licensed software-based systems, and hosted service bureau oÅerings in our Commercial Applications segment

to carriers around the world. Our wireless carrier customers include Verizon Wireless (17% of total 2005

revenue from continuing operations), Cingular Wireless (10% of total 2005 revenue from continuing

operations), US Cellular, Sprint, and the Hutchison Whampoa third generation ""3'' brand networks.

Customers for our Voice Over IP E9-1-1 services include Vonage and Level 3. Our sales eÅorts target wireless

and Voice over IP service providers around the world. The Enterprise division's customers include Corporate

Express and Staples.

Government Segment. Our major Government segment customers include units of the U.S. Departments

of Defense, Justice, and State, the General Services Administration, the City of Baltimore, and Northrop

Grumman. In the aggregate, U.S. federal government entities accounted for 17% of total 2005 revenue from

continuing operations.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had unÑlled orders, or backlog, as follows:

December 31,

($ in millions) 2005 2004

Commercial Applications segment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 69.0 $58.0

Government segmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52.8 40.1

Total backlog ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $121.8 $98.1

Expected to be realized within 12 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 59.1 $51.0

Backlog for our hosted services is computed by multiplying the most recent month's recurring revenue

times the remaining months under existing long-term agreements with no assumption as to additional

deployments of Public Safety Answering Point connections. The backlog at any given time may be aÅected by

a number of factors, including contracts being renewed or new contracts being signed before existing

contracts are completed. Some of our backlog could be canceled for causes such as late delivery, poor

performance and other factors. Accordingly, a comparison of backlog from period to period is not necessarily

meaningful and may not be indicative of eventual actual revenue.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products and services through our direct sales force and through indirect channels. Our direct

sales force consists of approximately 40 professionals in the U.S. and Europe. We have also historically

leveraged our relationships with original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) to market our commercial systems

to wireless carrier customers. These indirect sales relationships include Lucent, Ericsson, Motorola, Symbol,
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Intermec, and Qualcomm. During the indirect sales process, as well as during installation and maintenance,

we have extensive direct contact with prospective carrier customers.

We are pre-qualiÑed as an approved vendor for some government contracts, and some of our products

and services are available to government customers via the General Services Administration's Information

Technology Schedule 70. We collaborate in sales eÅorts under various arrangements with integrators including

Anteon and SAP. Our marketing eÅorts also include advertising, public relations, speaking engagements and

attending and sponsoring industry conferences.

Competition

The markets for our products and services are competitive. The adoption of industry standards may make it

easier for new market entrants to compete with us. We expect that we will continue to compete primarily on

the basis of the functionality, breadth, time to market, ease of integration, price, and quality of our products

and services. The market and competitive conditions are continually developing. Our software products

compete with many similar products provided by other companies. It is diÇcult to present a meaningful

comparison between our competitors and us because there is a large variation in revenue generated by

diÅerent customers, diÅerent products and services, as well as the diÅerent combinations of products and

services oÅered by our competitors. We cannot, therefore, quantify our relative competitive position.

Our current and potential competitors include:

‚ Commercial Applications Segment. Intrado, Openwave, Logica CMG, Huawei Technologies, Com-

verse, NEC, InfoSpace. Enterprise division competitors include IBM, Bloomberg, and UPS Logistics.

‚ Government Segment. Computer Sciences Corporation; Electronic Data Systems Corporation; Keane,

Inc.; Northrop Grumman; Turtle Mountain Communications, Inc.

Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater Ñnancial, technical, marketing

and distribution resources than we do. Many of these companies have greater name recognition and more

established relationships with their target customers. Furthermore, these competitors may be able to adopt

more aggressive pricing policies and oÅer customers more attractive terms than we can. With time and capital,

it would be possible for our competitors to replicate our products and services.

We partner with vendors of precise location technology. Certain of our partners may attempt to compete

with our operating platform by developing their own transmission platform or by purchasing another mobile

location platform. The markets for commercial location and other mobile wireless applications for carriers and

enterprises are relatively new and continually developing. The convergence of wireless technologies and the

Internet is creating many initiatives to bring data and transaction capabilities to wireless devices. There is a

wide array of potential competitors in this market, including providers of competing location management

platforms, competing e-mail products, competing enterprise mobility platforms and other competing

applications for wireless devices.

Research and Development

Our success depends on a number of factors, which include our ability to identify and respond to

emerging technological trends in our target markets, to develop and maintain competitive products, to

enhance our existing products by adding features and functionality that diÅerentiate the products from those of

our competitors, and to bring products to market on a timely basis and at competitive prices. As of January 1,

2006, our research and development staÅ included more than 350 professionals who specialize in wireless

network and client software development. Since 1996, we have made substantial investments in wireless

application research and development, most of which has been devoted to the development of carrier and

enterprise network software products and services. We are primarily focusing our current research and

development investments in cellular location-based technology, including E9-1-1 technology. We actively

support existing telecommunications standards and promote new telecommunications standards in order to

expand the market for wireless data. In 1996, we co-founded the Intelligent Network Forum, an organization

dedicated to expanding the role of intelligent networks in telecommunications. As part of our strategy to
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expand the role of short messaging, we co-founded the Short Message Peer-to-Peer Forum in 1999. For the

years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, our research and development expense in continuing

operations was $13.9 million, $18.0 million, and $16.9 million, respectively.

Certain of our government customers contract with us from time to time to conduct research on

telecommunications software, equipment and systems.

Intellectual Property Rights

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, and trade secret laws and

restrictions to establish and protect certain proprietary rights in our products and services.

We currently hold over 40 issued patents relating to wireless text messaging, inter-carrier messaging,

number portability, GPS ephemeris data, emergency public safety data routing and electronic commerce. We

have Ñled more than 100 additional patent applications for certain apparatus and processes we believe we

have invented to enable key features of the locations services, wireless text alerts, Financial Market Data, Short

Message Service Center, Prepaid Wireless, mobile-originated data and E9-1-1 network software. There is no

assurance that these patent applications will result in a patent being issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark

OÇce or other patent oÇces, nor is there any guarantee that any issued patent will be valid and enforceable.

Additionally, foreign patent rights may or may not be available or pursued in any technology area for which

U.S. patent applications have been Ñled. We expect to sell four foreign patents along with the sale of the

Enterprise division, and royalty-free rights to use some of our domestic patents. In addition, we have engaged

an intellectual capital merchant bank to assist us in selling or licensing certain of our patents covering

technology that the company does not currently plan to use.

Under our development agreement with Lucent, we developed the Short Message Service Center

software in late 1996. Under the development agreement, we share ownership rights in this software

application with Lucent. The scope of each party's ownership interest is subject to each party's various

underlying ownership rights in intellectual property and also to conÑdential information contributed to the

applications, and is subject to challenge by either party.

As a member of various industry standard-setting forums, we have agreed to license certain of our

intellectual property to other members on fair and reasonable terms to the extent that the license is required to

develop non-infringing products under the speciÑcations promulgated by those forums.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 629 employees, 620 full-time and 9 part-time. We believe relations

with our employees are good. None of our employees is represented by a union.

Geographical Information

During the Ñscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, our total revenues generated from

products and services of our continuing operations in the U.S. were $95.3 million, $90.5 million, and

$88.5 million, respectively, and our total revenues generated from products and services outside of the U.S.

from our continuing operations were $6.9 million, $6.4 million, and $3.6 million, respectively. As of

December 31, 2005 and 2004, essentially all of the long-lived assets of our continuing operations were

located in the U.S.

During the Ñscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, total revenues generated from products

and services of our Enterprise division in the U.S. were $23.1 million and $39.8 million, respectively, and our

total revenues generated from products and services of our Enterprise division outside of the U.S. were

$5.0 million and $6.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our Enterprise division had

approximately $2.2 million and $2.8 million, respectively, of assets located outside the U.S.
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We are subject to risks related to oÅering our products and services in foreign countries. See the

information under the heading ""Risk Factors Ì Because our product oÅerings are sold internationally, we are

subject to risks of conducting business in foreign countries'' included in Item 1A.

Item 1A. Risk Factors 

You should consider carefully each of the following risks and all of the other information in this Annual Report

on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference herein. If any of the following risks and

uncertainties develops into actual events, our business, Ñnancial condition or results of operations could be

materially adversely aÅected.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have a history of losses and can oÅer no assurance that we will achieve proÑtability in the near future.

We incurred net losses of $11.5 million, $18.5 million and $13.5 million for the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2005, we had an accumulated

deÑcit of $161 million. We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Class A common stock and do

not currently anticipate paying any cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. We

expect to incur signiÑcant expenses in the near term, especially due to product development, sales and

marketing and administrative expenses. Therefore, we will need to generate signiÑcant additional revenue and

control costs to achieve and sustain proÑtability on a quarterly or annual basis. If we are not able to increase

revenue or control costs, our operating results and proÑtability could be adversely aÅected.

Our stock price, like that of many technology companies, has been and may continue to be volatile.

We expect that the market price of our Class A common stock will continue to be volatile. We are involved

in a highly visible, rapidly changing industry and stock prices in our industry and similar industries have risen

and fallen in response to a variety of factors, including:

‚ announcements of new wireless data communications technologies and new providers of wireless data

communications;

‚ announcements of the issuance of new patents

‚ acquisitions of, or strategic alliances among, providers of wireless data communications;

‚ changes in recommendations by securities analysts regarding the results or prospects of providers of

wireless data communications;

‚ changes in investor perceptions of the acceptance or proÑtability of wireless data communications; and

‚ other global economic uncertainties.

If wireless carriers do not continue to provide additional products and services to their subscribers, our

business could be harmed.

If wireless carriers limit their product and service oÅerings or do not purchase additional products

containing our applications, our business will be harmed. Wireless carriers face implementation and support

challenges in introducing Internet-based services via wireless devices, which may slow the rate of adoption or

implementation of our products and services. Historically, wireless carriers have been relatively slow to

implement complex new services such as Internet-based services. Our future success depends upon a

continued increase in the use of wireless devices to access the Internet and upon the continued development

of wireless devices as a medium for the delivery of network-based content and services. We have no control

over the pace at which wireless carriers implement these new services. The failure of wireless carriers to

introduce and support services utilizing our products in a timely and eÅective manner could reduce sales of our

products and services and seriously harm our business.
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We may fail to support our anticipated growth in operations which could reduce demand for our services

and materially adversely aÅect our revenue.

Our business strategy is based on the assumption that the number of customers, the amount of

information they want to receive and the number of services we oÅer will all increase. We must continue to

develop and expand our systems and operations to accommodate this growth. The expansion and adaptation

of our systems operations requires substantial Ñnancial, operational and management resources. Due to the

limited deployment of our services to date, the ability of our systems and operations to connect and manage a

substantially larger number of customers while maintaining superior performance is unknown. Any failure on

our part to develop and maintain our wireless data services as we experience rapid growth could signiÑcantly

reduce demand for our services and materially adversely aÅect our revenue.

We could incur substantial costs from product liability claims relating to our software.

Our agreements with customers may require us to indemnify customers for our own acts of negligence

and non-performance. Product liability and other forms of insurance are expensive and may not be available in

the future. We cannot be sure that we will be able to maintain or obtain insurance coverage at acceptable

costs or in suÇcient amounts or that our insurer will not disclaim coverage as to a future claim. A product

liability or similar claim may adversely aÅect our business, operating results or Ñnancial condition.

Our operating results could be adversely aÅected by any interruption of our data delivery services or system

failure.

Our E9-1-1, market data, enterprise mobility and mobile asset delivery and logistics operations depend on

our ability to maintain our computer and telecommunications equipment and systems in eÅective working

order, and to protect our systems against damage from Ñre, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications

failure, sabotage, unauthorized access to our system or similar events. Although all of our mission-critical

systems and equipment are designed with built-in redundancy and security, any unanticipated interruption or

delay in our operations or breach of security could have a material adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial

condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, any addition or expansion of our facilities to increase capacity could increase our exposure to

natural or other disasters. Our property and business interruption insurance may not be adequate to

compensate us for any losses that may occur in the event of a system failure or a breach of security.

Furthermore, insurance may not be available to us at all or, if available, may not be available to us on

commercially reasonable terms.

Because we rely on a few key customers, our revenue may decline if we fail to retain those customers.

To date, the largest customers for our product and service oÅerings in terms of revenue generated have

been Cingular Wireless, US Cellular, Sprint, Hutchison 3G, Verizon Wireless, and the U.S. government. For the

Ñscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, each of Verizon Wireless and the U.S. government

accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2005, Cingular Wireless

also accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue. We expect to generate a signiÑcant portion of our total

revenue from these customers for the foreseeable future. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the largest

customers for our Commercial Applications Segment were Verizon Wireless, US Cellular and Cingular, the

largest customers for our Government Segment were various U.S. government agencies, and the largest

customers for our Enterprise division were Merrill Lynch, Goldman Sachs, Bank of America, OÇce Depot and

Corporate Express. To date, the attrition rate for enterprise customers from the businesses that we acquired in

connection with the acquisition of Aether's EMS division has been approximately 10% due to technology

changes, but we have not experienced any unanticipated customer attrition in the segment. However, we are

currently oÅering the assets of the Enterprise division for sale. If and when this sale is carried out, our

customer base will be further reduced. See ""Business Ó Recent Developments''.
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Our growth depends on maintaining relationships with our major customers and on developing other

customers and distribution channels. The loss of any of the customers discussed in this paragraph would have

a material adverse impact on our business.

Because we rely on key partners to expand our marketing and sales eÅorts, if we fail to maintain or expand

our relationships with strategic partners and indirect distribution channels our license revenues could

decline.

We have announced strategic partnerships with Nokia and Motorola, and are working on additional

partnerships to provide supplemental channels for the marketing and sale of our software applications. Our

growth depends on maintaining relationships with these partners and on developing other distribution

channels. The loss of any of these partners would have a material adverse impact on our business.

Because our business may not generate suÇcient cash to fund operations, we may not be able to continue

to grow our business if we are unable to obtain additional capital when needed.

We believe that our cash and cash equivalents including proceeds received from the Ñnancing which

occurred in March 2006, and our bank line of credit, coupled with the funds anticipated to be generated from

operations will be suÇcient to Ñnance our operations for at least the next twelve months. Although we

currently believe that we have suÇcient capital resources to meet our anticipated working capital and capital

expenditures requirements beyond the next twelve months, unanticipated events, such as the failure to sell the

Enterprise division, a failure to generate suÇcient capital from such a sale, or the failure to license or sell a

portion of our intellectual property portfolio, could cause us to fall short of our capital requirements. In

addition, such events could cause us to violate our bank line of credit covenants causing the bank to foreclose

on the line and/or opportunities may make it necessary for us to return to the public markets, or establish new

credit facilities or raise capital in private transactions in order to meet our capital requirements. We cannot

assure you that we will be able to raise additional capital in the future on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

Our bank credit agreement contains a tangible net worth covenant which is required to be met on a

monthly basis. In March, 2006 the bank amended our line of credit agreement, reducing the tangible net

worth requirement through March 31, 2007, as discussed in the notes to our audited Ñnancial statements.

The line of credit agreement also contains a subjective acceleration clause which allows the bank to declare

the amounts outstanding under the line of credit due and payable if certain material adverse changes occur, as

described in the notes to the audited Ñnancial statements. Also, the loan document governing the

subordinated debt issued in March 2006 contains a cross-default provision that would allow the debt holder to

accelerate payment of the subordinated debt if other debt exceeding $2.5 million is declared due and payable.

We believe that we will continue to comply with our restrictive covenants under our debt agreements. If our

performance does not result in compliance with any of the restrictive covenants, or if our line of credit

agreement lender seeks to exercise its rights under the subjective acceleration clause referred to above, we

would seek to further modify our Ñnancing arrangements, but there can be no assurance that our debt holders

would not exercise their rights and remedies under their agreements with us, including declaring all

outstanding debt due and payable.

Variations in quarterly operating results due to factors such as changes in demand for our products and

changes in our mix of revenues and costs may cause our Class A common stock price to decline.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results are diÇcult to predict and are likely to Öuctuate from quarter-

to-quarter. For example, 2003 revenues of our Government Segment (formerly our Network Solutions

Segment) were higher in the second half of the year than in the Ñrst half, whereas its 2004 revenues were

higher in the Ñrst half of the year than in the second. In 2005, Revenues from our Government Segment were

signiÑcantly higher in the second half of the year than in the Ñrst half. In addition, we generally derive a

signiÑcant portion of wireless carrier license revenue in our Commercial Applications segment from initial

license fees. The initial license fees that we receive in a particular quarter may vary signiÑcantly. As these

projects begin and end, quarterly results may vary. We therefore believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of

our operating results may not be a good indication of our future performance, and you should not rely on them
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to predict our future performance or the future performance of our Class A common stock. Our quarterly

revenues, expenses and operating results could vary signiÑcantly from quarter- to-quarter. If our operating

results in future quarters fall below the expectations of market analysts and investors, the market price of our

stock may fall.

Additional factors that have either caused our results to Öuctuate in the past or that are likely to do so in

the future include:

‚ changes in our relationships with wireless carriers, the U.S. government or other customers;

‚  timing of introduction of new products and services;

‚ changes in pricing policies and product oÅerings by us or our competitors;

‚ changes in projected proÑtability of acquired assets that would require the write down of the value of

the goodwill reÖected on our balance sheet.

‚ costs associated with advertising, marketing and promotional eÅorts to acquire new customers;

‚ capital expenditures and other costs and expenses related to improving our business, expanding

operations and adapting to new technologies and changes in consumer preferences; and

‚ our lengthy and unpredictable sales cycle.

Growing market acceptance of ""open source'' software could cause a decline in our revenues and operating

margins.

Growing market acceptance of open source software has presented both beneÑts and challenges to the

commercial software industry in recent years. ""Open source'' software is made widely available by its authors

and is licensed ""as is'' for a nominal fee or, in some cases, at no charge. For example, Linux is a free Unix-

type operating system, and the source code for Linux is freely available.

We have incorporated some types of open source software into our products, allowing us to enhance

certain solutions without incurring substantial additional research and development costs. Thus far, we have

encountered no unanticipated material problems arising from our use of open source software. However, as

the use of open source software becomes more widespread, certain open source technology could become

competitive with our proprietary technology, which could cause sales of our products to decline or force us to

reduce the fees we charge for our products, which could have a material adverse impact on our revenues and

operating margins.

Because our product oÅerings are sold internationally, we are subject to risks of conducting business in

foreign countries.

Wireless carriers in Europe, Asia, Australia, Africa and Central and South America have purchased our

products. In addition, a signiÑcant portion of the revenue historically generated by our Enterprise division has

typically been generated outside the United States. (For information regarding our intention to sell this

division, see ""Business Ó Recent Developments.) We believe our revenue will be increasingly dependent on

business in foreign countries, and we will be subject to the social, political and economic risks of conducting

business in foreign countries, including:

‚ inability to adapt our products and services to local business practices, customs and mobile user

preferences;

‚ costs of adapting our product and service oÅerings for foreign markets;

‚ inability to locate qualiÑed local employees, partners and suppliers;

‚ reduced protection of intellectual property rights;
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‚ the potential burdens of complying with a variety of U.S. and foreign laws, trade standards and

regulatory requirements, including the regulation of wireless communications and the Internet and

uncertainty regarding liability for information retrieved and replicated in foreign countries;

‚ general geopolitical risks, such as political and economic instability and changes in diplomatic and trade

relations; and

‚ unpredictable Öuctuations in currency exchange rates.

Any of the foregoing risks could have a material adverse eÅect on our business by diverting time and

money toward addressing them or by reducing or eliminating sales in such foreign countries.

We derive a signiÑcant portion of our revenue from sales to various agencies of the U.S. government which

has special rights unlike other customers and exposes us to additional risks that could have a material

adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition and operating results.

Sales to various agencies of the U.S. government accounted for approximately 17% of our total revenue

for the Ñscal year ended December 31, 2005, all of which was attributable to our Government Segment. Our

ability to earn revenue from sales to the U.S. government can be aÅected by numerous factors outside of our

control including:

‚ The U.S. government may terminate the contracts it has with us. All of the contracts we have with the

U.S. government are, by their terms, subject to termination by the U.S. government either for its

convenience or in the event of a default by us. In the event of termination of a contract by the U.S.

government, we may have little or no recourse.

‚ Our contracts with the U.S. government may be terminated due to Congress failing to appropriate funds.

Our U.S. government contracts are conditioned upon the continuing availability of Congressional

appropriations. Congress usually appropriates funds for a given program on a Ñscal-year basis even

though contract performance may take more than one year. Any failure by Congress to appropriate

funds to any program that we participate in could materially delay or terminate the program and have a

material adverse eÅect on our business.

‚ We are subject to procurement and other related laws and regulations which carry signiÑcant penalties

for non-compliance. We are subject to extensive and complex U.S. government procurement laws and

regulations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations and with laws governing the export of

controlled products and commodities, and any signiÑcant violations of any other federal law, could

subject us to potential contract termination, civil and criminal penalties, and under certain circum-

stances, suspension and debarment from future U.S. government contracts.

Additionally, the U.S. government may audit and review our costs and performance on their contracts, as

well as our accounting and general practices. The costs and prices under these contracts may be subject to

adjustment based upon the results of any audits. Future audits may harm our business.

Because several of our competitors have signiÑcantly greater resources than we do, we could lose

customers and market share.

Our business is highly competitive. Several of our competitors are substantially larger than we are and

have greater Ñnancial, technical and marketing resources than we do. In particular, larger competitors have

certain advantages over us which could cause us to lose customers and impede our ability to attract new

customers, including: larger bases of Ñnancial, technical, marketing, personnel and other resources; more

established relationships with wireless carriers; more funds to deploy products and services; and the ability to

lower prices of competitive products and services because they are selling larger volumes.

The widespread adoption of open industry standards such as the Secure User Plane for Location

(SUPL) speciÑcations may make it easier for new market entrants and existing competitors to introduce

products that compete with our software products. Because our commercial applications segment is part of an

emerging market, we cannot identify or predict which new competitors may enter the mobile location services
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industry in the future. With time and capital, it would be possible for competitors to replicate any of our

products and service oÅerings or develop alternative products. Additionally, the wireless communications

industry continues to experience signiÑcant consolidation which may make it more diÇcult for smaller

companies, like us, us to compete. Our competitors include application developers, telecommunications

equipment vendors, location determination technology vendors and information technology consultants, and

may include traditional Internet portals and Internet infrastructure software companies. We expect that we will

compete primarily on the basis of price, time to market, functionality, quality and breadth of product and

service oÅerings.

The Enterprise division that we acquired from Aether in January 2004 has developed software using

standard industry development tools. Many of its agreements with wireless carriers, wireless handheld device

manufacturers, distributors, and data providers are non-exclusive. Competitors could develop or license the

same products and services in competition with us. With time and capital, it would be possible for competitors

to replicate our services.

These competitors could include wireless network carriers, mobile and/or wireless software companies,

wireless data services providers and wireless systems integrators and database vendors. As discussed above,

many of our potential competitors have signiÑcantly greater resources than we do. Furthermore, competitors

may develop a diÅerent approach to marketing the services we provide in which subscribers may not be

required to pay for the information provided by our services. Competition could reduce our market share or

force us to lower prices to unproÑtable levels.

In addition, we are currently oÅering the Enterprise division for sale. If competitors develop and use similar

products and services, this could reduce the attractiveness and value of the Enterprise assets for sale.

While we characterize a signiÑcant portion of our revenue as being ""recurring'' there is no guarantee that

we will actually achieve this revenue.

A signiÑcant portion of our revenue is generated from long-term customer contracts that pay certain fees

on a month-to-month basis. While we currently believe that these revenue streams will continue, renegotiation

of the contract terms or non-renewal of material contracts could cause our recurring revenues to be lower

than expected and any growth depends on maintaining relationships with these important customers and on

developing other customers and distribution channels.

The loss of key personnel or any inability to attract and retain additional personnel could harm our business.

Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to hire and retain a suÇcient number of qualiÑed

personnel, particularly in sales and marketing and research and development. If we are unable to do so, our

business could be harmed. Our future success also depends upon the continued service of our executive

oÇcers and other key sales, engineering and technical staÅ. The loss of the services of our executive oÇcers

and other key personnel could harm our operations. We maintain key person life insurance on certain of our

executive oÇcers. We would be harmed if one or more of our oÇcers or key employees decided to join a

competitor or if we failed to attract qualiÑed personnel. Our ability to attract qualiÑed personnel may be

adversely aÅected by a decline in the price of our Class A common stock. In the event of a decline in the price

of our Class A common stock, the retention value of stock options will decline and our employees may choose

not to remain with us, which could harm our business.

Risks Related to Acquisitions

Our past and future acquisitions of companies or technologies could prove diÇcult to integrate, disrupt our

business, dilute stockholder value or adversely aÅect operating results or the market price of our Class A

common stock.

We have in the past acquired a number of businesses and technologies, and we may in the future acquire

or make investments in other companies, services and technologies. Any acquisitions, strategic alliances or

investments we may pursue in the future will have a continuing, signiÑcant impact on our business, Ñnancial
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condition and operating results. The value of the companies or assets that we acquire or invest in may be less

than the amount we paid if there is a decline of their position in the respective markets they serve or a decline

in general of the markets they serve. If we fail to properly evaluate and execute acquisitions and investments,

our business and prospects may be seriously harmed. To successfully complete an acquisition, we must:

‚ properly evaluate the technology;

‚ accurately forecast the Ñnancial impact of the transaction, including accounting charges and transaction

expenses;

‚ integrate and retain personnel;

‚ combine potentially diÅerent corporate cultures; and

‚ eÅectively integrate products and services, and research and development, sales and marketing and

support operations.

If we fail to do any of these, we may suÅer losses, our management may be distracted from day-to-day

operations and the market price of our Class A common stock may be materially adversely aÅected. In

addition, if we consummate future acquisitions using our equity securities or convertible debt, existing

stockholders may be diluted which could have a material adverse eÅect on the market price of our Class A

common stock.

In addition, the companies and business units we have acquired or invested in or may acquire or invest in

are subject to each of the business risks we describe in this section, and if they incur any of these risks the

businesses may not be as valuable as the amount we paid. Further, we cannot guarantee that we will realize

the beneÑts or strategic objectives we are seeking to obtain by acquiring or investing in these companies.

One of the suppliers of wireless services to our Enterprise division has been sued for patent infringement,

which raises uncertainty regarding its ability to continue to supply us with these services.

Research In Motion Limited (""RIM''), which supplies our Enterprise division with hardware and wireless

services that are in turn packaged with other services and resold, is engaged in legal proceedings with NTP

Inc., which alleges that certain RIM products infringed on patents held by NTP Inc. We understand from press

announcements that RIM and NTP have reached a settlement of this dispute, but to the extent such

settlement does not mature, this creates uncertainty regarding RIM's ability to continue to supply the

Enterprise division with services. RIM's inability to supply services to our Enterprise division could increase our

loss from discontinued operations and our net losses. RIM is the only producer of the aforementioned

hardware and wireless services, and, in the unlikely event that RIM is prohibited from supplying our Enterprise

division in the United States or elsewhere as a result of the litigation or otherwise, we would be unable to

operate the business of our Enterprise division as it is currently conducted. This would also aÅect our ability to

sell the Enterprise division, as well as the division's resale value.

An interruption in the supply of products and services that we obtain from third parties could cause a

decline in sales of the services from the Enterprise division, and products we purchase to avoid shortages

may become obsolete before we can use them.

In designing, developing and supporting the wireless data services of our Enterprise division, we have

relied on wireless carriers, wireless handheld device manufacturers, content providers, software providers and

companies that manage some of our other services such as our internal IT operations and customer care

services. These suppliers may experience diÇculty in supplying us products or services suÇcient to meet our

needs or they may terminate or fail to renew contracts for supplying us these products or services on terms

we Ñnd acceptable. Any signiÑcant interruption in the supply of any of these products or services could cause

a decline in sales of our services unless and until we are able to replace the functionality provided by these

products and services. We also depend on third parties to deliver and support reliable products, enhance our

current products, develop new products on a timely and cost-eÅective basis and respond to emerging industry

standards and other technological changes. In addition, we rely on the ability of our content providers Ì
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including Reuters, the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the Chicago Board of Trade, the Nasdaq Stock Market,

Inc. and the Options Price Reporting Authority Ì to continue to provide us with uninterrupted access to the

news and Ñnancial information we provide to our customers. The failure of third parties to meet these criteria,

or their refusal or failure to deliver the information for whatever reason could materially harm our business. This

would also aÅect our ability to sell the Enterprise division, as well as the division's resale value.

Industry Risks

Because the wireless data industry is a new and rapidly evolving market, our product and service oÅerings

could become obsolete unless we respond eÅectively and on a timely basis to rapid technological changes.

The successful execution of our business strategy is contingent upon wireless network operators launching

and maintaining mobile location services, our ability to create new network software and mobile asset products

and adapt our existing network software products to rapidly changing technologies, industry standards and

customer needs. As a result of the complexities inherent in our product oÅerings, new technologies may

require long development and testing periods. Additionally, new products may not achieve market acceptance

or our competitors could develop alternative technologies that gain broader market acceptance than our

products. If we are unable to develop and introduce technologically advanced products that respond to

evolving industry standards and customer needs, or if we are unable to complete the development and

introduction of these products on a timely and cost eÅective basis, our business will suÅer.

New laws and regulations that impact our industry could increase costs or reduce opportunities to earn

revenue. The wireless carriers that use our product and service oÅerings are subject to regulation by domestic,

and in some cases, foreign, governmental and other agencies. Regulations that aÅect them could increase our

costs or reduce our ability to sell our products and services. In addition, there are an increasing number of

laws and regulations pertaining to wireless telephones and the Internet under consideration in the United

States and elsewhere.

The applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing issues such as intellectual property ownership

and infringement, copyright, trademark, trade secret, taxation, obscenity, libel, employment and personal

privacy is uncertain and developing. Any new legislation or regulation, or the application or interpretation of

existing laws, may have a material adverse eÅect on our business, results of operations and Ñnancial condition.

Additionally, modiÑcations to our business plans or operations to comply with changing regulations or certain

actions taken by regulatory authorities might increase our costs of providing our product and service oÅerings

and materially adversely eÅect our Ñnancial condition.

Concerns about personal privacy and commercial solicitation may limit the growth of mobile location

services and reduce demand for our products and services.

In order for mobile location products and services to function properly, wireless carriers must locate their

subscribers and store information on each subscriber's location. Although data regarding the location of the

wireless user resides only on the wireless carrier's systems, users may not feel comfortable with the idea that

the wireless carrier knows and can track their location. Carriers will need to obtain subscribers' permission to

gather and use the subscribers' personal information, or they may not be able to provide customized mobile

location services which those subscribers might otherwise desire. If subscribers view mobile location services

as an annoyance or a threat to their privacy, that could reduce demand for our products and services and have

an adverse eÅect on prospective sales.

Because many providers are not in compliance with current regulatory mandates and because our industry

is undergoing rapid technological and regulatory change, our future performance is uncertain.

The Federal Communication Commission, or FCC, has mandated that certain location information be

provided to operators when they receive an E9-1-1 call. Phase I of the FCC's 9-1-1 mandate required

providers to be able to locate wireless E9-1-1 callers within their originating cell sector site and report their

callback number by April 1998. Phase II of the FCC mandate required providers to be able to pinpoint the

location of all E9-1-1 callers within 125 meters in 67% of all cases by October 1, 2001. Although both the
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Phase I and Phase II deadlines have passed, many providers are not currently in compliance with either phase

of the FCC's mandate. Even so, we believe that many public safety jurisdictions are continuing to deploy

Phase I technology and when available, we believe they will deploy Phase II technology.

Carriers' obligations to provide Phase I and Phase II services are subject to request by public safety

organizations. Due to complex regulatory, funding and political issues many public safety organizations have

not yet requested this service. As a result, wireless carriers and wireless users may never exhibit suÇcient

demand for our mobile location services. Technical failures, time delays or the signiÑcant costs associated with

developing or installing improved location technology could slow down or stop the deployment of our mobile

location products. If deployment of improved location technology is delayed, stopped or never occurs, market

acceptance of our products and services may be adversely aÅected.

In addition, we will rely on third-party providers to manufacture and deploy devices that determine the

precise geographic location of wireless users to comply with Phase II of the FCC mandate. The extent and

timing of the deployment of our products and services is dependent both on public safety requests for such

service and wireless carrier's ability to certify the accuracy of and deploy the precise location technology.

Because we will rely on third-party location technology instead of developing the technology ourselves, we

have little or no inÖuence over its improvement. If the technology never becomes precise enough to satisfy

wireless users' needs or the FCC's requirements, we may not be able to increase or sustain demand for our

products and services, if at all.

Our E9-1-1 business is dependent on state and local governments and the regulatory environment for Voice

over Internet Protocol (VoIP) services is developing.

Under the FCC's mandate, wireless carriers are required to provide E9-1-1 services only if state and local

governments request the service. As part of a state or local government's decision to request E9-1-1, they

have the authority to develop cost recovery mechanisms. However, cost recovery is no longer a condition to

wireless carriers' obligation to deploy the service. If state and local governments do not widely request that

E9-1-1 services be provided or we become subject to signiÑcant pressures from wireless carriers with respect

to pricing of E9-1-1 services, our E9-1-1 business would be signiÑcantly harmed and future growth of our

business would be signiÑcantly reduced.

Additionally, the FCC has determined that VoIP services are not subject to the same regulatory scheme as

traditional wireline and wireless telephone services. If the regulatory environment for VoIP services evolves in a

manner other than the way we anticipate, our E9-1-1 business would be signiÑcantly harmed and future

growth of our business would be signiÑcantly reduced.

Because the industries which we serve are currently in a cycle of consolidation, the number of customers

may be reduced which could result in a loss of revenue for our business.

The telecommunications industry generally is currently undergoing a consolidation phase. Many of our

customers, speciÑcally wireless carrier customers of our Commercial Applications segment, have or may

become the target of acquisitions. If the number of our customers is signiÑcantly reduced as a result of this

consolidation trend, or if the resulting companies do not utilize our product oÅerings, our Ñnancial condition

and results of operations could be materially adversely aÅected.

Technology Risks

Because our software may contain defects or errors, our sales could decrease if these defects or errors

adversely aÅect our reputation or delays shipments of our software.

The software products that we develop are complex and must meet the stringent technical requirements

of our customers. We must quickly develop new products and product enhancements to keep pace with the

rapidly changing software and telecommunications markets in which we operate. Software as complex as ours

is likely to contain undetected errors or defects, especially when Ñrst introduced or when new versions are

released. Our software may not be error or defect free after delivery to customers, which could damage our
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reputation, cause revenue losses, result in the rejection of our software or services, divert development

resources and increase service and warranty costs, each of which could have a serious harmful eÅect on us.

If we are unable to integrate our products with wireless service providers' systems we may lose sales to

competitors.

Our products operate with wireless carriers' systems, various wireless devices and, in the case of our E9-

1-1 oÅering, with mobile telephone switches and VOIP service provider systems. If we are unable to continue

to design our software to operate with these systems and devices, we may lose sales to competitors. Mobile

telephone switches and wireless devices can be manufactured according to many diÅerent standards and may

have diÅerent variations within each standard. Combining our products with each type of switch, device or

VOIP system requires a specialized interface and extensive testing. If, as a result of technology enhancements

or upgrades to carrier and VOIP provider systems, our products can no longer operate with such systems, we

may no longer be able to sell our products. Further, even if we successfully redesign our products to operate

with these systems, we may not gain market acceptance before our competitors.

Because our systems may be vulnerable to systems failures and security risks, we may incur signiÑcant

costs to protect against the threat of these problems.

We provide for the delivery of information and content to and from wireless devices in a prompt and timely

manner. Any systems failure that causes a disruption in our ability to facilitate the transmission of information

to these wireless devices could result in delays in end users receiving this information and cause us to lose

customers. Our systems could experience such failures as a result of unauthorized access by hackers,

computer viruses, hardware or software failures, power or telecommunications failures and other accidental or

intentional actions which could disrupt our systems. We may incur signiÑcant costs to prevent such systems

disruptions.

In addition, increasingly our products will be used to create or transmit secure information and data to and

from wireless devices. For example, our software can be used to create private address lists and to provide

the precise location of an individual. To protect private information like this from security breaches, we may

incur signiÑcant costs. Further, if a third party were able to misappropriate our proprietary information or

disrupt our operations, we could be subject to claims, litigation or other potential liabilities that could materially

adversely impact our business.

The wireless data services provided by our Commercial Applications segment are dependent on real-time,

continuous feeds from Reuters and others. The ability of our subscribers to make securities trades, receive

sales leads and receive critical business information requires timely and uninterrupted connections with our

wireless network carriers. Any disruption from our satellite feeds or backup landline feeds could result in delays

in our subscribers' ability to receive information or execute trades. We cannot be sure that our systems will

operate appropriately if we experience a hardware or software failure, intentional disruptions of service by third

parties, an act of God or an act of war. A failure in our systems could cause delays in transmitting data, and

as a result we may lose customers or face litigation that could involve material costs and distract management

from operating our business.

If mobile equipment manufacturers do not overcome capacity, technology and equipment limitations, we

may not be able to sell our products and services.

The wireless technology currently in use by most wireless carriers has limited bandwidth, which restricts

network capacity to deliver bandwidth-intensive applications like data services to a large number of users.

Because of capacity limitations, wireless users may not be able to connect to their network when they wish to,

and the connection is likely to be slow, especially when receiving data transmissions. Data services also may

be more expensive than users are willing to pay. To overcome these obstacles, wireless equipment

manufacturers will need to develop new technology, standards, equipment and devices that are capable of

providing higher bandwidth services at lower cost. We cannot be sure that manufacturers will be able to

develop technology and equipment that reliably delivers large quantities of data at a reasonable price. If more
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capacity is not added, a suÇcient market for our products and services is not likely to develop or be sustained

and sales of our products and services would decline and our business would suÅer.

Because the market for most mobile content delivery and mobile location products is new, our future

success is uncertain.

The market for mobile content delivery and mobile location products and services is new and its potential

is uncertain. In order to be successful, we need wireless network operators to launch and maintain mobile

location services utilizing our products, and need corporate enterprises and individuals to purchase and use our

mobile content delivery and mobile location products and services. We cannot be sure that wireless carriers or

enterprises will accept our products or that a suÇcient number of wireless users will ultimately utilize our

products.

If wireless handsets pose health and safety risks, we may be subject to new regulations and demand for

our products and services may decrease.

Media reports have suggested that certain radio frequency emissions from wireless handsets may be

linked to various health concerns, including cancer, and may interfere with various electronic medical devices,

including hearing aids and pacemakers. Concerns over radio frequency emissions may have the eÅect of

discouraging the use of wireless handsets, which would decrease demand for our services. In recent years,

the FCC and foreign regulatory agencies have updated the guidelines and methods they use for evaluating

radio frequency emissions from radio equipment, including wireless handsets. In addition, interest groups have

requested that the FCC investigate claims that wireless technologies pose health concerns and cause

interference with airbags, hearing aids and other medical devices. There also are some safety risks associated

with the use of wireless handsets while driving. Concerns over these safety risks and the eÅect of any

legislation that may be adopted in response to these risks could limit our ability to market and sell our products

and services.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights or are sued by third parties for infringing upon

intellectual property rights, we may incur substantial costs.

Our success and competitive position depends in large part upon our ability to develop and maintain the

proprietary aspects of our technology. We also rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, service mark,

trade secret laws, conÑdentiality provisions and various other contractual provisions to protect our proprietary

rights, but these legal means provide only limited protection. If we fail to protect our intellectual property, we

may be exposed to expensive litigation or risk jeopardizing our competitive position. Similarly, third parties

could claim that our future products or services infringe upon our intellectual property rights. Claims like these

could require us to enter into costly royalty arrangements or cause us to lose the right to use critical

technology.

Our ability to protect our intellectual property rights is also subject to the terms of any future government

contracts. We cannot assure you that the federal government will not demand greater intellectual property

rights or restrict our ability to disseminate intellectual property. We are also a member of the Wireless

Application Protocol Forum, Ltd. and have agreed to license some of our intellectual property to other

members on fair and reasonable terms to the extent that the license is required to develop non-infringing

products.

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure and Common Stock

A majority of our Class A common stock is beneÑcially owned by a small number of holders, and those

holders could thereby transfer control of us to a third party without anyone else's approval or prevent a third

party from acquiring us.

We have two classes of common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Holders of

Class A common stock generally have the same rights as holders of Class B common stock, except that

holders of Class A common stock have one vote per share while holders of Class B common stock have three
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votes per share. As of February 28, 2006, Maurice B. Tos πe, our President, Chief Executive OÇcer and

Chairman of the Board, beneÑcially owned 8,010,116 shares of our Class B common stock and 1,104,461

shares of our Class A common stock. Therefore, in the aggregate, Mr. Tos πe beneÑcially owned shares

representing approximately 48.24% of our total voting power, assuming no conversion or exercise of issued

and outstanding convertible or exchangeable securities held by our other shareholders. Accordingly, on this

basis, Mr. Tos πe controls us through his ability to determine the outcome of elections of directors, amend our

charter and by-laws and take other actions requiring stockholder action, including mergers, going private

transactions and other extraordinary transactions. Mr. Tos πe could, without seeking anyone else's approval,

transfer voting control of us to a third party. Such a transfer could have a material adverse eÅect on our stock

price, and our business, operating results and Ñnancial condition. Mr. Tos πe is also able to prevent a change of

control regardless of whether holders of Class A common stock might beneÑt Ñnancially from such a

transaction.

Our governing corporate documents contain certain anti-takeover provisions that could prevent a change of

control that may be favorable to shareholders.

We are a Maryland corporation. Anti-takeover provisions of Maryland law and provisions contained in our

charter and by-laws could make it more diÇcult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if a change in

control would be beneÑcial to shareholders. These provisions include the following:

‚ authorization of the board of directors to issue ""blank check'' preferred stock;

‚ prohibition of cumulative voting in the election of directors;

‚ our classiÑed board of directors;

‚ limitation of the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders; and

‚ prohibition on stockholders acting without a meeting other than through unanimous written consent;

‚ supermajority voting requirement on various charter and by-law provisions;

‚ establishment of advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or

for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

These provisions could delay, deter or prevent a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us,

depriving you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your Class A common stock. These provisions could

therefore materially adversely aÅect the market price of our Class A common stock.

Because this report contains forward-looking statements, it may not prove to be accurate.

This report, including the documents we incorporate by reference, contains forward-looking statements

and information relating to our company. These statements are based upon TCS' current expectations and

assumptions that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that would cause actual results to diÅer

materially from those anticipated. We generally identify forward-looking statements using words like ""believe,''

""intend,'' ""expect,'' ""may,'' ""should,'' ""plan,'' ""project,'' ""contemplate,'' ""anticipate,'' or other similar

statements. We base these statements on our beliefs as well as assumptions we made using information

currently available to us. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements or risk factors to

reÖect future events or circumstances.

Statements in this report that are forward-looking include, but are not limited to, the following: (a) the

statement about our expectations concerning the continued growth in the use of wireless communications, the

statement concerning our belief in our ability to leverage our expertise to provide wireless infrastructure to Ñrst

responders in the U.S.; (b) the statement concerning our intent to expand our domestic and international

carrier base by capitalizing on our relationships with original equipment manufacturers; (c) the statement

concerning our intent to expand our integrated package of products and services for wireless carriers and

enterprises; (d) the statements regarding our belief as to the suÇciency of our capital resources to meet our

anticipated working capital and capital expenditures for the next twelve months; (e) the statement that we
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expect to compete primarily on the basis of the functionality, breadth, time to market, ease of integration,

price and quality of our products and services; and (f) the statement concerning our expectations with regard

to research and development expenses.

Item 1B. Unresolved StaÅ Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive oÇce is located in Annapolis, Maryland in a 27,000 square foot facility under a

lease expiring in March 2008. We have a second 26,000 square foot facility in Annapolis, Maryland under a

lease expiring in April 2011. The Annapolis facilities are utilized for the executive and administrative oÇces, as

well as portions of our Commercial Applications and Government segments. Other leased facilities include a

33,000 square foot facility in Owings Mills, Maryland under a lease expiring March 2008, a 46,000 square

foot facility in Seattle, Washington under a lease expiring in September 2010, an 11,000 square foot facility in

Oakland, California under a lease expiring May 2007, and a 10,000 square foot facility in Tampa, Florida

under a lease expiring in December 2009. We also lease a hosting facility in Phoenix, Arizona in a

1,500 square foot oÇce under a lease that expires in February 2008, which is utilized by our Commercial

Applications segment. Our international locations lease a total of approximately 7,000 square feet of oÇce

space in London, Madrid, Amsterdam, and Stockholm. The leases for these facilities have varying expirations,

but the agreements are generally short-term and renewable at our option.

 In addition to the leased oÇce space, we own a 7-acre teleport facility in Manassas, Virginia, and lease space

in Baltimore, Maryland utilized for teleport services primarily to our Government segment customers.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In November 2001, a shareholder class action lawsuit was Ñled against us, certain of our current oÇcers

and a director, and several investment banks that were the underwriters of our initial public oÅering (the

""Underwriters''): Highstein v. Telecommunication Systems, Inc., et al., United States District Court for the

Southern District of New York, Civil Action No. 01-CV-9500. The plaintiÅs seek an unspeciÑed amount of

damages. The lawsuit purports to be a class action suit Ñled on behalf of purchasers of our Class A Common

Stock during the period August 8, 2000 through December 6, 2000. The plaintiÅs allege that the

Underwriters agreed to allocate our Class A Common Stock oÅered for sale in our initial public oÅering to

certain purchasers in exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements by those

purchasers to make additional purchases of our Class A Common Stock in the aftermarket at pre-determined

prices. The plaintiÅs allege that all of the defendants violated Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of

1933, as amended, and that the underwriters violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The claims against us of violation of Rule 10b-5

have been dismissed with the plaintiÅs having the right to re-plead. On February 15, 2005, the Honorable

Judge Shira A. Scheindlin, U.S.D.J. entered an order preliminarily approving a settlement proposal which we

believe will result in a resolution that will not materially impact our consolidated results of operations, Ñnancial

position, or cash Öows. We intend to continue to defend the lawsuit until the settlement has received Ñnal

approval or the matter is resolved otherwise. More than 300 other companies have been named in nearly

identical lawsuits that have been Ñled by some of the same law Ñrms that represent the plaintiÅs in the lawsuit

against us, and we believe that the majority of those companies will participate in the same settlement if

approved.

Research in Motion Limited (""RIM''), which supplies our Enterprise operations with hardware and

wireless services that it in turn packages with other services and resells, recently settled legal proceedings with

NTP Inc., which alleged that certain RIM products infringed on patents held by NTP Inc. There can be no

assurances that there will not be further litigation concerning these patents. This creates uncertainty regarding

RIM's ability to continue to supply our Enterprise customers with services. RIM's inability to supply services to

our Enterprise customers could cause a loss of revenue and increase our net losses.
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Other than the items discussed immediately above, we are not currently subject to any other material legal

proceedings. However, we may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings arising in the

ordinary course of our business.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Our Class A Common Stock has been traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol ""TSYS''

since our initial public oÅering on August 8, 2000. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the

high and low closing prices for our Class A Common Stock as reported by the NASDAQ Stock Market's

National Market:

High Low

2006

First Quarter 2006 (through February 13, 2006)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.28 $2.01

2005

First Quarter 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3.22 $2.12

Second Quarter 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.65 $2.17

Third Quarter 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3.01 $2.27

Fourth Quarter 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.84 $2.12

2004

First Quarter 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.39 $4.80

Second Quarter 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.30 $4.20

Third Quarter 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $6.11 $3.18

Fourth Quarter 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3.85 $2.75

As of February 6, 2006, there were approximately 350 holders of record of our Class A Common Stock,

and there were 8 holders of record of our Class B Common Stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any

future earnings to fund the development, growth and operation of our business. Additionally, under the terms

of our loan arrangements, our lenders' prior written consent is required to pay cash dividends on our common

stock. We do not currently anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable

future.

Change in Securities and Use of Proceeds

On January 13, 2004, we purchased the Enterprise Division of Aether Systems, Inc. (the ""Enterprise

Acquisition''). Consideration for the acquisition was valued at approximately $22 million, consisting of

$18 million in cash, a $1 million note payable, approximately $2 million of costs directly related to the

acquisition, and 204,020 newly issued shares of Class A Common Stock. Concurrent with the Enterprise

Acquisition, we closed on $21 million of Ñnancing with two accredited institutional investors, which included a

subordinated convertible debenture with stated principal of $15 million, bearing interest at a stated rate of

3% per annum and due in lump sum on January 13, 2009 (the ""Debenture''), 1,364,288 newly issued

shares of Class A Common Stock and warrants to purchase 341,072 shares of Class A Common Stock at a
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strike price of $6.50 expiring in January 2007. The Debenture provided for an original conversion price of

$5.38 per share, subject to adjustment.

On August 30, 2004 we entered a Securities Purchase Agreement (the ""August 2004 Securities

Purchase Agreement'') with the same third-party investors who purchased our securities used to Ñnance the

Enterprise Acquisition. Pursuant to the August 2004 Securities Purchase Agreement, we raised $10 million in

cash through the sale of 2,500,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock. We used the majority of the

proceeds from this oÅering to fund the acquisition of Kivera, Inc. on September 20, 2004 as described in

Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements and for a $1 million cash fee paid in connection with a

Waiver Agreement signed on the same day.

The Waiver Agreement (the ""Waiver'') with the holder of the Debenture modiÑed certain provisions of

the Debenture as follows: (1) the holder of the Debenture was required to convert the entire $15 million

principal amount into shares of our Class A Common Stock by the end of 2004, (2) all of the material

restrictive covenants contained in the Debenture were nulliÑed and (3) the conversion price set forth in the

Debenture was decreased from $5.3753 to $5.01581 as an inducement to enter into the Waiver (an

adjustment such that conversion of the Debenture yielded an additional 200,000 shares of Class A Common

Stock.) As additional consideration for the holder of the Debenture agreeing to the Waiver, we paid the holder

of the Debenture a $1 million one-time fee in cash. The $1 million fee, the fair value of the additional shares

of Class A Common Stock issued as an inducement, the remaining debt discount, and the unamortized

deferred Ñnancing fees were recognized ratably to debt conversion expense as the Debenture was converted

through the end of 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the $15 million principal amount of the Debenture had

been converted into 2,990,015 shares of our Class A Common Stock.

On March 10, 2006, pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we issued and sold

to two institutional lenders (i) $10 million in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March 10,

2009, which bear cash interest at the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional

notes, at the rate of 16% per annum, at our option, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of

1.75 million shares of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share. We received net

cash proceeds of approximately $9.3 million from this transaction, which are intended to be used for general

corporate purposes.

The warrants issued in the January 2004 Ñnancing described above contain provisions requiring an

adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a consequence of the

issuance of the new warrants in March 2006. Consequently, the warrants from 2004 have been adjusted to a

purchase price of $2.50 per share and the total number of January 2004 warrants now outstanding has been

adjusted to 886,787.

The consummation of the note purchase agreement and the issuance of notes and warrants thereunder

were conducted as a private placement made to accredited investors in a transaction exempt from the

registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933.

With the exception of the notes and warrants issued in March 2006, all of the other securities issued by

us in connection with these transactions have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The table that follows presents portions of our consolidated Ñnancial statements. You should read the
following selected Ñnancial data together with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes and
with ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations'' and the more
complete Ñnancial information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We have derived the statement of
operations data for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004 from our consolidated Ñnancial statements which have been audited by
Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting Ñrm, and which are included beginning on page
F-1. We have derived the statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001
and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, from our audited Ñnancial statements
which are not included in this Form 10-K. As described in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, in
connection with the reclassiÑcation of the Enterprise division as discontinued operations, we have reclassiÑed
prior periods for comparability purposes. Additionally, in connection with the realignment of our segments in
2004, we reclassiÑed prior period revenues, direct cost of revenues, and gross proÑt for comparability with the
three revenue categories we currently use to manage our business. The historical results presented below are
not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future Ñscal year. See ""Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.''

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(in millions, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 52.9 $ 44.2 $ 37.7 $ 26.9 $ 18.7
Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22.1 16.0 13.9 8.8 11.8
Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27.2 36.7 40.5 56.3 39.1

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 102.2 96.9 92.1 92.0 69.6

Operating costs and expenses:
Direct cost of hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25.2 21.2 18.1 15.7 9.5
Direct cost of services revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.0 9.7 9.8 5.7 8.9
Direct cost of systems revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.7 21.2 32.3 40.3 26.7

Total direct cost of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56.9 52.1 60.2 61.7 45.1

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27.6 23.0 19.5 11.2 9.2
Services gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.1 6.3 4.1 3.1 2.9
Systems gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.5 15.5 8.2 16.0 12.4

Total gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.2 44.8 31.8 30.3 24.5

Research and development expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.9 18.0 16.9 17.0 18.1
Sales and marketing expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.5 8.9 8.9 10.0 13.8
General and administrative expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.4 14.1 11.3 12.2 14.3
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.6 7.4 6.6 6.2 4.6
Non-cash stock compensation expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.7 1.2 1.5 1.6 2.6
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 Ì 0.5 0.6 9.2
Acquired in-process research and developmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 9.7
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 43.0

Total operating costs and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48.2 49.6 45.7 47.6 115.3

Loss from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.0) (4.8) (13.9) (17.3) (90.8)
Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.2) (3.2) (1.1) (0.9) (0.7)
Debt conversion expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (7.9) Ì Ì Ì
Other (expense)/income, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) Ì 1.5 0.4 2.0

Loss from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.3) (15.9) (13.5) (17.8) (89.5)
Loss from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7.2) (2.6) Ì Ì Ì

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (11.5) $ (18.5) $ (13.5) $ (17.8) $ (89.5)

Loss from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.11) $ (0.48) $ (0.45) $ (0.61) $ (3.16)
Loss from discontinued operations per share, basic and diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.19) $ (0.08) $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì

Net loss per share, basic and diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.30) $ (0.56) $ (0.45) $ (0.61) $ (3.16)

Basic and diluted shares used in computation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,823 33,381 29,796 29,149 28,297

26



As of December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9.3 $ 18.3 $ 18.9 $ 27.4 $ 42.9
Working capitalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27.5 20.2 28.5 31.7 46.1
Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 90.6 102.4 65.3 81.4 89.6
Capital leases and long-term debt (including current portion) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16.5 18.4 14.6 10.3 4.8
Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41.5 42.9 28.4 33.8 26.7
Total stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49.1 59.5 36.9 47.6 62.9

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations addresses our

consolidated Ñnancial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles. The preparation of these Ñnancial statements requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that aÅect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the Ñnancial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an on-going

basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments. Our most signiÑcant estimates relate to accounting

for our percentage-of-completion and proportional performance contracts, accounts receivable reserves,

inventory reserves, evaluating goodwill for impairment, the realizability and remaining useful lives of long-lived

assets, and contingent liabilities. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and

on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form

the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources. Actual results may diÅer from these estimates under diÅerent assumptions or conditions.

We identiÑed our most critical accounting policies to be those related to revenue recognition for our

contracts with multiple elements, revenue recognition for our contracts accounted for using the percentage-of-

completion and proportional performance methods, capitalized software development costs, acquired

intangible assets, goodwill impairment, stock compensation expense, and income taxes. We describe these

accounting policies in relevant sections of this discussion and analysis. This discussion and analysis should be

read in conjunction with our consolidated Ñnancial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this

report.

Overview and Recent Developments

Our business is reported across two market segments: (i) our Commercial Applications segment, which

consists principally of enhanced communication services to and from wireless phones, location application

software, our E9-1-1 application and other hosted services, and (ii) our Government segment, which includes

the design, development and deployment of information processing and communication systems and related

services to government agencies. In addition, our business includes the Enterprise division, which we are

currently in the process of selling, as explained below.

Discontinued Operations: As of December 31, 2005, as a result of slower-than-anticipated market

adoption of key technologies related to the Enterprise assets and management's strategic decision to focus on

our core technologies, we committed to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets which we acquired from Aether

Systems, Inc. in 2004. The plan was approved by our Board of Directors in December 2005, and we

engaged an investment banker that is actively marketing the Enterprise assets. We expect to complete the sale

of these assets by the end of 2006. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations for the

Enterprise assets have been stated separately for all periods in our 2005 Ñnancial statements and in this

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The results of the

Enterprise division have been recorded in our Consolidated Statement of Operations as ""Loss from

discontinued operations'' and the Enterprise assets have been recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets

as ""Current assets of discontinued operations,'' ""Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations,'' and

""current liabilities of discontinued operations.'' Despite its characterization for accounting purposes as

""discontinued operations,'' the Enterprise division will continue to be a part of our business until it is sold.

27



The operations of the Enterprise division were previously included in our Commercial Applications

segment. The Enterprise assets provide wireless data solutions, uniting messaging, synchronization and web

technologies. These solutions include package and vehicle tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to

capture digital signatures for proof of delivery to a growing installed base of logistics customers. The Enterprise

division is a leading reseller of BlackBerry devices and provide real-time Ñnancial market data to wireless device

users under annual subscriber contracts in the U.S. and Europe.

On March 10, 2006, pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we issued and sold

to two institutional lenders (i) $10 million in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March 10,

2009, which bears cash interest at the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest at the rate of 16% per

annum, at our option, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our Class A

Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share. We received net cash proceeds of approximately

$9.3 million from this transaction, which are intended to be used for general corporate purposes.

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations provides

information that our management believes to be necessary to achieve a clear understanding of our Ñnancial

statements and results of operations.

Our management monitors and analyzes a number of key performance indicators in order to manage our

business and evaluate our Ñnancial and operating performance. Those indicators include:

‚ Revenue. We derive revenue from products and services including recurring monthly service and

subscriber fees, software licenses and related service fees for the design, development, and

deployment of software and communication systems, and products and services derived from the

delivery of information processing and communication systems to governmental agencies.

‚ Cost of revenue. The major items comprising our cost of revenue are compensation and beneÑts, third-

party hardware and software, amortization of software development costs, and overhead expenses. The

costs of hardware and third-party software are primarily associated with the delivery of systems, and

Öuctuate from period to period as a result of the relative volume, mix of projects, level of service

support required and the complexity of customized products and services delivered. Amortization of

software development costs, including acquired technology, is associated with the recognition of hosted

and subscriber revenue and systems from our Commercial Applications segment.

‚ Operating expenses. Our operating expenses are primarily compensation and beneÑts, professional fees,

facility costs, marketing and sales-related expenses, and travel costs as well as certain non-cash

expenses such as non-cash stock compensation expense, depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment, and amortization of acquired intangible assets.

‚ Liquidity and cash Öows. The primary driver of our cash Öows is the results of our operations including

discontinued operations. Important sources of our liquidity have been cash raised from our 2004

Ñnancings in connection with our 2004 acquisitions and our 2006 debt Ñnancing, all as described

below under ""Liquidity and Capital Resources'', and borrowings under our bank credit agreement and

lease Ñnancings secured for the purchase of equipment.

‚ Balance sheet. We view cash, working capital, and accounts receivable balances and days revenues

outstanding as important indicators of our Ñnancial health.
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Results of Operations

Revenue and Cost of Revenue

The following discussion addresses the revenue and cost of revenue for the two segments of our

business. For information regarding the results of the Enterprise assets, see Discontinued Opera-

tionsÌEnterprise assets below.

Commercial Applications Segment:

2005 vs. 2004 vs.
2004 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance

revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $52.5 $44.3 $ 8.2 19% $ 37.7 $ 6.6 18%

Services revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.7 0.4 1.4 NM Ì 0.4 NM

Systems revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.7 13.1 (1.4) (11%) 11.1 1.9 18%

Total Commercial Applications

revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65.9 57.7 8.2 14% 48.8 8.9 18%

Direct cost of hosted, subscriber,

and maintenance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25.1 21.3 3.8 18% 18.1 3.2 18%

Direct cost of services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 0.2 0.6 NM Ì 0.2 NM

Direct cost of systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.7 5.8 (0.1) (2%) 13.6 (7.8) (57%)

Total Commercial Applications

cost of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31.6 27.3 4.3 16% 31.7 (4.4) (14%)

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance

gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27.4 23.0 4.4 19% 19.6 3.4 17%

Services gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.9 0.2 0.8 NM Ì 0.2 NM

Systems gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.0 7.2 (1.3) (18%) (2.5) 9.7 NM

Total Commercial Applications

gross proÑt* ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $34.3 $30.4 $ 3.9 13% $ 17.0 $13.3 78%

Segment gross proÑt as a percent

of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52% 53% 35%

* See discussion of segment reporting in Note 21 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. (NM • Not meaningful)

Commercial Applications Hosted, Subscriber, and Maintenance Revenue and Cost of Revenue:

Our hosted oÅerings mainly include our E9-1-1, hosted Position Determining Entity (PDE), Voice over

Internet Protocol (VoIP) E9-1-1 service and hosted Location Based Service (HLBS) applications. Revenue

from these oÅerings primarily consists of monthly recurring service fees and is recognized in the month earned.

E9-1-1, PDE, VoIP and HLBS service fees are priced based on units served during the period, such as the

number of customer cell sites served, the number of connections to Public Service Answering Points

(PSAPs), or the number of customer subscribers served. In 2005 we expedited deployments of PSAP's

related to VoIP and E9-1-1 plus continued to increase the number of carriers and carrier billable units served.

In addition, we increased revenue from our VoIP E9-1-1 and HLBS recurring services primarily due to a new

service contracts signed in 2005. These increases were partly oÅset by decreases in the average fee received

per unit under pricing arrangements with some customers. In 2004, we continued to increase the number of

carriers and carrier billable units served while experiencing a slight decline in average fee per unit under certain

contracts, primarily due to volume thresholds as stipulated in customer contracts.
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Subscriber revenue is generated by the Kivera assets we acquired in September 2004, which provides

wireless subscribers client software applications such as Rand McNally© TraÇc. The year over year increase in

subscriber revenue was mainly the result of the inclusion of a full year's revenue in 2005 compared to a partial

year in 2004.

Maintenance fees on our systems and software licenses are collected in advance and recognized ratably

over the maintenance period. Unrecognized maintenance fees are included in deferred revenue. Custom

software development, implementation and maintenance services may be provided under time and materials or

Ñxed-fee contracts.

Overall, hosted, subscriber and maintenance revenue increased 19% in 2005.

The direct cost of our hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenue consists primarily of network access,

data feed and circuit costs, compensation and beneÑts, equipment and software maintenance. For the year

ended December 31, 2005, the direct cost of hosted, subscriber and maintenance revenue increased 18%

for the following reasons. In 2005, we increased headcount and incurred costs related to custom

development eÅorts responding to customer requests. Additionally, we increased costs for temporary contract

staÅ to meet customer deployment requirements for VoIP. While we increased the number of cell sites,

subscribers and PSAPs served, our circuit and data access costs were relatively consistent year to year. In

2004, our facilities costs increased, related to renovations and enhancements to our principal network

operations center. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the cost of circuit and other data access costs

accounted for approximately 13% of total direct costs of hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenues. The

cost of circuit and other data access costs accounted for approximately 16% of the total direct costs of our

commercial hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenues for each of the years ended December 31, 2004

and 2003. The direct costs of maintenance revenue consists primarily of compensation and beneÑts.

The gross proÑt in hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenue remained relatively constant as a

percentage of revenue from 53% in 2004 to 52% in 2005.

Commercial Applications Services Revenue and Cost of Revenue1

Services revenue does not represent a signiÑcant proportion of the revenue of our Commercial

Applications Segment. However, Commercial Applications services revenue increased to $1.7 million in 2005

from $0.4 million in 2004, because the unit generating it was owned for only a partial year in 2004.

Commercial Systems Revenue and Cost of Revenue

We sell communications systems for enhanced services to wireless carriers. These systems are designed

to incorporate our licensed software. We design our software to ensure that it is compliant with all applicable

standards, notably including the GSM/UMTS standards for location-based wireless services that were

established in 2005 and, as such, we believe our software is positioned for early adoption by carriers.

Licensing fees for our carrier software are generally a function of its usage in our customer's network. As

a carrier's subscriber base or usage increases, the carrier must purchase additional capacity under its license

agreement and we receive additional revenue. Systems revenues typically contain multiple elements, which

may include the product license, installation, integration, and hardware. The total arrangement fee is allocated

among each element based on vendor-speciÑc objective evidence of the relative fair value of each of the

elements. Fair value is generally determined based on the price charged when the element is sold separately.

In the absence of evidence of fair value of a delivered element, revenue is allocated Ñrst to the undelivered

elements based on fair value and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. The software licenses are

generally perpetual licenses for a speciÑed number of users that allow for the purchase of annual maintenance

at a speciÑed rate. We recognize license fee revenue when each of the following has occurred: (1) evidence

of an arrangement is in place; (2) we have delivered the software; (3) the fee is Ñxed or determinable; and

(4) collection of the fee is probable. Software projects that require signiÑcant customization are accounted for

under the percentage-of-completion method. We measure progress to completion using costs incurred

compared to estimated total costs or labor hours incurred compared to estimated total labor
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hours for contracts that have a signiÑcant component of third-party materials costs. We recognize estimated

losses under long-term contracts in their entirety upon discovery. If we did not accurately estimate total costs

to complete a contract or do not manage our contracts within the planned budget, then future margins may

be negatively aÅected or losses on existing contracts may need to be recognized. Software license fees billed

and not recognized as revenue are included in deferred revenue.

Systems revenue decreased 11% for the year ended December 31, 2005, largely as a result of a

decrease in licensing fees. The decrease in licensing fees was primarily due to a large purchase of increased

license capacity by a major carrier during the second quarter of 2004, followed by a large but smaller license

capacity purchase in the Ñrst quarter of 2005. In 2004, revenue from Commercial Applications systems sales

increased compared to 2003 primarily due to the large purchase of increased license capacity by a major

carrier during the second quarter of 2004.

The direct cost of our systems consists primarily of compensation, beneÑts, purchased equipment, third-

party software, travel expenses, and consulting fees as well as the amortization of both acquired and

capitalized software development costs for all reported periods. In 2005, direct costs of systems consisted

primarily of compensation, beneÑts, third-party hardware and software, and $0.8 million of amortization of

software development costs. In 2004, such costs consisted primarily of compensation, beneÑts, third-party

hardware and software, and $0.4 million of amortization of software development costs. In 2003, such costs

primarily included compensation, beneÑts, travel and consulting fees plus $8.9 million of amortization of

software development costs, which included the accelerated amortization recorded during the year.

Our commercial systems gross proÑt was $6.0 million in 2005 versus $7.2 million in 2004 and a loss of

$2.5 million in 2003. A larger proportion of high margin license sales in 2004 and the inclusion of a lower

margin hardware sale in 2005 resulted in lower margins as a percentage of revenue for 2005. Systems gross

margins are higher in periods when systems revenue includes a higher proportion of software licenses relative

to third party system components and integration labor. System gross proÑts for 2003 was negatively

aÅected by the signiÑcant cost of acceleration of amortization in the year.

We ascribe the lower revenue and related gross proÑt in 2005 primarily to later than expected

implementation of location-based service technology by wireless carriers.
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Government Segment:
2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Hosted, subscriber, and

maintenance revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.4 $ Ì $ 0.4 NM $ Ì $ Ì NM

Services revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20.4 15.6 4.8 30% 13.9 1.7 12%

Systems revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.5 23.6 (8.1) (34%) 29.4 (5.8) (20%)

Total Government revenue ÏÏÏ 36.3 39.2 (2.9) (8%) 43.3 (4.1) (9%)

Direct cost of hosted,

subscriber, and maintenance 0.2 Ì 0.2 NM Ì Ì NM

Direct cost of services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.2 9.5 3.7 39% 9.8 (0.3) (4%)

Direct cost of systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.0 15.4 (3.4) (22%) 18.7 (3.3) (18%)

Total Government cost of

revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25.4 24.9 0.5 2% 28.5 (3.6) (13%)

Hosted, subscriber, and

maintenance gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 Ì 0.2 NM Ì Ì NM

Services gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.2 6.1 1.1 17% 4.1 2.0 50%

Systems gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.5 8.2 (4.7) (57%) 10.7 (2.5) (23%)

Total Government gross

proÑt* ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10.9 $14.3 $(3.4) (24%) $14.8 $(0.5) (3%)

Segment gross proÑt as a

percent of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30% 37% 34%

* See discussion of segment reporting in 21 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. (NM • Not meaningful)

Generally, we provide Government products and services under long-term contracts. We recognize

contract revenue as billable costs are incurred and for Ñxed-price product delivery contracts using the

percentage-of-completion method or proportional performance method, measured by either total labor hours

or total costs incurred compared to total estimated labor hours or costs. We recognize estimated losses on

contracts in their entirety upon discovery. If we did not accurately estimate total labor hours or costs to

complete a contract or do not manage our contracts within the planned budget, then future margins may be

negatively aÅected or losses on existing contracts may need to be recognized. Under our contracts with the

U.S. government, contract costs, including the allocated indirect expenses, are subject to audit and

adjustment by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. We record revenue under these contracts at estimated net

realizable amounts.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, Government segment revenue decreased 8% as a result of

lower systems revenue.

Government Hosted, Subscriber, and Maintenance Revenue, Cost of Revenue, and Gross ProÑt:

In late 2004, we began oÅering basic and extended maintenance contracts on our systems. These

maintenance fees are collected in advance and recognized ratably over the maintenance period. The direct

costs of maintenance revenue consist primarily of compensation and beneÑts. These contracts yielded

approximately $0.4 million of revenue and $0.2 million of gross proÑt in 2005.

Government Services Revenue and Cost of Revenue:

Government services revenue primarily consists of communications engineering, program management,

help desk outsource, network design and management for government agencies. Our Government segment

also operates teleport facilities for data connectivity via satellite to and from North and South America, as well
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as Africa and Europe. Most such services are delivered under time and materials contracts. For Ñxed price

service contracts, we recognize revenue using the proportional performance method. We recognize estimated

losses on contracts in their entirety upon discovery. If we did not accurately estimate total labor hours or costs

to complete a contract or do not manage our contracts within the planned budget, then future margins may

be negatively aÅected or losses on existing contracts may need to be recognized.

Services revenues increased to $20.4 million in 2005 from $15.6 million in 2004 and $13.9 million in

2003. These increases throughout 2005 and 2004 were generated by new and expanded-scope contracts

resulting from increased sales emphasis on these types of projects and to a lesser extent, increased revenue

generated from satellite airtime services for use of our teleport facilities and associated with our systems sales.

Direct cost of government service revenue consists of compensation, beneÑts and travel incurred in

delivering these services, and these costs increased as a result of the increased services volume in 2005.

Our gross proÑt from government services increased to $7.2 million 2005 from $6.1 million in 2004 and

$4.1 million in 2003. The increase in gross proÑt is due to higher revenue. Gross proÑt as a percentage of

revenue decreased in 2005 due to a high margin contract which was primarily delivered in 2004 and

completed in early 2005. Gross proÑt as a percentage of revenue was lower in 2003 due to the mix of service

contracts at various levels of proÑtability.

Government Systems Revenue and Cost of Revenue:

We generate Government systems revenue from the design, development, assembly and deployment of

information processing and communication systems, primarily deployable communications systems, and

integration of those systems into customer networks. Our principal government systems sales are of our

SwiftLink» product line, which are lightweight, secure, deployable communications systems, to units of the

U.S. Departments of State, Justice, and Defense and other agencies. We recognize contract revenue as

billable costs are incurred and for Ñxed-price product delivery contracts using the percentage-of-completion

method, measured by either total labor hours or total costs incurred compared to total estimated labor hours

or costs. Labor hours are used as a measure of progress for projects that contain a signiÑcant amount of third

party materials costs. Systems sales in our Government segment decreased to $15.5 million in 2005 from

$23.6 million in 2004 and $29.4 million in 2003. The decrease in systems revenues is primarily due to

decreased unit sales of our SwiftLink» and deployable communications systems throughout 2005 compared to

2004 and 2003. We believe that government procurement patterns for our systems have been aÅected by

the shift from greater mission-leader Öexibility during the acute wartime environment of 2002 and 2003 to the

more budget-conscious environment in 2005 to date.

The cost of our government systems revenue consists of compensation, beneÑts, travel, satellite ""space

segment'' and airtime, costs related to purchased equipment components, and the costs of third-party

contractors that we engage. These equipment and third-party costs are variable for our various types of

products, and margins may Öuctuate between periods based on the respective product mixes.

Our government systems gross proÑt declined to $3.5 million in 2005 from $8.2 million in 2004 and

$10.7 million in 2003. The reduction is mainly as a result of lower systems sales volume.

Operating Expenses:

Research and Development Expense.

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Research and development expense ÏÏ$13.9 $18.0 $(4.1) (23%) $16.9 $1.1 6%

Percent of revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14% 19% 18%

Our research and development expense consists of compensation, beneÑts, travel costs, and a

proportionate share of facilities and corporate overhead. The costs of developing software products are
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expensed prior to establishing technological feasibility. Technological feasibility is established for our software

products when a detailed program design is completed. We incur research and development costs to enhance

existing packaged software products as well as to create new software products including software hosted in

our network operations center. These costs primarily include compensation and beneÑts as well as costs

associated with using third-party laboratory and testing resources. We expense such costs as they are incurred

unless technological feasibility has been reached and we believe that the capitalized costs will be recoverable.

The expenses we incur relate to software applications which are being marketed to new and existing

customers on a global basis. Throughout 2005 and 2004, respectively, research and development was

primarily focused on cellular and hosted location-based applications, including Voice over IP E9-1-1,

enhancements to our hosted location-based applications, blending of technology of our existing products while

incorporating aspects from our 2004 acquisitions, and other feature enhancements. In 2003, we primarily

focused on expanded functionality of our location platform software. Management continually assesses our

spending on research and development to ensure resources are focused on products that are expected to

achieve the highest level of success. Further, in 2005 we capitalized $2.5 million of software development

costs for certain software projects in accordance with the above policy. The capitalized costs relate to our

location-based software and our Voice over IP E9-1-1 service. These costs will be amortized on a product-by-

product basis using the straight-line method over the product's estimated useful life, which is never greater

than three years. Amortization is also computed using the ratio that current revenue for the product bears to

the total of current and anticipated future revenue for that product (the revenue curve method). If this

revenue curve method results in amortization greater than the amount computed using the straight-line

method, amortization is recorded at that greater amount. We believe that these capitalized costs will be

recoverable from future gross proÑts generated by these products. Prior to the second quarter of 2005, our

estimates did not suÇciently demonstrate future realizability of our software development costs expended on

such products; and accordingly, all such costs were expensed as incurred.

Research and development expense decreased 23% in 2005 as compared with 2004. This decrease is

partially due to the capitalization of approximately $2.5 million and partially due to developers working on

custom development eÅorts as well as a slight reduction in headcount associated with our development

eÅorts. The 6% increase in research and development spending in 2004 as compared to 2003 is primarily a

function of the costs incurred related to development eÅorts by the engineers added via the Kivera acquisition.

Our research and development expenditures have also yielded over 40 patents, primarily for wireless

messaging and location technology, and over 100 pending patent applications. We believe that the intellectual

property represented by these patents is a valuable asset that will contribute to our operations in 2006 and

beyond.

Sales and Marketing Expense:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Sales and marketing expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10.5 $8.9 $1.6 18% $8.9 $Ì Ì

Percent of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10% 9% 10%

Our sales and marketing expenses include compensation and beneÑts, trade show expenses, travel costs,

advertising and public relations costs as well as a proportionate share of facility-related costs which are

expensed as incurred. Our marketing eÅorts also include speaking engagements and attending and sponsoring

industry conferences. We sell our software products and services through our direct sales force and through

indirect channels. We have also historically leveraged our relationship with original equipment manufacturers to

market our software products to wireless carrier customers. We sell our products and services to agencies and

departments of the U.S. Government primarily through direct sales professionals. Sales and marketing costs

increased in 2005 primarily as a result of adding additional Government segment sales personnel at the end of

2004, and increased public relations fees in 2005. In 2004, such costs were similar to the level of spending

in 2003. Such costs may Öuctuate quarter to quarter depending on spending on tradeshows and variable

compensation based on level of revenue.
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General and Administrative Expense:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

General and administrative expense ÏÏ $14.4 $14.1 $0.3 2% $11.3 $2.8 25%

Percent of total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14% 14% 12%

General and administrative expense consists primarily of costs associated with management, Ñnance,

human resources and internal information systems. These costs include compensation, beneÑts, professional

fees, travel, and a proportionate share of rent, utilities and other facilities costs which are expensed as

incurred. The increase in 2005 was primarily attributable to increased professional fees associated with patent

monetization and public company regulatory compliance costs. The increase in 2004 over the level in 2003

was primarily attributable to the initial costs of complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act plus increased legal

fees.

Non-Cash Stock Compensation Expense:

2004 vs.
2005 vs. 2004 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Non-cash stock compensation expense $0.7 $1.2 $(0.5) (40%) $1.5 $(0.3) (20%)

During the second and third quarters of 2000, we granted options to purchase 885,983 shares of

Class A Common Stock to employees and directors at an exercise price less than the fair market value on the

date of grant. In the second quarters of 2003 and 2005, we issued restricted stock to directors and certain

key executives. The restrictions expired at the end of one year for directors and expire in annual increments

over three years for executives and are based on continued employment. The fair value of the restricted stock

at issuance has been recorded as deferred compensation and is being amortized to non-cash stock

compensation expense using the straight-line method over the period during which the restrictions expire.

Non-cash stock compensation expense is comprised of expenses related to incentive stock options

granted to employees and directors prior to our initial public oÅering and expense related to restricted stock

granted to directors and certain key executives in 2005 and 2003. Net loss, as reported, includes

$0.6 million, $0.6 million, and $0.5 million of non-cash stock compensation expense related to restricted

stock grants and $0.1 million, $0.6 million, and $1.0 million of non-cash stock compensation expense related

to the options granted prior to our initial public oÅering for the years-ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and

2003, respectively. We expect to record future stock compensation expense of $0.2 million as a result of

these restricted stock grants that will be recognized over the remaining vesting period for executives.

Non-cash stock compensation expense constitutes portions of our direct cost of revenue, research and

development expense, sales and marketing expense, and general and administrative expense as detailed in the

table presented with our Consolidated Statement of Operations presented in Item 15.

As a result of a recent change in the relevant accounting standards, eÅective January 1, 2006, we will

begin to recognize expense for all stock options granted to employees, including those issued at an exercise

price equal to the fair market value of our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant, based on the fair value

of the award. We do not currently recognize expense for such options in our Consolidated Statement of

Operations. As described in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements presented in Item 15 in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K, had we adopted the revised standard prior to December 31, 2005, the impact

would have been as described in the disclosure of pro forma net loss and loss per share in Note 1 to those

Consolidated Financial Statements.

As described in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, our Board of Directors adopted

resolutions to accelerate the vesting of certain outstanding, unvested ""out-of-the-money'' stock options. The

accelerated vesting provisions apply to all options with an exercise price of $6.00 or greater. As a result,

options to purchase 1,455,000 shares of our stock became fully exercisable as of October 28, 2005.
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The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to eliminate future compensation expense the

Company would otherwise recognize in its statement of operations with respect to these options upon the

adoption of Statement No. 123(R), which we are required to adopt on January 1, 2006. Financial

Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123(R) Share Based Payment will require that compensation

expense associated with stock options be recognized in the statement of operations rather than as a pro forma

footnote disclosure in our consolidated Ñnancial statements. The acceleration of the vesting of these options

will eliminate the future non-cash stock compensation expense associated with these outstanding options. We

estimate that the related future compensation expense to be recorded under Statement No. 123(R) that is

eliminated as a result of the acceleration of vesting these options is approximately $1.2 million.

Depreciation and Amortization of Property and Equipment:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Depreciation and amortization of

property and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8.6 $ 7.4 $1.2 17% $ 6.6 $0.8 11%

Average gross cost of property

and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $47.4 $38.3 $9.1 24% $29.2 $9.1 31%

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment represents the period costs associated with our

investment in computers, telephony equipment, internal use software, furniture and Ñxtures, and leasehold

improvements. We compute depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method over the estimated

useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset generally ranges from 5 years for furniture,

Ñxtures, and leasehold improvements to 3 years for most other types of assets including computers, software,

telephony equipment and vehicles. Expense generally increases year over year as a result of the level of capital

expenditures made during the year to support our operations and development eÅorts. Our depreciable asset

base increased signiÑcantly throughout 2004 and into 2005 as a result of several major capital projects,

including a company-wide computer hardware upgrade in 2005, enhancements to and the consolidation of

facilities for our network operations center for our Commercial Applications segment, and the completion of an

oÇce move in 2004.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Amortization of acquired

intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.2 $ Ì $0.2 NM $0.5 $(0.5) NM

The acquired intangible assets associated with the Kivera Acquisition are being amortized over their useful

lives of between three and nineteen years. The expense recognized in 2005 and 2004 relates to the

intangible assets acquired in this acquisition, including customer lists, customer contracts, trademarks, and

patents. The expense in 2003 related to the amortization of the Xypoint trade name that was amortized based

on its estimated useful life of three years using the straight-line method and was fully amortized by

December 31, 2003.

At least annually, we perform an analysis of our goodwill for impairment in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The analysis of goodwill

includes, among other factors, evaluating management's estimates of the future cash Öows to be received

from the assets. Based upon this analysis, we have concluded in each period presented that the goodwill had

not been impaired.
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Interest Expense:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Interest expense incurred on

capital lease obligations ÏÏÏÏÏ $0.3 $0.2 $ 0.1 16% $0.4 $(0.2) (44%)

Interest expense incurred on

notes payable and under our

bank credit agreementÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.5 1.2 (0.8) (63%) 0.5 0.7 NM

Amortization of deferred

Ñnancing fees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.5 0.5 Ì (6%) 0.2 0.3 NM

Amortization of deferred debt

discount related to

convertible subordinated

debentures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1.3 (1.3) (100%) Ì 1.3 NM

Less: Capitalized interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) Ì (0.1) NM Ì Ì NM

Total Interest ExpenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1.2 $3.2 $(2.0) (63%) $1.1 $2.1 NM

Interest expense is incurred under notes payable, an equipment loan, a line of credit, and capital lease

obligations. Interest, under the terms of our notes payable, is primarily at stated interest rates of between

7.75% and 10.5% while an equipment loan is at 5.5% and any line of credit borrowing is at variable rates

equal to 8.5% as of December 31, 2005. As described in Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements

presented as Part IV in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as of October 14, 2005 we extended and increased

our line of credit. The amended line of credit expires in September 2008 and our maximum line of credit

increased from $15 million to $22 million, subject to borrowing base limitations and working capital metrics.

The interest rate charged increased from prime plus 1% to prime plus 1.25% on drawings under the line. Our

amended line of credit also contains certain modiÑcations to the covenants, which are detailed below in

Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Our capital lease obligations include interest at various amounts depending on the lease arrangement. In

the second half of 2004 and throughout 2005, we increased our capital lease obligations relative to the

amounts outstanding in 2003. Our interest under capital leases Öuctuates depending on the amount of capital

lease obligations in each year. Conversely, interest under the terms of our notes payable are primarily at stated

interest rates of 7.75% per annum and our borrowings under the terms of our outstanding notes payable have

decreased since 2004. Interest expense under these notes Öuctuates depending on the amount of notes

payable outstanding in each year.

In January 2004, we issued a convertible subordinated debenture with a face value of $15 million (the

""Debenture'') to fund a portion of the Enterprise Acquisition. Debt discount relates to the amount of discount

computed as part of the Ñnancing for the Debenture. Such discount was recorded as a reduction of debt and

amortized over the life of the convertible subordinated debenture, which was converted prior to December 31,

2004.

Deferred Ñnancing fees relate to the up-front payment of fees to secure our notes payable and our

revolving line of credit facility. The amortization of the deferred Ñnancing fees in 2004 also includes deferred

Ñnancing fees paid to secure the Debenture. The remaining deferred Ñnancing fees for the Debenture were

recorded ratably to expense as the Debenture was converted prior to December 31, 2004, and are therefore

not included in expense for 2005. All other deferred Ñnancing fees are being amortized over the term of the

note or, in the case of the amended line of credit, the life of the facility, which now expires in September

2008.

Overall, our interest expense decreased in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily as a result of the conversion

of the Debenture in 2004. As a result of the conversion, we did not recognize any interest on $15 million face

value of the Debenture, amortization of the related deferred Ñnancing fees, or amortization of debt discount in
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2005. The 2004 increase in interest expense versus 2003 is also due to the interest associated with the

Debenture.

Interest expense incurred on the Debenture issued in connection with the Enterprise Acquisition accrued

at the rate of 3% of the face value of the Debenture prior to the date of the Waiver (see ""Item 5. Market for

Registrant's Common Equity and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities'' and Note 4 to the audited

Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). Debt discount

relates to the amount of discount computed as part of the Ñnancing for the Enterprise Acquisition. Such

discount was recorded as a reduction of debt and amortized over the life of the convertible subordinated

debenture. Subsequent to the date of the Waiver, the discount was recorded ratably to expense as the

Debenture was converted. The amortization of the deferred Ñnancing fees includes $0.2 million related to

deferred Ñnancing fees paid to secure the Debenture and related stock issuance while the remainder of these

fees relate to the up-front payment of fees to secure our notes payable and our revolving line of credit facility.

Subsequent to the date of the Waiver, the remaining deferred Ñnancing fees for the Debenture were recorded

ratably to expense as the Debenture was converted. All other deferred Ñnancing fees are being amortized over

the term of the note or, in the case of the line of credit, the life of the facility, which expires in September

2008.

Debt Conversion Expense:

To fund the Enterprise Acquisition in 2004, we issued a convertible subordinated debenture with a face

value of $15 million due in lump sum on January 13, 2009 in cash or shares of our Class A Common Stock at

our option. As of August 30, 2004, we entered into a Waiver Agreement with the holder of the Debenture.

The Waiver modiÑed certain provisions of the Debenture. See ""Market for Registrant's Common Equity and

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities'' and Note 4 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements appearing

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Subsequent to the date of the Waiver, the excess of the

amortization of the debt discount and deferred Ñnancing fees that was recorded ratably to expense as the

Debenture was converted over the monthly amortization calculated using the original life of the Debenture was

recognized as debt conversion expense. The $1.0 million cash fee paid as an inducement to the Waiver and

the fair value of the additional shares of our Class A Common Stock issued upon conversion of the Debenture

were also recorded as debt conversion expense. There was no such arrangement in either 2005 or 2003.

Other(Expense)/Income, Net:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Foreign currency translation/

transaction (loss)/gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(0.2) $ 0.1 $(0.3) NM $0.5 $(0.4) NM

Miscellaneous other (expense)/

incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 (0.1) 0.2 NM 1.0 (1.2) NM

Total other (expense)/income, net $(0.1) $(0.1) Ì 69% $1.5 $(1.6) NM

Revenues billed in foreign currencyÏÏÏ $ 6.9 $ 6.5 $ 0.4 6% $3.6 $ 2.9 80%

Other (expense)/income, net consists primarily of foreign currency translation/transaction gain or loss.

We record the eÅects of foreign currency translation on our receivables that are stated in currencies other than

our functional currency. The other components of other (expense)/income, net typically are not signiÑcant,

with the exception of a gain realized in 2003 resulting from insurance proceeds of $0.7 million related to the

recovery from a theft claim.

Income Taxes:

Because we have incurred net losses since 1999, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been

made for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. As a result of uncertainties regarding the

realizability of the related assets, we have recorded a full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets in our
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audited Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our net

operating loss carryforwards from acquired businesses will begin to expire in 2011 and the net operating loss

carryforwards from our operations will expire from 2019 through 2025.

Discontinued Operations- Enterprise assets

As of December 31, 2005, as a result of slower-than-anticipated market adoption of key technologies

related to the Enterprise assets and management's strategic decision to focus on our core technologies, we

committed to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets which we acquired from Aether Systems, Inc. in 2004. The

plan was approved by our Board of Directors on December 29, 2005, and we have engaged an investment

bank that is actively marketing the Enterprise assets. Due to the slower-than-anticipated market adoption of

the technologies described above, these assets have not performed up to management's expectations,

leading to an increase in the loss from discontinued operations in 2005 versus 2004. Management believes

that the sale of these assets will allow us to focus more directly on our core lines of business. We expect to

complete the sale of these assets by the end of 2006.

The following table presents income statement data for the Enterprise division, currently reported as

discontinued operations. Previously, these results were reported as part of the results of our Commercial

Applications segment.

2005 vs. 2004

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ %

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $22.5 $38.5 $(16.0) (42%)

Systems revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.6 7.5 (1.9) (25%)

Total Enterprise revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28.1 46.0 (17.9) (39%)

Direct cost of hosted, subscriber, and maintenanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.7 29.9 (14.2) (48%)

Direct cost of systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.3 5.4 1.0 19%

Total Enterprise segment cost of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22.1 35.3 (13.2) (38%)

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.9 8.6 (1.9) (20%)

Systems gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.8) 2.1 (2.9) NM

Total Enterprise gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.0 10.7 (4.7) (43%)

Research and development, sales, marketing, and general and

administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.9 10.8 (0.9) (8%)

Subtotal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.9) (0.1) (3.8) NM

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 2.5 0.8 29%

Loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(7.2) $(2.6) $ (4.6) NM

Net Loss:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Net loss from continuing $ (4.3) $(15.9) $11.6 (73%) $(13.5) $(2.4) 18%
operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Loss from discontinued operations (7.2) (2.6) (4.6) NM Ì (2.6) NM

Net lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(11.5) $(18.5) $ 7.0 (38%) $(13.5) $(5.0) 38%

Net loss decreased in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily due to the expense in 2004 for debt conversion

expense associated with our August 2004 Waiver Agreement and the capitalization of certain research and

development expenses in 2005, increased gross proÑt from our revenue sources, and other factors discussed

above. Net loss increased in 2004 compared to 2003 due to the debt conversion expense associated with
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our August 2004 Waiver Agreement, partially oÅset by signiÑcant increases in gross proÑt from growing

revenue and an increased gross margin percentage.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our comparative statements of cash Öow:

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

($ in millions) 2005 2004 $ % 2003 $ %

Net cash and cash equivalents
provided by (used in):

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(11.5) $(18.5) $ 7.1 38% $(13.5) $ (5.0) (38%)

Non-cash charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.8 20.8 (6.1) (29%) 18.1 2.7 15%

Net changes in working capital ÏÏÏ 1.5 (2.1) 3.6 NM (8.6) 6.5 75%

Operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.8 0.2 4.6 NM (4.0) 4.2 NM

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (0.1) (24.8) 24.7 NM Ì (24.8) NM

Purchases of property and
equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.1) (7.0) 0.9 13% (6.0) (1.0) (18%)

Capitalized software development
costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.5) Ì (2.5) NM (1.9) 1.9 NM

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 2.7 (2.7) NM (1.7) 4.4 NM

Investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.7) (29.0) 20.3 (68%) (9.5) (19.5) NM

Payments on debt and leases ÏÏÏÏ (10.5) (8.9) (1.6) 18% (5.5) (3.4) 65%

Proceeds from issuance of stock
and debentures, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) 28.2 (28.3) NM Ì 28.2 NM

Proceeds from borrowings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.0 7.5 (2.5) (33%) 9.3 (1.8) (19%)

Proceeds from employee option
exercisesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 1.4 (0.7) (50%) 1.1 0.3 31%

Financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.8) 28.2 (33.0) NM 4.9 23.3 NM

Net change in cash and cash
equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (8.8) $ (0.7) $ (8.1) NM $ (8.6) $ 7.9 NM

Days revenues outstanding in
accounts receivable including
unbilled receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 91 122 107

We have funded our operations, acquisitions, and capital expenditures primarily using proÑt from our

operations as well as the net proceeds from our January 2004 private placement of convertible subordinated

debentures and common stock (described below), which generated net proceeds of approximately

$19.9 million, our August 2004 placement of our common stock (described below), which generated net

proceeds of approximately $8.3 million, our March 10, 2006 secured notes and warrants (described below)

which generated net cash proceeds of approximately $9.3 million, leasing, and long-term debt. In 2005, we

reduced discretionary spending to minimize the short-term need for supplemental cash.

On October 14, 2005, we amended and extended our line of credit agreement with our principal bank.

Under the amended agreement, the availability of the line is extended to September 2008, and our borrowing

availability is increased from $15 million to $22 million. Borrowings at any time are limited based principally on

accounts receivable and inventory levels and a working capital ratio, each as deÑned in the amended line of

credit agreement. Borrowings are also limited by the amount of letters of credit outstanding ($0.9 million at

December 31, 2005). The amended line of credit is secured by substantially all assets of the company, and

bears interest at prime plus 1.25% per annum, with a minimum prime rate of 4.25% per annum and a

borrowing rate of 8.5% per annum at December 31, 2005. Our amended line of credit contains covenants

requiring us to maintain at least $29.5 million of tangible net worth, as deÑned, and at least $5 million in cash

(each measured monthly) as well as restrictive covenants including, among others, restrictions on our ability

to merge, acquire assets above prescribed thresholds, undertake actions outside the ordinary course of our

business (including the incurrence of indebtedness), guarantee debt, distribute dividends, and repurchase our
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stock. On March 10, 2006, the tangible net worth covenant, as deÑned, was amended such that the

Company will only be required to maintain at least $23.5 million of tangible net worth, as deÑned, through

March 31, 2007, at which time the amount of required tangible net worth, as deÑned, reverts back to the

$29.5 million. The minimum tangible net worth amount per the line of credit agreement is adjusted upward for

income, subordinated debt and equity raised and proceeds of any sale of Enterprise assets.

In 2003 we borrowed $2.5 million under the terms of an equipment loan secured by purchased

equipment for a term of three years. As of December 31, 2005, approximately $0.8 million was outstanding

under the equipment loan which will be paid monthly through December 2006. There was $8.0 million

outstanding under our line of credit. We had approximately $1.9 million of unused availability under our line of

credit and our tangible net worth, as deÑned, was $31.1 million as of December 31, 2005. We are in

compliance with our covenants as of December 31, 2005.

We currently believe that we have suÇcient capital resources with cash generated from operations as well

as cash on hand to meet our anticipated cash operating expenses, working capital, and capital expenditure

and debt service needs for the next twelve months. We expect additional cash in 2006 from sales of our

Enterprise division and surplus patents. We have borrowing capacity available to us in the form of capital

leases as well as a line of credit arrangement with our bank which expires in September 2008. We may also

consider raising capital in the public markets as a means to meet our capital needs and to invest in our

business. Although we may need to return to the capital markets, establish new credit facilities or raise capital

in private transactions in order to meet our capital requirements, we can oÅer no assurances that we will be

able to access these potential sources of funds on terms acceptable to us or at all.

We have incurred net losses in recent years, and our monthly cash Öows are subject to variability. In order

to improve our results of operations and cash Öows, we are focusing our eÅorts on revenue growth, primarily

in the hosted and subscriber service lines, which provide for more predictable revenue streams. We have also

committed to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets. In the event that our results of operations in 2006 are not

adequate to fund ongoing obligations, and/or we are not able to sell the Enterprise assets, we would defer or

avoid cash expenditures in other areas, including research and development, capital expenditures and/or

administrative costs. We believe that our existing cash resources, including proceeds received from Ñnancings

which occurred in March 2006, and availability under the bank line of credit, coupled with expected cash from

operations, will provide suÇcient liquidity for us to continue to meet our obligations for the next twelve months.

However, there can be no assurance that cash Öows from operations will be suÇcient to fund our obligations

and, as discussed below, the provisions of our lending documents create the possibility that our Ñnancing

arrangements may not remain available to us.

Our bank credit agreement contains a tangible net worth covenant which is required to be met on a

monthly basis. In March, 2006 the bank amended our line of credit agreement, reducing the tangible net

worth requirement through March 31, 2007. The line of credit agreement also contains a subjective

acceleration clause which allows the bank to declare the amounts outstanding under the line of credit due and

payable if certain material adverse changes occur. Also, the loan document governing the subordinated debt

issued in March 2006 contains a cross-default provision that would allow the debt holder to accelerate

payment of the subordinated debt if other debt exceeding $2.5 million is declared due and payable. We

believe that we will continue to comply with our restrictive covenants under our debt agreements. If our

performance does not result in compliance with any of the restrictive covenants, or if our line of credit

agreement lender seeks to exercise its rights under the subjective acceleration clause referred to above, we

would seek to further modify our Ñnancing arrangements, but there can be no assurance that our debt holders

would not exercise their rights and remedies under their agreements with us, including declaring all

outstanding debt due and payable. See Note 12 to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for a more

detailed description of the restrictive covenants under our debt agreements and Note 25 to our Consolidated

Financial Statements for a more detailed description of the secured notes entered into in March 2006.

Operating cash Öows improved in 2005 primarily as a result of increased cash provided by lower working

capital needs and improved earnings. A signiÑcant favorable change in unbilled receivables and, to a lesser

extent, accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued payroll and deferred revenue were partially oÅset by
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the unfavorable changes in accounts receivable, inventory and other current assets. Management increased its

focus on its billing and collection eÅorts in 2005 which reduced total days outstanding to 91 from 122 days in

2004. Additionally, there were fewer long-term projects that remained open in 2005 compared to 2004 and

2003, and therefore unbilled receivables were lower in 2005.

Net cash used in investing activities was lower in 2005 than 2004 because there were no 2005

acquisitions, like our 2004 Enterprise and Kivera acquisitions (described below). The acquisitions accounted

for approximately $24.8 million of the cash used for investing activities during 2004. The amount of capital

expenditures in 2005 were $6.1 million and capitalized software development costs were $2.5 million. Capital

expenditure in 2004 were slightly higher at $7.0 million and included an increase in capital expenditures to

support our service bureau oÇce move and to expand our business. There were no capitalized software

development costs in 2004 due to the stage of development eÅorts incurred in 2004 and management's

judgments as to the realizability of these costs at that time. Net cash used in investing activities was lower in

2003 compared to 2004 primarily because of the 2004 acquisitions.

Net cash of $4.8 million was used for financing activities in 2005 compared to $28.2 million provided by

financing activities in 2004 and $4.9 million provided by financing activities in 2003. In 2005, we made payments

under long-term debt and capital lease obligations while increasing borrowing under our line of credit to a lesser

extent. The change in 2005 compared to 2004 is primarily due to the January 2004 and August 2004 financings

(see below) which did not recur in 2005. These offerings provided net proceeds of approximately $28.2 million.

These proceeds were used to fund our acquisitions and for payments under our existing long-term debt and capital

lease obligations. Net cash provided by financing activities in 2003 included proceeds from increases in long-term

debt obligations used to fund capital expenditures as an alternative to capital lease obligations.

On September 20, 2004, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Kivera, Inc., for approximately

$5.5 million in cash. To fund the Kivera acquisition, on August 30, 2004 we entered a Securities Purchase

Agreement with the same third party investors who purchased our securities used to Ñnance the Enterprise

Acquisition. Pursuant to this agreement, we raised $10.0 million in cash through the sale of

2,500,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock. Combined proceeds from both the January and August

Ñnancings, after Ñnancing fees, were approximately $28.2 million. As of the same date, we entered into a

Waiver Agreement with the holder of the Debenture. The Waiver modiÑed certain provisions of the Debenture

as follows: (1) the holder of the Debenture was required to convert the entire $15 million principal amount

into shares of our Class A Common Stock by the end of 2004, (2) all of the material restrictive covenants

contained in the Debenture were nulliÑed and (3) the conversion price set forth in the Debenture was

decreased from $5.3753 to $5.01581 as an inducement to enter into the Waiver (an adjustment such that

conversion of the Debenture will yield an additional 200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock). As additional

consideration, we paid the holder of the Debenture a $1 million one-time fee in cash. As a result, the entire

face amount of the Debenture had been converted into shares of our Class A Common Stock as of

December 31, 2004.

On March 10, 2006, pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we issued and sold to

two institutional lenders (i) $10 million in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March 10, 2009,

which bear cash interest at the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional notes, at the

rate of 16% per annum, at our option, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our

Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share. We received net cash proceeds of approximately

$9.3 million from this transaction, which are intended to be used for general corporate purposes.
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The warrants issued in the January 2004 Ñnancing described above contain provisions requiring an

adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a consequence of the

issuance of the new warrants in March 2006. Consequently, the warrants from 2004 have been adjusted to a

purchase price of $2.50 per share and the total number of January 2004 warrants now outstanding has been

adjusted to 886,787. The note purchase agreement includes a provision such that if we default on any of our

debt obligations exceeding $2.5 million, the secured subordinated notes shall become due and payable at the

election of the holders of the notes.

OÅ-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had standby letters of credit totaling approximately $0.9 million at year-end 2005 and $0.8 million at

year-end 2004. The standby letters of credit are in support of processing credit card payments from our

customers, as collateral with a vendor and security for oÇce space. In March 2006, an additional $2.5 million

standby letter of credit has been issued in accordance with a contracting requirement for a project being

performed by our Government segment.

Contractual Commitments

As of December 31, 2005, our most signiÑcant commitments consisted of long-term debt, obligations

under capital leases and non-cancelable operating leases. We lease certain furniture and computer equipment

under capital leases. We lease oÇce space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. As of

December 31, 2005 our commitments consisted of the following:

($ in millions) 2006 2007-2008 2009-2010 Beyond Total

Notes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.2 $0.5 $ Ì $Ì $ 2.7

Line of credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.0 Ì Ì Ì 8.0

Capital lease obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.2 3.0 Ì Ì 6.2

Operating leases, primarily for oÇce spaceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.4 5.7 2.7 Ì 11.8

Total contractual commitments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16.8 $9.2 $2.7 $Ì $28.7

Related Party Transactions

In February 2003, we entered into a lease with Annapolis Partners LLC to explore the opportunity of

relocating our Annapolis oÇces to a planned new real estate development. Our President and Chief Executive

OÇcer owns a controlling voting and economic interest in Annapolis Partners LLC and he also serves as a

member. The Ñnancial and many other terms of the lease have not yet been established. The lease is subject

to several contingencies and rights of termination. For example, the lease can be terminated at the sole

discretion of our Board of Directors if the terms and conditions of the development are unacceptable to us,

including without limitation the circumstances that market conditions make the lease not favorable to us or the

overall cost is not in the best interest to us or our shareholders, or any legal or regulatory restrictions apply.

Our Board of Directors will evaluate this opportunity along with alternatives that are or may become available in

the relevant time periods and there is no assurance that we will enter into a deÑnitive lease at this new

development site.

Item 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We have limited exposure to Ñnancial market risks, including changes in interest rates. As discussed above

under ""Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Ì

Liquidity and Capital Resources,'' we have a $22 million line of credit. A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse

movement (increase) in the prime rate would have increased our interest expense for the year ended

December 31, 2005 by approximately $36,000, resulting in no signiÑcant impact on our consolidated Ñnancial

position, results of operations or cash Öows.
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At December 31, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of $9.3 million. Cash and cash equivalents

consisted of demand deposits and money market accounts that are interest rate sensitive. However, these

investments have short maturities mitigating their sensitivity to interest rates. A hypothetical 100 basis point

adverse movement (decrease) in interest rates would have increased our net loss for 2005 by approximately

$0.1 million, resulting in no signiÑcant impact on our consolidated Ñnancial position, results of operations or

cash Öows.

Foreign Currency Risk

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we generated $6.9 million of revenue outside the U.S. A

majority of our transactions generated outside the U.S. are denominated in U.S. dollars, and a change in

exchange rates would not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. As of

December 31, 2005, we had approximately $0.2 million in accounts receivable and $0.1 million in unbilled

receivables that are denominated in foreign currencies and would be exposed to foreign currency exchange

risk. During 2005, our average receivables and unbilled receivables subject to foreign currency exchange risk

were $1.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. We recorded transaction losses of $0.2 million on foreign

currency denominated receivables for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Ñnancial statements listed in Item 15 are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on

page F-1.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation,

under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive OÇcer and

Chief Financial OÇcer, of the eÅectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer concluded that

the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are eÅective at a reasonable assurance level in ensuring that

all information required in the reports it Ñles or submits under the Act was accumulated and communicated to

the Company's management, including its Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer, as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures and that information was recorded, processed,

summarized and reported within the time period required by the rules and regulations of the Securities and

Exchange Commission.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over Ñnancial

reporting, as such term is deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision

and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer,

we conducted an evaluation of the eÅectiveness of our internal control over Ñnancial reporting as of

December 31, 2005 based on the framework in Internal Control Ì Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, our

management concluded that our internal control over Ñnancial reporting was eÅective as of December 31,

2005.
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Management's assessment of the eÅectiveness of our internal control over Ñnancial reporting as of

December 31, 2005 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting

Ñrm, which has issued an attestation report thereon included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In closing the third quarter of 2005, the Company became aware of problems with its documentation and

procedures regarding revenue recognition of contracts with multiple element arrangements. We implemented

improvements that remediated these issues prior to December 31, 2005. There were no other changes in

internal control over Ñnancial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2005 that materially aÅected,

or are reasonably likely to materially aÅect, the Company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Ì

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained eÅective internal

control over Ñnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control Ì

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

(the COSO criteria). TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining eÅective

internal control over Ñnancial reporting and for its assessment of the eÅectiveness of internal control over

Ñnancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on

the eÅectiveness of the company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether eÅective internal control over Ñnancial reporting was maintained in all material

respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over Ñnancial reporting, evaluating

management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating eÅectiveness of internal control,

and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of Ñnancial reporting and the preparation of Ñnancial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over

Ñnancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,

in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reÖect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of Ñnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a

material eÅect on the Ñnancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over Ñnancial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of eÅectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained eÅective

internal control over Ñnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects,

based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained, in all material

respects, eÅective internal control over Ñnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO

criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. as of

December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity,

and cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of TeleCommunication

Systems, Inc. and our report dated March 16, 2006 expressed an unqualiÑed opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland

March 16, 2006
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Part III

Item 10. Directors and Executive OÇcers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned

""Board of Directors'' and ""Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management'' to be included

in the Company's deÑnitive proxy statement to be Ñled in connection with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders,

to be held on June 8, 2006 (the ""Proxy Statement'').

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned

""Board of Directors'' and ""Executive Compensation'' to be included in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned

""BeneÑcial Ownership of TCS Common Stock'' to be included in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned

""Certain Transactions Relating to TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.'' to be included in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned

""Principal Accountant Fees and Services'' to be included in the Proxy Statement.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The Ñnancial statements listed in Item 15 are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on

page F-1.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The Ñnancial statement schedule required by Item 15 is included in Exhibit 12 to this Annual Report on

Form 10-K.

Exhibits

The exhibits are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and

subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations,

stockholders' equity, and cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our

audits also included the Ñnancial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These Ñnancial statements

and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these Ñnancial statements and schedule based on our audits. As of December 31, 2005 and for the year

then ended, we did not audit the Ñnancial statements of TeleCommunication Systems (Holdings) Ltd, a

wholly-owned subsidiary, which statements reÖect total assets of 5 percent of the consolidated total as of

December 31, 2005 and a net loss, which represents 25% of the consolidated loss from discontinued

operations for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been

furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for TeleCommunication Systems

(Holdings) Ltd, is based solely on the report of the other auditors

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements. An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management,

as well as evaluating the overall Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of

the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the Ñnancial statements referred

to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated Ñnancial position of TeleCommunication

Systems, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash

Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally

accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related Ñnancial statement schedule, when

considered in relation to the basic Ñnancial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects

the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States), the eÅectiveness of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.'s internal control over Ñnancial

reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated

March 16, 2006 expressed an unqualiÑed opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland

March 16, 2006
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(amounts in thousands, except share data)

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9,320 $ 18,251

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $233 in 2005 and $690 in
2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,886 18,295

Unbilled receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,361 9,885

Inventory ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,197 3,427

Other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,970 1,830

Current assets of discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22,891 7,758

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65,625 59,446

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of
$34,134 in 2005 and $27,504 in 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,323 16,810

Software development costs, net of accumulated amortization of $1,990 in
2005 and $1,204 in 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,825 2,651

Acquired intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $214 in
2005 and $37 in 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,004 1,151

Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,813 1,761

Other assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,982 1,570

Noncurrent assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 18,993

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 90,572 $ 102,382

Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 10,175 $ 8,702

Accrued payroll and related liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,971 3,526

Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,123 3,365

Current portion of notes payable, including line of credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,180 11,993

Current portion of capital lease obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,001 2,765

Current liabilities of discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,719 8,891

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,169 39,242

Capital lease obligations and notes payable, less current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,341 3,634

Stockholders' equity:

Class A Common Stock; $0.01 par value:

Authorized shares Ì 225,000,000; issued and outstanding shares of
31,381,575 in 2005 and 30,626,454 in 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 314 306

Class B Common Stock; $0.01 par value:

Authorized shares Ì 75,000,000; issued and outstanding shares of
8,035,963 in 2005 and 8,409,001 in 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 80 84

Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (231) (787)

Additional paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 210,275 209,778

Accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (40) (6)

Accumulated deÑcit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (161,336) (149,869)

Total stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,062 59,506

Total liabilities and stockholders' equityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 90,572 $ 102,382

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Revenue

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 52,867 $ 44,256 $ 37,656

Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22,105 15,978 13,923

Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27,181 36,678 40,486

Total revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 102,153 96,912 92,065

Direct costs of revenue

Direct cost of hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenue,

including amortization of software development costs of $0, $0,

and $161, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,233 21,257 18,082

Direct cost of servicesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,981 9,669 9,835

Direct cost of systems, including amortization of software

development costs of $786, $445, and $8,874, respectively ÏÏÏÏ 17,719 21,227 32,299

Total direct cost of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56,933 52,153 60,216

Hosted, subscriber, and maintenance gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27,634 22,999 19,574

Services gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,124 6,309 4,088

Systems gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,462 15,451 8,187

Total gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45,220 44,759 31,849

Operating costs and expenses

Research and development expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,852 17,966 16,932

Sales and marketing expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,517 8,917 8,917

General and administrative expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,369 14,050 11,251

Non-cash stock compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 720 1,195 1,501

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,625 7,353 6,612

Amortization of acquired intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 177 37 531

Total operating costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,260 49,518 45,744

Loss from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,040) (4,759) (13,895)

Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,172) (3,196) (1,088)

Debt conversion expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (7,886) Ì

Other (expense)/income, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (104) (61) 1,497

Loss from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,316) (15,902) (13,486)

Loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,151) (2,646) Ì

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(11,467) $(18,548) $(13,486)

Loss per share:

Loss per share from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.11) (0.48) (0.45)

Loss per share from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.19) (0.08) Ì

Net loss per share-basic and diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.30) $ (0.56) $ (0.45)

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic and dilutedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,823 33,381 29,796

Composition of non-cash stock compensation expense:

Direct costs of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 16 $ 53 $ 93

Research and development expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11 140 245

Sales and marketing expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18 56 171

General and administrative expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 675 946 992

Total non-cash stock compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 720 $ 1,195 $ 1,501

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(amounts in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Class A Class B Additional Other
Common Common Deferred Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated

Stock Stock Compensation Capital Loss DeÑcit Total

Balance at January 1, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $196 $ 99 $ Ì $165,176 $ Ì $(117,835)$ 47,636

Options exercised for the purchase of
735,151 shares of Class A
Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7 Ì Ì 919 Ì Ì 926

Issuance of 91,243 shares of
Class A Common Stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan ÏÏÏÏ 1 Ì Ì 142 Ì Ì 143

Issuance of 1,077,250 shares of
restricted Class A Common Stock
to directors and key executives ÏÏÏÏ 11 Ì (1,890) 1,879 Ì Ì Ì

Amortization of deferred
compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 491 Ì Ì Ì 491

Conversion of 527,272 shares of
Class B Common Stock to Class A
Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 (5) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì

Stock compensation expense for
issuance of Class A Common Stock
options at below fair market valueÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1,010 Ì Ì 1,010

Stock compensation expense for
options issued to non- employees
for service ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 131 Ì Ì 131

Net loss for 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (13,486) (13,486)

Balance at December 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏ $221 $ 94 $(1,399) $169,256 $ Ì $(131,321)$ 36,851

Options exercised for the purchase of
537,333 shares of Class A
Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 Ì Ì 1,053 Ì Ì 1,058

Issuance of 85,901 shares of
Class A Common Stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan ÏÏÏÏ 1 Ì Ì 344 Ì Ì 345

Issuance of 1,568,308 shares of
Class A Common Stock in
connection with the Enterprise
acquisition and related Ñnancing,
net of issuance costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16 Ì Ì 8,366 Ì Ì 8,382

Issuance of 2,500,000 shares of
Class A Common Stock in
connection with a private Ñnancing,
net of issuance costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25 Ì Ì 9,317 Ì Ì 9,342

Issuance of 2,990,544 shares of
Class A Common Stock for the
conversion of the convertible
subordinated debenturesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29 Ì Ì 15,871 Ì Ì 15,900

Issuance of 45,376 shares of
Class A Common Stock for accrued
interest for convertible subordinated
debentures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 209 Ì Ì 209

Surrender of 79,563 restricted
shares of Class A Common Stock
as payment for payroll tax
withholdings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1) Ì Ì (449) Ì Ì (450)

Fair value of beneÑcial conversion
feature of convertible subordinated
debentures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 3,662 Ì Ì 3,662

(statement continued on following page)
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity Ì (Continued)

(amounts in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Class A Class B Additional Other
Common Common Deferred Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated

Stock Stock Compensation Capital Loss DeÑcit Total

Issuance of warrants to
purchase 341,072 shares of
Class A Common StockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1,395 Ì Ì 1,395

Conversion of 954,687 shares of
Class B Common Stock to Class A
Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10 (10) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì

Stock compensation expense for
issuance of Class A Common Stock
options at below fair market valueÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 583 Ì Ì 583

Amortization of deferred
compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 612 Ì Ì Ì 612

Fair value of stock options issued to
non-employees for service ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 171 Ì Ì 171

Foreign currency translation
adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (6) Ì (6)

Net loss for 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (18,548) (18,548)

Balance at December 31, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏ $306 $ 84 $ (787) $209,778 $ (6) $(149,869)$ 59,506

Options exercised for the purchase of
290,980 shares of Class A
Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 Ì Ì 310 Ì Ì 313

Issuance of 176,851 shares of
Class A Common Stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan ÏÏÏÏ 2 Ì Ì 380 Ì Ì 382

Issuance of 14,816 restricted shares
of Class A Common Stock to
directors and key executivesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (41) 41 Ì Ì Ì

Issuance costs related to
2,500,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock in connection with
a private ÑnancingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (81) Ì Ì (81)

Surrender of 100,564 restricted
shares of Class A Common Stock
as payment for payroll tax
withholdings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1) Ì Ì (249) Ì Ì (250)

Conversion of 373,038 shares of
Class B Common Stock to Class A
Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4 (4) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì

Stock compensation expense for
issuance of Class A Common Stock
options at below fair market valueÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 123 Ì Ì 123

Amortization of deferred
compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 597 Ì Ì Ì 597

Valuation adjustment to stock options
issued to non-employees for
service ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (27) Ì Ì (27)

Foreign currency translation
adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (34) Ì (34)

Net loss for 2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (11,467) (11,467)

Balance at December 31, 2005ÏÏÏÏÏ $314 $ 80 $ (231) $210,275 $(40) $(161,336)$ 49,062

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(amounts in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Operating activities:

Net lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(11,467) $(18,548) $(13,486)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,310 7,795 6,612

Amortization of acquired intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,817 2,165 531

Non-cash stock compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 720 1,195 1,501

Amortization of software development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 945 597 9,035

Non-cash debt conversion expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 6,886 Ì

Amortization of debt discount ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,344 Ì

Amortization of deferred Ñnancing fees included in interest expense 470 464 69

Other non-cash expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 484 501 403

State of Maryland loan forgivenessÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (100) (100)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (428) 3,440 2,310

Unbilled receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,882 (1,087) (1,482)

Inventory ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (634) (2,924) Ì

Other assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,029) 275 (705)

Accounts payable and accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 253 (2,410) (7,457)

Accrued payroll and related liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72 123 (64)

Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 359 479 (1,163)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,754 195 (3,996)

Investing activities:

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (124) (24,751) Ì

Purchases of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,077) (7,000) (5,951)

Capitalized software development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,512) Ì (1,865)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 2,713 (1,690)

Net cash used in investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,713) (29,038) (9,506)

Financing activities:

Payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10,451) (8,985) (5,450)

Proceeds from issuance of Class A Common Stock and Convertible
subordinated debentures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 31,000 Ì

Payment to induce conversion of convertible subordinated debentureÏÏ Ì (1,000) Ì

Financing fees related to issuance of Class A Common Stock and
Convertible subordinated debenturesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (81) (1,758) Ì

Proceeds from draws on revolving line of credit, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,004 5,000 Ì

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,000 2,500 9,266

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options and sale of stock ÏÏ 696 1,403 1,069

Net cash (used in)/provided by Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,832) 28,160 4,885

Net decrease in cash ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,791) (683) (8,617)

EÅect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (140) 149 Ì

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,251 18,785 27,402

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9,320 $ 18,251 $ 18,785

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. SigniÑcant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. develops and applies highly reliable wireless data communications

technology. We manage our business in two segments, our Commercial Applications segment and our

Government segment.

Commercial Applications Segment. Our carrier software system products enable wireless carriers to

deliver short text messages, location information, internet content, and other enhanced communica-

tion services to and from wireless phones. We provide enhanced 9-1-1 (E9-1-1) services,

commercial location-based services, and inter-carrier text message distribution services on a hosted,

or service bureau basis. As of December 31, 2005, we provide hosted services under contracts with

36 wireless carrier networks as well as Voice-over-Internet-Protocol (VoIP) service providers. We

also earn subscriber revenue through wireless applications including our Rand McNallyTM TraÇc

application which is available via all major US wireless carriers. We earn carrier software-based

systems revenue through the sale of licenses, deployment and customization fees and maintenance

fees. Pricing is generally based on the volume of capacity purchased from us by the carrier. As of

December 31, 2005, we had deployed 85 software systems for our customers in wireless carrier

networks around the world, including those of Verizon Wireless, Vodafone, T-Mobile, Telefonica and

its aÇliate Vivo, Alltel, and Hutchison Whampoa's ""3''TM-brand third generation networks. We also

provide carrier technology on a hosted, i.e., service bureau basis; that is, customers use our software

functionality through connections to and from our network operations centers, paying us monthly

based on the number of subscribers, cell sites, or call center circuits, or message volume. As set

forth in Note 3, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Kivera, Inc. (Kivera), a provider of

Internet-based location application software and geo-data professional services, on September 20,

2004. The acquired operations are included in our Commercial Applications segment beginning on

the eÅective date of the acquisitions.

Government Segment. We design, furnish, install and operate wireless and data network communica-

tion systems, including our SwiftLink» deployable communication systems which incorporate high

speed, satellite, and internet protocol technology. More than 600 of our SwiftLink» deployable

communication systems are in use for security, defense, and law enforcement around the world. We

also own and operate secure satellite teleport facilities, and resell access to satellite airtime (known

as space segment).

Enterprise Assets. As set forth in Note 2, we acquired the Enterprise Mobility Solutions (Enterprise)

division of Aether Systems, Inc. on January 13, 2004, with an eÅective date of January 1, 2004.

Prior to December 31, 2005, we adopted a plan to sell the Enterprise division. These assets and the

related operations are classiÑed as discontinued operations as of December 31, 2005.

Capital Resource Risks. We have incurred net losses in recent years, and our monthly cash Öows are

subject to variability. In order to improve our results of operations and cash Öows, we are focusing our eÅorts

on revenue growth, primarily in the hosted and subscriber service lines, which provide for more predictable

revenue streams. We have also committed to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets, as discussed in Note 2. In

the event that our results of operations in 2006 are not adequate to fund ongoing obligations, and/or we are

not able to sell the Enterprise assets, we would defer or avoid cash expenditures in other areas, including

research and development, capital expenditures and/or administrative costs. We believe that our existing cash

resources, including proceeds received from Ñnancings which occurred in March 2006 (see Note 25), and

availability under the bank line of credit (see Note 12), coupled with expected cash from operations, will

provide suÇcient liquidity for us to continue to meet our obligations through at least January 1, 2007.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

However, there can be no assurance that cash Öows from operations will be suÇcient to fund our obligations

and, as discussed below, the provisions of our lending documents create the possibility that our Ñnancing

arrangements may not remain available to us.

Our bank credit agreement contains a tangible net worth covenant which is required to be met on a

monthly basis. In March, 2006 the bank amended our line of credit agreement, reducing the tangible net

worth requirement through March 31, 2007, as discussed in Note 12 to the Ñnancial statements. The line of

credit agreement also contains a subjective acceleration clause which allows the bank to declare the amounts

outstanding under the line of credit due and payable if certain material adverse changes occur, as described in

Note 12. Also, the loan document governing the subordinated debt issued in March 2006 (see Note 25)

contains a cross-default provision that would allow the debt holder to accelerate payment of the subordinated

debt if other debt exceeding $2,500 is declared due and payable. We believe that we will continue to comply

with our restrictive covenants under our debt agreements. If our performance does not result in compliance

with any of the restrictive covenants, or if our line of credit agreement lender seeks to exercise its rights under

the subjective acceleration clause referred to above, we would seek to further modify our Ñnancing

arrangements, but there can be no assurance that our debt holders would not exercise their rights and

remedies under their agreements with us, including declaring all outstanding debt due and payable.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of Ñnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that aÅect the

reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could diÅer from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying Ñnancial statements include the accounts of our wholly

owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

ReclassiÑcations. We have reclassiÑed certain prior-year amounts for comparative purposes. These

reclassiÑcations did not aÅect our results of operations for the years presented. In connection with the

classiÑcation of our Enterprise assets as discontinued operations, as discussed in Note 2, we reclassiÑed prior

period Ñnancial data for these assets to reÖect this classiÑcation as of December 31, 2005. In connection with

the realignment of our segments during 2004, discussed in Note 21, we also reclassiÑed our revenue

categories, consistent with the manner in which we monitor our business. Our current revenue categories

include hosted, subscriber and maintenance revenue, systems revenue and services revenue. Current and prior

year amounts for revenues, direct costs of revenue and gross proÑt have been reclassiÑed to conform with

these classiÑcations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with a

maturity of three months or less when purchased. Cash equivalents are reported at fair value, which

approximates cost. Our line of credit requires us to maintain a cash balance of at least $5 million. See

Note 12 for additional information.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts Receivable. All of our accounts receivable are trade receivables

generated in the ordinary course of our business. We use estimates to determine the amount of the allowance

for doubtful accounts necessary to reduce accounts receivable to their expected net realizable value. We

estimate the amount of the required allowance by reviewing the status of signiÑcant past-due receivables and

by establishing provisions for estimated losses by analyzing current and historical bad debt trends. Changes to

our allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded as a component of general and administrative expenses in

our accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. Our credit and collection policies and the Ñnancial

strength of our customers are critical to us in maintaining a relatively small amount of write-oÅs of receivables.

Our credit policies are especially crucial, as we generally do not require collateral from or enter netting

agreements with our customers. Receivables that are ultimately deemed uncollectible are charged-oÅ as a

reduction of receivables and the allowance for doubtful accounts.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

Inventory. We maintain inventory of component parts and Ñnished product for our Government deployable

communications systems. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is based on the weighted

average method. Cost basis for Ñnished units includes manufacturing cost. During 2005, based upon our

review of the components of our inventory, the most recent sales history and the prospects for future sales,

we established a reserve in order to state certain inventory units at their estimated net realizable value.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of equipment,

generally Ñve years for furniture and Ñxtures and three years for computer equipment, software and vehicles.

Amortization of leasehold improvements is provided using the straight-line method over the lesser of the useful

life of the asset or the remaining term of the lease. Assets held under capital leases are stated at the lesser of

the present value of future minimum lease payments or the fair value of the property at the inception of the

lease. The assets recorded under capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the

estimated useful life of the assets in a manner consistent with our depreciation policy for owned assets.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of assets of acquired businesses.

Goodwill acquired in a purchase business combination is not amortized, but instead is evaluated at least

annually for impairment using a discounted cash Öow model in accordance with the provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. A majority of our goodwill

balance was reclassiÑed to assets of discontinued operations in connection with our plan of sale of our

Enterprise Assets (see Note 2, Enterprise Assets Ì Discontinued Operations).

Software Development Costs. We capitalize software development costs after we establish technological

feasibility, and amortize those costs over the estimated useful lives of the software beginning on the date

when the software is Ñrst installed and used. Acquired technology, representing the estimated value of the

proprietary technology acquired in the 2004 acquisitions, has also been recorded as capitalized software

development costs.

Costs we incurred are capitalized when technological feasibility has been established. For new products,

technological feasibility is established when an operative version of the computer software product is

completed in the same software language as the product to be ultimately marketed, performs all the major

functions planned for the product, and has successfully completed initial customer testing. Technological

feasibility for enhancements to an existing product is established when a detail program design is completed.

Costs that are capitalized include direct labor, related overhead and other direct costs. These costs are

amortized on a product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over the product's estimated useful

life, which is never greater than three years. Amortization is also computed using the ratio that current revenue

for the product bears to the total of current and anticipated future revenue for that product (the revenue curve

method). If this revenue curve method results in amortization greater than the amount computed using the

straight-line method, amortization is recorded at that greater amount. Our policies to determine when to

capitalize software development costs and how much to amortize in a given period require us to make

subjective estimates and judgments. If our software products do not achieve the level of market acceptance

that we expect and our future revenue estimates for these products change, the amount of amortization that

we record may increase compared to prior periods. The amortization of capitalized software development costs

has been recorded as a cost of revenue.

Acquired technology is amortized over the product's estimated useful life based on the purchase price

allocation and valuation procedures performed at the time of the acquisition. Amortization is calculated using

the ratio of the estimated future cash Öows generated in each period to the estimated total cash Öows to be

contributed from each product or the straight-line method, whichever is greater.
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we capitalized $2,512 of software development costs for

certain software projects after the point of technological feasibility had been reached but before the products

were available for general release. Accordingly, these costs have been capitalized and are being amortized over

their estimated useful lives beginning when the products are available for general release. The capitalized costs

relate to our location-based software, which is part of our continuing operations.

We believe that these capitalized costs will be recoverable from future gross proÑts generated by these

products. Prior to the second quarter of 2005, our estimates did not suÇciently demonstrate future realizability

of our software development costs expended on such products; and accordingly, all such costs were

expensed as incurred.

As of June 30, 2003, it was determined that the expected margins from selling developed versions of

certain software products over their remaining useful lives was less than their remaining book value plus costs

to complete. Therefore, we recorded additional amortization of $7,000 for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

This change in estimate gave consideration to the low level of license revenues earned during the second

quarter of 2003 from these products and revised estimates of future revenues net of costs to complete.

Acquired Intangible Assets. In conjunction with the Kivera acquisition in 2004, we acquired customer

lists, developed technology, and patents that will be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives.

The intangible assets acquired in the Kivera acquisition were determined to have useful lives of 5 to

19 years, with a weighted-average useful life of 7.3 years, based on the estimated cash Öows to be

contributed from each asset. We are amortizing these assets using the greater of the straight-line method or

the revenue curve method, with amortization having begun in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or

group of assets may not be fully recoverable.

If an impairment indicator is present, we evaluate recoverability by a comparison of the carrying amount of

the assets to future undiscounted net cash Öows that we expect to generate from these assets. If the assets

are impaired, we recognize an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds

the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying values or fair values,

less estimated costs of disposal.

Other Comprehensive Income/loss. Comprehensive income/loss includes changes in the equity of a

business during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources.

Other comprehensive income/loss refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under U.S. generally

accepted accounting principles are included in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income. For

operations outside the U.S. that prepare Ñnancial statements in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, results of

operations and cash Öows are translated at average exchange rates during the period, and assets and liabilities

are translated at end-of-period exchange rates. Translation adjustments for our international subsidiaries are

included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Total

comprehensive loss for the three years ended December 31, 2005 was not materially diÅerent than

consolidated net loss.

Revenue Recognition. Revenue is generated from our two segments as described below and as

discussed more fully in Note 21.

Hosted, Subscriber, and Maintenance Revenue. Revenue from hosted services consists of monthly

recurring service fees and is recognized in the month earned. Revenue from subscriber service fees is

recognized in the period earned. Revenue from activation fees is recognized ratably over the determinable

portion of the customer contract, which is typically twelve months. Maintenance fees are collected in advance
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
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and recognized ratably over the annual maintenance period. Any unearned revenue, including unrecognized

maintenance fees, is included in deferred revenue.

Services Revenue. We recognize services revenue primarily from the design, development and deployment

of information processing and communication systems primarily for government enterprises. These services are

provided under time and materials contracts, cost plus fee contracts, or Ñxed price contracts. Revenue is

recognized under time and materials contracts and cost plus fee contracts as billable costs are incurred. Fixed-

price service contracts are accounted for using the proportional performance method.

 These contracts generally allow for monthly billing or billing upon achieving certain speciÑed milestones. Any

estimated losses on contracts are recognized in their entirety at the date that they become evident.

Systems Revenue. We design, develop, and deploy communications systems. These systems may include

packaged software licenses. Systems typically contain multiple elements, which may include the product

license, installation, integration, and hardware. The total arrangement fee is allocated among each element

based on vendor-speciÑc objective evidence of the relative fair value of each of the elements. Fair value is

generally determined based on the price charged when the element is sold separately. In the absence of

evidence of fair value of a delivered element, revenue is allocated Ñrst to the undelivered elements based on

fair value and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. The software licenses are generally perpetual

licenses for a speciÑed number of users that allow for the purchase of annual maintenance at a speciÑed rate.

All fees are recognized as revenue when four criteria are met. These four criteria are (i) evidence of an

arrangement (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) the fee is Ñxed or determinable and (iv) the fee is probable of

collection. Software license fees billed and not recognized as revenue are included in deferred revenue.

Systems containing software licenses include a 90-day warranty for defects. We have not incurred signiÑcant

warranty costs on any software product to date, and no costs are currently accrued upon recording the related

revenue.

Systems revenue is also derived from fees for the development, implementation and maintenance of

custom applications. Fees from the development and implementation of custom applications are generally

performed under time and materials and Ñxed fee contracts. Revenue is recognized under time and materials

contracts and cost plus fee contracts as billable costs are incurred. Fixed-price product delivery contracts are

accounted for using the percentage-of-completion or proportional performance method, measured either by

total costs incurred as a percentage of total estimated costs at the completion of the contract, or direct labor

hours incurred compared to estimated total direct labor hours for projects for which third-party hardware

represents a signiÑcant portion of the total estimated costs. These contracts generally allow for monthly billing

or billing upon achieving certain speciÑed milestones. Any estimated losses under long-term contracts are

recognized in their entirety at the date that they become evident. Revenue from hardware sales to our monthly

subscriber customers is recognized as systems revenue.

Under our contracts with the U.S. government for both systems and services, contract costs, including

the allocated indirect expenses, are subject to audit and adjustment by the Defense Contract Audit Agency.

We record revenue under these contracts at estimated net realizable amounts.

Revenues included in any of the three of our Ñnancial reporting categories may contain multiple elements.

We evaluate these revenues following the guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force 00-21 ""Revenue

Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables'' (EITF 00-21). This authoritative literature provides guidance on the

determination of the number of units of accounting and the allocation of the total fair value among the multiple

elements.

Deferral of Costs Incurred. We defer costs incurred in certain situations as dictated by authoritative

accounting literature. We defer costs for long term contracts being accounted for under the proportional

performance method so that the total costs recognized at any point are indicative of the level of eÅort
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expended. In addition, under the provisions of EITF 00-21, if the revenue for a delivered item is not recognized

because it is not separable from the arrangement, then we defer incremental costs relating to that delivered

but unrecognized element.

Advertising Costs. Advertising is expensed as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $268, $473, and

$98, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Capitalized Interest. Total interest incurred was $1,312, $3,196, and $1,088 for the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Approximately $140 of total interest incurred was

capitalized as a component of software development costs and construction in progress during the year ended

December 31, 2005. No interest was capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2004 or 2003.

Stock-Based Compensation and Deferred Compensation. We have two stock-based employee compen-

sation plans, which are described more fully in Note 18. We record compensation expense for all stock-based

compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion

No. 25, (Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees) (""APB No. 25'') and related interpretations. Under APB

No. 25, compensation expense is recorded pro-rata over the vesting period to the extent that the fair value of

the underlying stock on the date of grant exceeds the exercise or acquisition price of the stock or stock-based

award. The related compensation constitutes portions of our direct cost of revenue, research and development

expense, sales and marketing expense, and general and administrative expense as detailed in the table

presented with our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We have also granted restricted stock to directors and certain key executives as deferred compensation.

The restrictions expired at the end of one year for directors and expire in annual increments over three years

for executives and are based on continued employment. The fair value of the restricted stock on the date of

issuance is recognized as deferred compensation and amortized to non-cash stock compensation expense

using the straight-line method during the period over which the restrictions expire.

 The following table illustrates the eÅect on net loss and loss per common share if we had applied the fair

value recognition provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123, Accounting for

Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based employee compensation.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Net loss attributable to common stockholders,

as reportedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(11,467) $(18,548) $(13,486)

Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense

included in reported net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 720 1,195 1,501

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under fair value based

method for all awards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,898) (8,477) (5,102)

Pro forma net loss attributable to common

stockholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(15,646) $(25,830) $(17,087)

Loss per share Ì basic and diluted:

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.30) $ (0.56) $ (0.45)

Pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.40) $ (0.77) $ (0.57)
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In calculating the fair value of our stock options using Black-Scholes for the years ended December 31,

2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, our assumptions were as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Expected life (in years)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.5 5.5 5.0

Risk-free interest rate(%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.25% 3.35% 3.00%

Volatility(%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 105% 114% 124%

Dividend yield(%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0% 0% 0%

Research and Development Expense. We incur research and development costs which are primarily

comprised of compensation and travel expenses related to our engineers engaged in the development and

enhancement of new and existing software products. All costs are expensed as incurred prior to reaching

technological feasibility.

Income Taxes. Income tax amounts and balances are accounted for using the liability method of

accounting for income taxes and deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax

rates and laws that will be in eÅect when the diÅerences are expected to reverse.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) revised the previously issued Statement No. 123, Share Based Payment (Statement No. 123(R)).

The objective of Statement No. 123(R) is to improve Ñnancial reporting by requiring all share based payments

to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on

their fair value. As permitted by Statement No. 123, we currently account for share-based payments to

employees using APB No. 25's intrinsic value method and, as such, generally recognize no compensation cost

for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of Statement 123(R)'s fair value method will have a

signiÑcant impact on our results of operations, although it will have no impact on our overall Ñnancial position.

Statement No. 123(R) allows for two adoption methods:

‚ The modiÑed prospective method which requires companies to recognize compensation cost beginning

with the eÅective date of adoption based on (a) the requirements of Statement No. 123(R) for all

share-based payments granted after the eÅective date of adoption and (b) the requirements of

Statement No. 123(R) for all awards granted to employees prior to the eÅective date of adoption that

remain unvested on the date of adoption; or

‚ The modiÑed retrospective method which includes the requirements of the modiÑed prospective method

described above, but also requires restatement of prior period Ñnancial statements using amounts

previously disclosed under the pro forma provisions of Statement No. 123.

On October 28, 2005 our Board of Directors adopted resolutions to accelerate the vesting of certain

outstanding, unvested ""out-of-the-money'' stock options. The accelerated vesting provisions applied to all

qualifying options with an exercise price of $6.00 or greater and as a result, options to purchase 1,455,000

shares of our stock became fully exercisable as of that date.

The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to eliminate future compensation expense the

Company would otherwise recognize in its statement of operations with respect to these options upon the

adoption of Statement No. 123(R), which we are required to adopt on January 1, 2006 as discussed above.

Statement No. 123(R) will require that compensation expense associated with stock options be recognized in

the statement of operations rather than as a pro forma footnote disclosure in our consolidated Ñnancial

statements. The acceleration of the vesting of these options will eliminate the future non-cash stock

compensation expense associated with these outstanding options. We estimate that the related future

F-14



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

compensation expense to be recorded Statement No. 123(R) that is eliminated as a result of the

acceleration of vesting these options is approximately $1,200.

We expect to adopt Statement No. 123(R) eÅective January 1, 2006 using the modiÑed prospective

method. The impact of adoption of Statement No. 123(R) will depend on levels of share-based payments

granted in the future. However, had we adopted Statement No. 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that

standard would have approximated the impact of Statement No. 123 as described in the disclosure of pro

forma net loss and loss per share above. The Company currently anticipates that the impact of adopting

Statement No. 123(R) will result in recording approximately $2,200 of stock compensation expense in

2006, but such amount could Öuctuate depending on the levels of share-based payments granted.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 151, Inventory Costs Ì an amendment of ARB

No. 43, Chapter 4 (Statement No. 151.) Statement No. 151 clariÑes the accounting for certain types of

inventory costs. Statement No. 151 requires idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and spoilage to be

recognized in the period incurred. Statement No. 151 is eÅective for the Ñrst Ñscal period beginning after

June 15, 2005. We do not expect the implementation of Statement No. 151 to have a signiÑcant impact on

our consolidated Ñnancial statements

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections Ì A

Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3 (Statement No. 154.) Statement No. 154

changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. Statement

No. 154 requires retrospective application of any change in accounting principle to prior periods' Ñnancial

statements. Statement No. 154 is eÅective for the Ñrst Ñscal period beginning after December 15, 2005. We

do not expect the implementation of Statement No. 154 to have a signiÑcant impact on our consolidated

Ñnancial statements.

2. Enterprise Assets-Discontinued Operations

As of December 31, 2005, as a result of slower-than-anticipated market adoption of key technologies

related to the Enterprise assets and management's strategic decision to focus on our core technologies, we

committed to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets which we acquired from Aether Systems, Inc. in 2004. The

plan was approved by our Board of Directors on December 29, 2005. Also in December 2005, we engaged

an investment bank that is actively marketing the Enterprise assets. The operations and cash Öows of the

business will be eliminated from ongoing operations as a result of the sale, and the company does not expect

to have any signiÑcant involvement in the operations after the disposal transaction. We expect to complete the

sale of these assets by the end of 2006. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations for the

Enterprise assets have been reclassiÑed to discontinued operations for all periods presented in the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The operations of the

Enterprise assets had previously been included in our Commercial Applications segment.

The Enterprise assets provide wireless data solutions, uniting messaging, and synchronization and web

technologies. These solutions include package and vehicle tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to

capture digital signatures for proof of delivery to a growing installed base of logistics customers. It is a leading

seller of BlackBerry» services and provides real-time Ñnancial market data to wireless device users under

annual subscriber contracts in the U.S. and Europe.

The aggregate purchase price for the Enterprise assets was $22,300, consisting of cash payments of

$18,150, a note payable in the amount of $1,000, bearing interest at the prime interest rate, and

204,020 shares of our Class A Common Stock, valued at $1,056, based on the average closing price for the

Ñve days immediately preceding the closing of the Enterprise Acquisition. In addition, management incurred

approximately $2,094 of costs directly related to the acquisition. The total purchase price has been allocated
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based on the estimated fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible assets and assumed liabilities, with

the excess of the purchase price over the assets acquired and liabilities assumed being allocated to goodwill.

The valuation has resulted in the recognition of $12,633 of goodwill. As a result of the classiÑcation of these

assets as discontinued operations, we performed an additional review of the associated goodwill and other

long lived assets for impairment as of December 31, 2005. We concluded that no impairment existed as of

that date.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on

January 1, 2004 at the date of the acquisition:

Assets:

Tangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $11,573

Acquired technology and intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,612

Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,633

Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,818

Liabilities:

Current liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,518

Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,518

Net assets acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $22,300

The valuation of the intangible assets from the Enterprise Acquisition was Ñnalized during the Ñrst quarter

of 2005. As a result, we reclassiÑed a gross amount of $495 to acquired intangible assets and $11 to

software development costs from goodwill as of January 1, 2005. The cumulative impact on amortization

expense relating to prior periods from the revision of these valuations was $218. This amount was recorded

as additional amortization expense for the three-months ended March 31, 2005. We believe the Ñnal purchase

price allocation accurately reÖects the value of the intangible assets acquired.
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Enterprise assets and liabilities classiÑed as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004

Assets:

Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3,263 $ 5,657

Unbilled receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 260 618

Inventory ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 558 558

Other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,225 925

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciationÏÏ 1,863 1,107

Software development costs, net of accumulated

amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 533 140

Acquired intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 2,516 4,691

Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,633 13,037

Other assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40 18

Assets of discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22,891 26,751

Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,514 6,047

Accrued payroll and related liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 844 981

Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,361 1,863

Liabilities of discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,719 8,891

Net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16,172 $17,860

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Acquired intangible

assets:

Customer ContractsÏÏÏ $4,519 $3,043 $1,476 $4,208 $1,382 $2,826

Customer Lists ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,165 1,458 707 1,942 637 1,305

Trademarks ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 630 297 333 669 109 560

Software development

costs, including

acquired technologyÏÏÏ 844 311 533 287 147 140

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8,158 $5,109 $3,049 $7,106 $2,275 $4,831

All assets of discontinued operations are classiÑed as current in the December 31, 2005 consolidated

balance sheet, as management expects to complete the sale of these assets for cash by December 31,

2006. Management believes that the net proceeds from selling the Enterprise Assets will exceed the

December 31, 2005 net asset carrying value shown above; however, there can be no assurance in this

regard.
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Summarized results of operations for the Enterprise assets included in the accompanying Consolidated

Statement of Operations were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004

Hosted, subscriber and maintenance revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $22,505 $38,537

Systems revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,622 7,476

Total revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,127 46,013

Hosted, subscriber and maintenance gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,850 8,597

Systems gross (loss)/proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (825) 2,082

Total gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,025 10,679

Research and development, sales, marketing, and general

and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,851 10,755

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,325 2,570

Loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(7,151) $(2,646)

During the Ñscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, total revenues generated from products

and services of our Enterprise division in the U.S. were $23,100 and $39,800, respectively, and the total

revenues generated from products and services of our Enterprise division outside of the U.S. were $5,000

and $6,200, respectively. The Enterprise division did not have any customers that constituted a signiÑcant

portion of our consolidated net revenues. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our Enterprise division had

approximately $2,200 and $2,800, respectively, of assets located outside the U.S.

Since we acquired the Enterprise assets eÅective January 1, 2004, the results of operations of these

assets were not included in the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003.

The cash Öows from the Enterprise asset's operations are combined with cash Öows from continuing

operations on the consolidated statements of cash Öows and are therefore not disclosed separately.

Our Enterprise division's leased facilities include a 33,000 square foot facility in Owings Mills, Maryland

under a lease expiring March 2008, and a total of approximately 7,000 square feet of oÇce space in London,

Madrid, Amsterdam, and Stockholm. The leases for these facilities have varying expirations, but the

agreements are generally short-term and renewable. We incurred rent expense of $900 and $719 in the years

ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We expect to incur rent expense of approximately $500

annually for the Owings Mills facility through the lease's expiration and would incur a total annual expense of

approximately $375 for the international facilities for the duration of the period that all of the various oÇces are

maintained.

3. Kivera Acquisition

On September 20, 2004, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Kivera, Inc., a provider of Internet-

based location application software and geo-data professional services for approximately $5,500 in cash. In

addition, management incurred approximately $35 of costs directly related to the acquisition. This acquisition

provided a buy-vs.-build opportunity, as Kivera's software platform integrates easily with existing wireless

carrier network elements and location platforms. Kivera's technology can interoperate with our Xypoint»

Location Platform (XLP).
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The purchase price has been allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities

assumed. The purchase price allocation resulted in the excess $1,813 of the purchase price over net assets

acquired being allocated to goodwill. This goodwill has been allocated to the Commercial Applications

segment, and we expect it to be deductible for tax purposes.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at

the date of the acquisition:

Assets:

Tangible assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 590

Acquired intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,771

Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,813

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,174

Liabilities:

Current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 639

Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 639

Net assets acquiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $5,535

We recognized an additional $52 of goodwill during the Ñrst quarter of 2005 as the result of additional

direct costs of the acquisition that were incurred. The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2005

reÖects this allocation. The Kivera operations have been included in our consolidated results of operations as of

September 20, 2004.

4. Financing Arrangements

In January 2004 we raised $21,000 in cash from third-parties through the issuance of (i) a convertible

subordinated debenture with a face value of $15,000 (the ""Debenture''), bearing interest at a stated rate of

3% per annum and due in lump sum on January 13, 2009 in cash or shares of our Class A Common Stock at

our option (ii) warrants to purchase 341,072 shares of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of

$6.50 per share and expiring in January 2007, and (iii) 1,364,288 shares of Class A Common Stock. We

determined that the value of the Class A Common Stock issued was $7,640 based on the quoted closing

price of our Class A Common Stock on the issue date of $5.60. The diÅerence between the proceeds from

the issuance of these shares and their fair value was recognized as a debt discount. The value of the warrants

was estimated to be $1,395, determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and was recorded as a

debt discount and additional paid-in capital. The convertible subordinated debentures provided for a

contractual conversion price of $5.38 per share, and were estimated to have an issuance date beneÑcial

conversion value of $3,662, which was recorded as a debt discount and additional paid-in capital. The

resulting carrying value of the debt at issuance was $8,303, net of $6,697 of original issue discount that was

being amortized over its Ñve-year term using the eÅective interest method, yielding an eÅective interest rate of

12.6%. The terms of the Debenture described above were amended eÅective as of August 30, 2004, as

described below.

On August 30, 2004, we entered a Securities Purchase Agreement (the ""August 2004 Securities

Purchase Agreement'') with the same third party investors who purchased our securities used to Ñnance the

Enterprise acquisition. Pursuant to the August 2004 Securities Purchase Agreement, we raised $9,342, net of

oÅering costs in cash through the sale of 2,500,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock.

As of the same date, we entered into a Waiver Agreement (the ""Waiver'') with the holder of the

Debenture. The Waiver modiÑed certain provisions of the Debenture as follows: (1) the holder of the
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Debenture was required to convert the entire $15,000 principal amount into shares of our Class A Common

Stock by the end of 2004, (2) all of the material restrictive covenants contained in the Debenture were

nulliÑed and (3) the conversion price set forth in the Debenture was decreased from $5.3753 to $5.01581

as an inducement to enter into the Waiver (an adjustment such that conversion of the Debenture yielded an

additional 200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock). As additional consideration for the holder of the

Debenture agreeing to the Waiver, we paid the holder of the Debenture a $1,000 one-time fee in cash. The

$1,000 fee was recognized ratably to expense as the Debenture was converted. The fair value of the

additional shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued as an inducement, measured as of the date of the

Waiver, was $900, which was recognized ratably to expense as the Debenture was converted. The remaining

deferred debt discount of approximately $5,800 and deferred Ñnancing fees of $700 was recognized as

expense ratably as the Debenture was converted through the end of 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the

entire Debenture had been converted to Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Waiver.

5. Loss Per Common Share

Basic loss per common share is based upon the average number of shares of common stock outstanding

during the period. Because we incurred a loss from continuing operations in 2005, 2004, and 2003

potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation because the result would be anti-dilutive.

These potentially dilutive securities consist of stock options, restricted stock, and warrants as discussed in

Note 1, Note 18, and Note 25.

6. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Property and equipment acquired under capital leases totaled $3,761, $6,274, and $568 during the

years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Interest paid totaled $843, $1,179, and $918 during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and

2003, respectively.

7. Unbilled Receivables

Unbilled receivables consisted of the following at December 31:

2005 2004

Amounts billable at speciÑed contract milestones ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $6,060 $9,272

Contract retentions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28 142

Rate variances ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 273 471

$6,361 $9,885

Substantially all unbilled receivables are expected to be billed and collected within twelve months.

8. Inventory

Inventory consisted of the following at December 31:

2005 2004

Component partsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,934 $1,928

Finished goodsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,263 1,499

Total inventory at year end ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,197 $3,427
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9. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

2005 2004

Computer equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 31,487 $ 26,997

Computer software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,257 11,024

Furniture and Ñxtures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,140 2,735

Leasehold improvementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,466 2,451

Land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,000 1,000

Vehicles ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 107 107

Total property and equipment at cost at year end ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,457 44,314

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (34,134) (27,504)

Net property and equipment at year endÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 16,323 $ 16,810

10. Acquired Intangible Assets and Capitalized Software Development Costs

Our acquired intangible assets and capitalized software development costs consisted of the following:

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Acquired intangible assets:

Customer Lists ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 576 $ 144 $ 432 $ 576 $ 29 $ 547

Trademarks & Patents ÏÏ 612 40 572 612 8 604

Software development

costs, including acquired

technologyÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,845 2,020 3,825 3,855 1,204 2,651

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $7,033 $2,204 $4,829 $5,043 $1,241 $3,802

Estimated future amortization expense:

Year ending December 31, 2006ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,522

Year ending December 31, 2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,426

Year ending December 31, 2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 963

Year ending December 31, 2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 473

Year ending December 31, 2010ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 32

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 413

We routinely update our estimates of the recoverability of the software products that have been

capitalized. Management uses these estimates as the basis for evaluating the carrying values and remaining

useful lives of the respective assets.
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11. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Our accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of:

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6,672 $4,241

Accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,503 4,461

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses

at year end ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10,175 $8,702

Accrued expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for which we have not yet been invoiced, accrued

sales taxes, and amounts due to our E9-1-1 customers that we have billed and collected from regulating

agencies on their behalf under cost recovery arrangements.

12. Line of Credit

In October 2005 and March 2006, we amended the agreement with our principal bank to extend and

increase our line of credit. Under the amended agreement, the availability of the line is extended to September

2008, and our maximum borrowing availability was increased from $15,000 to $22,000. Borrowings at any

time are limited based principally on accounts receivable levels and a working capital ratio, each as deÑned in

the amended line of credit agreement. Borrowings are also limited by the amount of letters of credit

outstanding ($907 at December 31, 2005.) The amended line of credit is secured by substantially all the

assets of the company and bears interest at prime plus 1.25% per annum, with a minimum prime rate of

4.25% per annum. The borrowing rate at December 31, 2005 was 8.5% per annum. We are also subject to

minimal unused commitment and collateral monitoring fees related to our line of credit, which are waived if we

maintain certain levels of deposits. Our amended line of credit contains covenants requiring us to maintain at

least $5,000 in cash (measured monthly) as well as other restrictive covenants including, among others,

restrictions on our ability to merge, acquire assets above prescribed thresholds, undertake actions outside the

ordinary course of our business (including the incurrence of indebtedness), guarantee debt, distribute

dividends, and repurchase our stock, and minimum tangible net worth as described below. Pursuant to these

restrictions, we obtained approval for the proposed sale of the Enterprise assets discussed in Note 2. As of

December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with all of these covenants.

Our line of credit agreement contains a tangible net worth covenant which we are required to meet on a

monthly basis. In March, 2006 the bank amended our bank line of credit agreement, reducing the minimum

tangible net worth requirement (as deÑned in the bank credit agreement) from $29,500 to $23,500 until

March 31, 2007. The minimum tangible net worth amount per the line of credit agreement is adjusted

upward for income, subordinated debt and equity raised and proceeds of any sale of Enterprise assets. The

bank credit agreement also contains a subjective covenant that requires (i) no material adverse change in the

business, operations, or Ñnancial condition of our Company occur, or (ii) no material impairment of the

prospect of repayment of any portion of the bank credit agreement; or (iii) no material impairment of value or

priority of the lenders security interests in the collateral of the bank credit agreement. We believe that the

Company will continue to comply with its restrictive covenants. If our performance does not result in

compliance with any of our restrictive covenants, we would seek to further modify our Ñnancing arrangements,

but there can be no assurance that the bank would not exercise its rights and remedies under its agreement

with us, including declaring all outstanding debt due and payable.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had borrowed approximately $8,000 and $5,000, respectively,

under the line of credit and there was approximately $833 and $1,667, respectively, outstanding under the
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terms of an equipment loan as detailed in Note 13. At December 31, 2005, there were no other amounts

outstanding under the line and we had approximately $1,874 of unused availability.

13. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31:

2005 2004

Note payable dated September 30, 2005, due April 1, 2007, and

bearing interest at 10.5% per annum. The note requires monthly

installments of principal and interest of $90 through April 1, 2007.

The note is secured by the accounts receivable of one customer ÏÏ 1,345 Ì

Note payable dated November 7, 2005, due April 1, 2007, and

bearing interest at 10.5% per annum. The note requires monthly

installments of principal and interest of $32 through April 1, 2007.

The note is secured by the accounts receivable of one customer ÏÏ 472 Ì

Note payable dated December 30, 2003, due December 2, 2006,

and bearing interest at 5.5% per annum. The note requires

monthly installments of principal of $69 plus accrued interest

through December 1, 2006. The note is secured by property and

equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 833 1,667

Note payable dated January 16, 2003, due January 16, 2008, and

bearing interest at 6.0% per annum. The note requires monthly

installments of principal and interest of $0.3 through January 16,

2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8 12

Note payable dated March 30, 2004, paid in full October 1, 2005 ÏÏ Ì 2,079

Note payable dated February 20, 2004, paid in full November 30,

2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,031

Note payable dated September 25, 2002, paid in full September 30,

2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 714

Note payable dated December 20, 2002, paid in full November 30,

2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 895

Note payable dated June 16, 2003, paid in full October 31, 2005 ÏÏ Ì 922

Note payable dated December 1, 2003, paid in full July 1, 2005 ÏÏÏ Ì 515

Total long term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,658 7,835

Less: current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,176) (6,993)

Noncurrent portion of long term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 482 $ 842

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2005, are as follows:

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,176

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 482

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,658
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14. Capital Leases

We lease certain equipment under capital leases. Property and equipment included the following amounts

for capital leases at December 31:

2005 2004

Computer equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,922 $ 5,663

Computer software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,469 1,153

Furniture and ÑxturesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 227 227

Leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46 40

Total equipment under capital lease at cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,664 7,083

Less: accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,631) (3,997)

Net property and equipment under capital leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6,033 $ 3,086

Capital leases are collateralized by the leased assets. Our capital leases generally contain provisions

whereby we can purchase the equipment at the end of the lease for the current fair market value, capped at

10% of the original purchase price. Amortization of leased assets is included in depreciation and amortization

expense.

Future minimum payments under capital lease obligations consisted of the following at December 31,

2005:

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,228

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,302

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 658

Total minimum lease payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,188

Less: amounts representing interestÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (328)

Present value of net minimum lease payments (including current portion of

$3,001)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $5,860

15. Common Stock

Our Class A common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share of stock held for all matters

submitted to a vote of stockholders. Our Class B stockholders are entitled to three votes for each share

owned.

16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of our cash and cash equivalents and long-term debt approximates their respective carrying

values as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

We used the following methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value of each class of Ñnancial

instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable: The carrying amounts approximate

fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Long-term debt: The fair value of our long-term debt was estimated by discounting the future cash Öows

at rates available to us for similar borrowings.
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17. Income Taxes

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, we did not record either a

current or deferred tax provision due to our current loss position and uncertainties regarding the realization of

our net deferred tax assets.

 SigniÑcant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 consisted of:

2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Reserves and accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,267 $ 1,062

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,066 1,454

Deferred revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 547 205

Charitable contributions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 124 111

Stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76 439

Capitalized software development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 325

Research and development tax credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,764 2,694

Foreign operating loss carryforward ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,091 5,154

Net operating loss carry forward ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,953 32,864

Total deferred tax assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,888 44,308

Deferred tax liabilities:

Capitalized software development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (345) Ì

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4) (4)

Total deferred tax liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (349) (4)

Net deferred tax asset ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,539 44,304

Valuation allowance for net deferred tax assetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (50,539) (44,304)

Net deferred tax asset recognized in the consolidated balance

sheets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì

At December 31, 2005, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of

approximately $104,616, which includes $34,600 acquired upon the acquisition of Xypoint in 2001. The net

operating loss carryforwards from Xypoint will begin to expire in 2011. The remaining net operating loss

carryforwards will expire from 2019 through 2025. As of the same date, we had $16,971 of foreign net

operating loss carryforwards available, which should not expire in the foreseeable future. Utilization of the

Xypoint net operating losses will be limited by the Internal Revenue Code as a result of one or more ownership

changes. The remaining U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to limitations under the

Internal Revenue Code as well. We have not determined the annual amount of the limitation on these net

operating losses or whether these net operating loss carryforwards will expire prior to use as a result of these

limitations. We have state net operating loss carryforwards available which expire through 2025, the utilization

of which will be limited in a manner similar to the federal net operating loss carryforwards. At December 31,

2005, $5,300 of our deferred deductions related to stock option exercises. To the extent that carryforwards,

when realized, relate to stock option deductions, the resulting beneÑts will be credited to stockholders' equity.

We have established a full valuation allowance with respect to these federal and state loss carryforwards and

other net deferred tax assets due to uncertainties surrounding their realization.
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The reconciliation of the reported income tax beneÑt to the amount that would result by applying the

U.S. federal statutory rate of 34% to loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31 is as

follows:

2005 2004 2003

Income tax beneÑt at statutory rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1,467) $(5,407) $(4,585)

State tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (135) (202) (556)

Change in State tax rateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (537) 1,597 (414)

Research and development tax credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (70) (2,694) Ì

Non-deductible items ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48 2,884 430

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (337) (159)

Change in valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,161 4,159 5,284

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì

18. Stock Compensation Plans

Stock Options. We maintain a stock option plan that is administered by our Compensation Committee of

our Board of Directors. The number of shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for issuance under the plan

is currently 20,904,110. Options granted under the plan vest over periods ranging from one to Ñve years and

expire 10 years from the date of grant. A summary of our stock option activity and related information consists

of the following for the years ended December 31 (all share amounts in thousands):

2005 2004 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,650 $4.25 6,148 $2.95 6,838 $2.95

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,786 2.55 3,800 6.00 1,240 2.05

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (291) 1.08 (535) 1.97 (735) 1.26

Forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,352) 4.30 (763) 3.88 (1,195) 2.83

Outstanding, end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,793 $3.86 8,650 $4.25 6,148 $2.95

Exercisable, at end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,997 $4.55 3,382 $3.25 2,736 $3.05

Estimated weighted-average grant-

date fair value of options granted

during the year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.06 $ 4.98 $ 1.72

Weighted-average remaining

contractual life of options

outstanding at end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.3 years 7.5 years 7.7 years

F-26



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

Exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2005 ranged from $0.01 to $26.05 as follows

(all share amounts in thousands):

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Weighted-Average

Exercise Prices Contractual Life Exercise Prices
Options of Options of Options Options of Options

Exercise Prices Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding (years) Exercisable Exercisable

$ 0.01 Ó $2.61ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,801 $ 2.22 8.04 1,024 $ 1.67

$ 2.61 Ó $5.21ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,410 $ 3.44 6.35 2,398 $ 3.28

$ 5.21 Ó $7.82ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,525 $ 6.76 7.52 2,518 $ 6.77

$ 7.82 Ó $10.42 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26 $ 8.37 7.29 26 $ 8.37

$10.42 Ó $26.05 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31 $14.06 4.57 31 $14.06

Prior to our initial public oÅering in 2000, we granted incentive stock options to employees and directors

to purchase 885,983 shares of Class A Common Stock. The options were granted at an exercise price less

than the estimated market value of Class A Common Stock at the date of grant. Net loss, as reported,

includes $123, $583, and $1,010 of non-cash stock compensation expense related to these grants for the

years-ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. These options had fully vested as of

December 31, 2005, and accordingly we will not recognize any future expense related to these options.

Restricted Stock Grants. In the second quarters of 2003 and 2005, we issued restricted stock to directors

and certain key executives. The restrictions expire at the end of one year for directors and expire in annual

increments over three years for executives and are based on continued employment. The fair value of the

restricted stock at issuance has been recorded as deferred compensation and is being amortized to non-cash

stock compensation expense using the straight-line method over the period during which the restrictions

expire. Net loss, as reported, includes $597, $612, and $491 of non-cash stock compensation expense

related to these grants for the years-ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. We expect

to record future stock compensation expense of $231 as a result of these restricted stock grants that will be

recognized over the remaining vesting periods.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. We have an employee stock purchase plan (the Plan) that gives all

employees an opportunity to purchase shares of our Class A Common Stock. The Plan allows for the purchase

of 684,932 shares of our Class A Common Stock at a discount of 15% of the fair market value. The discount

of 15% is calculated based on the average daily share price on either the Ñrst or the last day of each quarterly

enrollment period, whichever date is more favorable to the employee. Option periods are three months in

duration. As of December 31, 2005, 572,783 shares of Class A Common Stock have been issued under the

Plan.

As of December 31, 2005, our total shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for future issuance is

comprised of:

(in thousands)

Stock compensation plan ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,512

Warrants (see Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 341

Employee stock purchase planÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 112

Total shares restricted for future use ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,965
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19. Operating Leases

We lease certain oÇce space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases that expire on various

dates through 2010. Future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms of

one year or more consisted of the following at December 31, 2005:

2006ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3,353

2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,175

2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,478

2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,805

2010ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 949

$11,760

Our material leases include our principal executive oÇce in Annapolis, Maryland under a lease expiring in

March 2008, a second facility in Annapolis under a lease expiring in April 2011, a facility in Seattle,

Washington under a lease expiring in September 2010, a facility in Oakland, California under a lease expiring

May 2007, and a facility in Tampa, Florida under a lease expiring in December 2009. The Annapolis facilities

are utilized for the executive and administrative oÇces, as well as portions of our Commercial Applications and

Government segments. The Seattle and Oakland facilities are utilized by our Commercial Applications segment

and the Tampa facility is utilized by our Government segment. Future payments on all of our leases are

estimated based on future payments including the minimum future rent escalations, if any, stipulated in the

respective agreements.

Rent expense for continuing operations was $3,480, $3,136, and $3,004 for the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

20. Concentrations of Credit Risk and Major Customers

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to signiÑcant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily

of accounts receivable and unbilled receivables. Those customers that comprised 10% or more of our

revenues, accounts receivable, and unbilled receivables from continuing operations are summarized in the

following tables.

% of Total Revenues For
the Year Ended
December 31,

Customer Segment 2005 2004 2003

U.S. Government ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Government 17% 23% 32%

Verizon Wireless ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Commercial Applications 17% 20% 17%

Cingular Wireless ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Commercial Applications 10% G10% G10%

As of December 31, 2005 As of December 31, 2004

Accounts Unbilled Accounts Unbilled
Customer Receivable Receivables Receivable Receivables

U.S. Government ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35% 16% 17% 46%

Customer A ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ G10% 30% 14% G10%

Customer B ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ G10% G10% 17% G10%

Customer C ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ G10% G10% 14% G10%

As of December 31, 2005, our total exposure to credit risk was $15,598 based on the amount due to us

by those customers. As of December 31, 2004, our exposure to such risks was $16,953. We did not
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experience signiÑcant losses from amounts due to us by any customers for the year ended December 31,

2005.

21. Business and Geographic Segment Information

In the fourth quarter of 2004, we realigned our segments to better manage the business subsequent to

our acquisitions described in Notes 2 and 3. Our two operating segments are now (i) our Commercial

Applications Segment, which consists of the previous Network Software and Service Bureau segments, along

with the Kivera assets acquired in 2004 and (ii) our Government segment which consists of the previous

Network Solutions segment.

Management evaluates performance based on gross proÑt. We do not maintain information regarding

segment assets. Accordingly, asset information by reportable segment is not presented.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, our total revenues include

approximately $6,874, $6,457, and $3,559 of revenues generated from customers outside of the United

States.

The following table sets forth results for our reportable segments as of December 31, 2005. All revenues

reported below are from external customers. Prior year amounts have been restated based upon the

classiÑcation of our Enterprise Assets as discontinued operations in 2005 (see Note 2). A reconciliation of

segment gross proÑt to net loss for the respective periods is also included below:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Comm. Comm. Comm.
Apps Gvmt Total Apps Gvmt Total Apps Gvmt Total

Revenue

Hosted subscriber and

maintenance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $52,454 $ 413 $52,867 $44,256 $ Ì $44,256 $37,656 $ Ì $37,656

Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,744 20,361 22,105 365 15,613 15,978 Ì 13,923 13,923

Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,668 15,513 27,181 13,061 23,617 36,678 11,102 29,384 40,486

Total revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65,866 36,287 102,153 57,682 39,230 96,912 48,758 43,307 92,065

Direct costs of revenue

Direct cost of hosted, subscriber,

and maintenance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,063 170 25,233 21,257 Ì 21,257 18,082 Ì 18,082

Direct cost of servicesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 809 13,172 13,981 188 9,481 9,669 Ì 9,835 9,835

Direct cost of systemsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,710 12,009 17,719 5,839 15,388 21,227 13,643 18,656 32,299

Total Direct CostsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,582 25,351 56,933 27,284 24,869 52,153 31,725 28,491 60,216

Gross proÑt

Hosted, subscriber, and

maintenance gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27,391 243 27,634 22,999 Ì 22,999 19,574 Ì 19,574

Services gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 935 7,189 8,124 177 6,132 6,309 Ì 4,088 4,088

Systems gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,958 3,504 9,462 7,222 8,229 15,451 (2,541) 10,728 8,187

Total Gross ProÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $34,284 $10,936 $45,220 $30,398 $14,361 $44,759 $17,033 $14,816 $31,849
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Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Total segment gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 45,220 $ 44,759 $ 31,849

Research and development expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13,852) (17,966) (16,932)

Sales and marketing expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10,517) (8,917) (8,917)

General and administrative expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14,369) (14,050) (11,251)

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,625) (7,353) (6,612)

Amortization of acquired intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (177) (37) (531)

Non-cash stock compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (720) (1,195) (1,501)

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,172) (3,196) (1,088)

Debt conversion expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (7,886) Ì

Other (expense)/income, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (104) (61) 1,497

Loss from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,316) (15,902) (13,486)

Loss from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,151) (2,646) Ì

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(11,467) $(18,548) $(13,486)

22. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005

and 2004. In connection with the classiÑcation of our Enterprise assets as discontinued operations, as

discussed in Notes 1 and 2 above, we reclassiÑed prior period Ñnancial data for these assets to reÖect this

classiÑcation as of December 31, 2005. The quarterly information has not been audited, but in our opinion,

includes all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation.

2005

Three Months Ended

(unaudited)
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $24,856 $21,404 $29,169 $26,724

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $12,793 $ 9,831 $11,660 $10,936

Loss from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (575) $(2,316) $ (313) $(1,112)

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(2,087) $(4,038) $(2,212) $(3,130)

Loss per share from continuing

operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.01) $ (0.05) $ (0.02) $ (0.03)

Loss per share from discontinued

operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.04) $ (0.05) $ (0.04) $ (0.05)

Net loss per share Ì basic and

diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.05) $ (0.10) $ (0.06) $ (0.08)
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2004

Three Months Ended

(unaudited)
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $20,128 $29,099 $26,589 $ 21,096

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10,001 $14,366 $10,651 $ 9,741

(Loss) Earnings from continuing

operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(3,146) $ 1,294 $(2,216) $(11,834)

Net (loss) incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(3,446) $ 863 $(3,245) $(12,720)

(Loss) Earnings per share from

continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.10) $ 0.04 $ (0.07) $ (0.33)

Loss per share from discontinued

operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.03) $ (0.03)

Net (Loss) Earnings per common

share Ì basicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.11) $ 0.03 $ (0.10) $ (0.36)

Net (Loss) Earnings per common

share Ì diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.11) $ 0.02 $ (0.10) $ (0.36)

23. Commitments and Contingencies

In November 2001, a shareholder class action lawsuit was Ñled against us, certain of our current oÇcers

and a director, and several investment banks that were the underwriters of our initial public oÅering (the

""Underwriters''): Highstein v. Telecommunication Systems, Inc., et al., United States District Court for the

Southern District of New York, Civil Action No. 01-CV-9500. The plaintiÅs seek an unspeciÑed amount of

damages. The lawsuit purports to be a class action suit Ñled on behalf of purchasers of our common stock

during the period August 8, 2000 through December 6, 2000. The plaintiÅs allege that the Underwriters

agreed to allocate common stock oÅered for sale in our initial public oÅering to certain purchasers in exchange

for excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements by those purchasers to make additional purchases

of common stock in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. The plaintiÅs allege that all of the defendants

violated Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and that the underwriters

violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated

thereunder. The claims against us of violation of Rule 10b-5 have been dismissed with the plaintiÅs having the

right to re-plead. We will continue to defend the lawsuit vigorously. On February 15, 2005, the Honorable

Judge Shira A. Scheindlin, U.S.D.J. entered an order preliminarily approving a settlement proposal which we

believe will result in a resolution that will not materially impact our consolidated results of operations, Ñnancial

position, or cash Öows. We intend to continue to defend the lawsuit until the settlement has received Ñnal

approval or the matter is resolved otherwise. More than 300 other companies have been named in nearly

identical lawsuits that have been Ñled by some of the same law Ñrms that represent the plaintiÅs in the lawsuit

against us, and we believe that the majority of those companies will participate in the same settlement if

approved.

Research in Motion Limited (""RIM''), which supplies our Enterprise operations with hardware and

wireless services that it in turn packages with other services and resells, recently settled legal proceedings with

NTP Inc., which alleged that certain RIM products infringed on patents held by NTP Inc. There can be no

assurances that there will not be further litigation concerning these patents. This creates uncertainty regarding

RIM's ability to continue to supply our Enterprise customers with services. RIM's inability to supply services to

our Enterprise customers could cause a loss of revenue and an increase of our net losses.
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We are subject to certain litigation, claims and assessments which occur in the normal course of

business. Based on consultation with our legal counsel, management is of the opinion that such matters,

when resolved, will not have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations, Ñnancial position or

cash Öows.

24. Related Party Transactions

In February 2003, we entered into a lease with Annapolis Partners LLC to explore the opportunity of

relocating our Annapolis oÇces to a planned new real estate development. Our President and Chief Executive

OÇcer owns a controlling voting and economic interest in Annapolis Partners LLC and he also serves as a

member. The Ñnancial and many other terms of the lease have not yet been established. The lease is subject

to several contingencies and rights of termination. For example, the lease can be terminated at the sole

discretion of our Board of Directors if the terms and conditions of the development are unacceptable to us,

including without limitation the circumstances that market conditions make the lease not favorable to us or the

overall cost is not in the best interest to us or our shareholders, or any legal or regulatory restrictions apply.

Our Board of Directors will evaluate this opportunity along with alternatives that are or may become available in

the relevant time periods and there is no assurance that we will enter into a deÑnitive lease at this new

development site.

25. Subsequent Event Ì Institutional Financing

On March 10, 2006, pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we issued and sold

to two institutional lenders (i) $10,000 in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March 10, 2009,

which bears cash interest at the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional notes,

at the rate of 16% per annum, at our option, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million

shares of our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share. We received net cash proceeds

of approximately $9,300 from this transaction, which are intended to be used for general corporate purposes.

The note purchase agreement includes a provision such that if we default in any of our debt obligations

exceeding $2,500, the secured notes shall become due and payable at the election of the holder of the

notes.

The warrants issued in the January 2004 Ñnancing described above contain provisions requiring an

adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a consequence of the

issuance of the new warrants in March 2006. Consequently, the warrants from 2004 have been adjusted to a

purchase price of $2.50 per share and the total number of January 2004 warrants now outstanding has been

adjusted to 886,787.

Also on March 10, 2006, certain covenants related to our line of credit were amended as described in

Note 12.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.

By: /s/ MAURICE B. TOS πE

Maurice B. Tos πe

Chief Executive OÇcer, President and

Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. The

undersigned hereby constitute and appoint Maurice B. Tos πe, Thomas M. Brandt, Jr. and Bruce A. White, and

each of them, their true and lawful agents and attorneys-in-fact with full power and authority in said agents

and attorneys-in-fact, and in any one or more of them, to sign for the undersigned and in their respective

names as directors and oÇcers of TeleCommunication Systems, any amendment or supplement hereto. The

undersigned hereby conÑrm all acts taken by such agents and attorneys-in-fact, and any one or more of them,

as herein authorized

Name Title Date

/s/ MAURICE B. TOS πE Chief Executive OÇcer, President and March 16, 2006

Chairman of the Board (PrincipalMaurice B. Tos πe
Executive OÇcer)

/s/ THOMAS M. BRANDT, JR. Chief Financial OÇcer and Senior Vice March 16, 2006

President (Principal Financial OÇcer)Thomas M. Brandt, Jr.

/s/ CLYDE A. HEINTZELMAN Director March 16, 2006

Clyde A. Heintzelman

/s/ RICHARD A. KOZAK Director March 16, 2006

Richard A. Kozak

/s/ WELDON H. LATHAM Director March 16, 2006

Weldon H. Latham

/s/ BYRON F. MARCHANT Director March 16, 2006

Byron F. Marchant
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Exhibit
Numbers Description

4.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation. (Incorporated by reference to the company's

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

4.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

4.3 Form of Class A Common Stock certiÑcate. (Incorporated by reference to the company's

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-35522))

4.5 Warrants to Purchase Common Stock issued pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement for

each of the investors party to the Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 13, 2004.

(Incorporated by reference to the company's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled on January 23,

2004)

4.6 Note Purchase Agreement dated March 13, 2006 by and among the company and the Purchasers

named therein

4.7 Warrants to Purchase Common Stock issued pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement dated

March 13, 2006 to each of the Purchasers named therein

4.8 Notes issued pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement dated March 13, 2006 to each of the

Purchasers named therein

4.9 Registration Rights Agreement dated March 13, 2006 by and among the company and the

Investors named therein

4.10 Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated March 13, 2006 by and among the company,

Bonanza Master Fund Ltd., as Agent, and the Secured Parties named therein

4.11 Subordination Agreement dated March 13, 2006 by and among the company, Silicon Valley Bank,

and the Purchasers named therein

10.1 West Garrett OÇce Building Full service Lease Agreement dated October 1, 1997 by and between

the company and West Garrett Joint Venture. (Incorporated by reference to the company's

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-35522))

10.2‰ Form of IndemniÑcation Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration

Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-35522))

10.3‰ Fourth Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Appendix

A to the company's deÑnitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of stockholders as Ñled

with the SEC on June 17, 2004 (No. 000-30821))

10.4‰ Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration

Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-35522))

10.5‰ Optionee Agreement dated October 1, 1997 by and between the company and Richard A. Young.

(Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration Statement on Form S-1

(No. 333-35522))

10.6‰ Optionee Agreement dated July 29, 1998 by and between the company and Richard A. Young.

(Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration Statement on Form S-1

(No. 333-35522))

10.7‰ Optionee Agreement dated October 1, 1997 by and between the company and Thomas M.

Brandt, Jr. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration Statement on Form S-1

(No. 333-35522))

10.8‰ Optionee Agreement dated July 29, 1998 by and between the company and Thomas M. Brandt,

Jr. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration Statement on Form S-1

(No. 333-35522))

10.9‰ Optionee Agreement dated April 1, 1999 by and between the company and Thomas M. Brandt,

Jr. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Registration Statement on Form S-1

(No. 333-35522))
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10.10‰ 401(k) and ProÑt Sharing Plan of the company dated January 1, 1999. (Incorporated by

reference to the company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-51656))

10.11‰ Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2001 by and between the company and Richard A.

Young. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended September 30, 2001)

10.12‰ Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2001 by and between the company and Thomas M.

Brandt. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended September 30, 2001)

10.13‰ Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2001 by and between the company and Drew A.

Morin. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended September 30, 2001)

10.14‰ Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2001 by and between the company and Timothy J.

Lorello. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended September 30, 2001)

10.15ƒ Services Integration Agreement dated January 31, 2002 by and between the company and

Hutchison 3G. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31, 2001)

10.16 Deed of Lease by and between Annapolis Partner, LLC and the company. (Incorporated by

reference to the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)

10.17‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Thomas M. Brandt, Jr. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.18‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Thomas M. Brandt, Jr. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.19‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Clyde A. Heintzelman. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.20‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Richard A. Kozak. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.21‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Weldon H. Latham. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.22‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Timothy J. Lorello. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.23‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Timothy J. Lorello. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.24‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Bryon F. Marchant. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.25‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Drew A. Morin. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.26‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Drew A. Morin. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.27‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Maurice B. Tos πe. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.28‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Maurice B. Tos πe. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.29‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Kevin M. Webb. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.30‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Kevin M. Webb. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.31‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Richard A. Young. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)
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Exhibit
Numbers Description

10.32‰ Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Richard A. Young. (Incorporated by reference to the

company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003)

10.33 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 18, 2003 by and among the company and

the investors party to the 2003 SPA. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the company's

Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 18, 2003)

10.34 Trademark License Agreement by and among Aether, TSYS and the company dated as of January

13, 2004. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled on

January 23, 2004)

10.35 Registration Rights Agreement by and between the company and Aether dated as of January 13,

2004. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled on January

23, 2004)

10.36‰ Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between the company and Silicon

Valley Bank. (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended September 30, 2004)

10.37 Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Clyde A. Heintzelman

10.38 Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Richard A. Kozak

10.39 Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Weldon F. Latham

10.40 Restricted stock award certiÑcate to Mr. Byron F. Marchant

10.46‰ Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between the Company and

Silicon Valley Bank (Incorporated by reference to the company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

for the quarter ended September 30, 2005)

12.1 Supplemental Financial Statement Schedule II

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

23.2 Consent of James & Cowper

31.1 CertiÑcation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 CertiÑcation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 CertiÑcation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 CertiÑcation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.01 Report of Independent Auditors- James & Cowper

‰ Management contract, compensatory plans or arrangement required to be Ñled as an exhibit pursuant to

Item 15(a)(3) of Form 10-K.

ƒ ConÑdential treatment has been requested for certain portions of this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which portions have been omitted and Ñled separately with

the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Maurice B. Tosé
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 
Annapolis, Maryland

Clyde A. Heintzelman
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Alternative Broadband Access
Laurel, Maryland

Richard A. Kozak
Chairman, R&D2, LLC
Annapolis, Maryland

Weldon H. Latham
Partner, 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP
Washington, DC

Byron F. Marchant
Executive Vice President, 
General Counsel and 
Chief Administrative Officer
Black Entertainment Television, Inc.
Washington, DC

Maurice B. Tosé
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Richard A. Young
Executive Vice President 
and Chief Operating Officer

Thomas M. Brandt, Jr.
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer

Drew A. Morin
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Technology Officer

Timothy J. Lorello
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Marketing Officer

Kevin M. Webb
Senior Vice President, 
Global Sales and Alliances

Dan A. Allen
Senior Vice President, 
Service Bureau Operations

Gregg E. Smith
Senior Vice President, 
Enterprise

Caution Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

This document includes certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. For example, the statements 

that (i) TCS is well positioned to ride this growing wave of LBS adoption, (ii) TCS currently provides and will continue to provide the most effective VoIP E9-1-1 solution 

for the majority of the key players in the VoIP market, (iii) our pipeline of funded SwiftLink orders totals more than $16 million, including orders from four customers 

who have indicated they have selected Swiftlink systems and have initiated contracting, and (iv) in 2006, TCS will focus on its core strengths with the goal of building 

a platform that is more predictable, more productive, and ultimately more valuable to our shareholders, are forward-looking statements. These statements involve 

risks and uncertainties, and actual results may differ materially. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those 

discussed in the Letter to Shareholders and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, as well as those discussed else-

where in the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, 

which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly release any revisions to the forward-looking statements or 

reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document.
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Corporate Information

Copyright

Copyright © 2006, TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. All rights reserved. Enabling Convergent Technologies®, SwiftLink®, Wireless Messaging Gateway™, and Xypoint® 

are registered trademarks of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. All other trademarks are the property of their respective companies. Information subject to change 

without notice. NasdaqNM: TSYS

Reconciliation of EBITDA to Net Income/(Loss)

EBITDA is not a financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and should not be considered 

as an alternative to net income, operating income or any other financial measures so calculated and presented, nor as an alternative to cash flow from operating 

activities as a measure of our liquidity.  We present EBITDA because we believe it to be an important supplemental measure of our performance that is commonly 

used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry.  Management also uses this information internally for 

forecasting and budgeting.  It may not be indicative of the historical operating results of TCS nor is it intended to be predictive of potential future results. 

($ in millions) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Net income/(loss) on a GAAP basis  $   (89.5)  $   (17.8)  $  (13.5)  $  (18.5)  $  (11.5)

Depreciation and amortization (incl goodwill impairment in 2001)  74.0  13.1  17.7  9.0  10.3 

Financing and other expenses (incl debt conversion expense in 2004)  (1.3)  0.5  (0.4)  11.1  1.3 

Operations of Enterprise assets held for sale  -    -    -    2.6  7.2 

EBITDA from continuing operations  $   (16.8)  $     (4.2)  $       3.8  $       4.3  $       7.3

Stockholder Information

Stock Listing
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. Class A 
common stock is traded on the NASDAQ
National Market under the symbol TSYS.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company 
New York, New York

Form 10-K 
Additional copies of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission are available without 
charge, upon request from the Company – 
Attention: Investor Relations. Copies also 
are available at www.telecomsys.com.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be 
held on June 8, 2006, at 10:00 AM, at the 
O’Callaghan Hotel Annapolis at 174 West 
Street, Annapolis, Maryland.

Senior Corporate Executives



Headquarters
275 West Street
Annapolis, MD 21401
410.263.7616
1.888.728.TSYS (8797)
www.telecomsys.com

Other Locations
2401 Elliott Avenue
Seattle, WA 98121
206.792.2000

2909 Bay to Bay Boulevard
Tampa, FL 33629
813.831.6353

300 Lakeside Drive
Oakland, CA 94612
510.763.3300

11460 Cronridge Drive
Owings Mills, MD 21117
443.394.5400

TeleCommunication Systems Ltd.
6 Dyers Buildings, Holburn
London EC1N2JT
+44(0)207.895.9400 

CERTIFIED
ISO 9001:2000

CERTIFIED
TL 9000

Carrier Service Bureau Operations Carrier and Government 
Operations
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